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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

OVERALL RESULTS
Key performance indicator (Financial Ratio)

BREXEA

FTEXER

il

51R (A5 EEX)

Year ended 31 March
BE-H=1+—HLEE

Notes 2023 2022

B EE —E=F ==
Revenue (HK$ 000) WA (F#7T) 865,703 304,416
Gross profit margin (%) EFE %) (i) 28.9% 5.8%
Loss for the year (HK$000) FNEE (FE57T) (82,088) (145,171)
Loss per share (HK cent) FREE GBIl (0.36) (0.59)
Net asset value per share (HK cents) SREEZFE CE1) (i) 3.06 3.54
Notes: Mk -

(i) Gross profit margin is calculated as gross profit divided by revenue and multiplying the
resulting value by 100%.

(ii) Net asset value per share is calculated based on the number of 20,319,072,320 ordinary
shares issued as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 20,319,072,320 ordinary shares).

For the current year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$865,703,000, representing a growth nearly 2 times when compared with revenue
of the preceding financial year. The revenue for the current year is mainly generated
from the property development segment in IEA03 (“Zhenghe City”) of #0 IEFN
EEBEEBEARAT (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group Company
Limited*) (“Liuzhou Zhenghe”). During the year, the construction of 3 blocks of
residential and commercial complexes in Zone F in Zhenghe City were completed
and delivered to the customers. As a result, the revenue of the Group for the year
increased significantly.

The turnover for the current year generated from the property development business
was HK$714,134,000 (2022: HK$292,042,000), leasing and trading of computer
equipment business was HK$111,404,000 (2022: HK$219,000) and the contact lens
business was HK$40,165,000 (2022: HK$2,159,000).

ll' International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

()  EFNERZENRURABRESEIRLI00%5
Bo

iy EREEFENRENR_Z_=F=HA=+-—
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

An overall gross profit of approximately HK$250,531,000 (2022: HK$17,747,000) and
gross profit margin of 28.9% (2022: 5.8%) were recorded for the current year. Increase
in gross profit margin was mainly due to higher average selling prices of residential
and commercial complexes in Zone F were sold in current year as compared to
certain defective commercial units with low gross profit margin sold in previous year.

The Group continued to incur losses of approximately HK$82,088,000 for the
current year (2022: HK$145,171,000). The loss mainly attributable to write-down
of properties held for sale of HK$172,731,000 is made for the year. The write-down
of properties held for sale was mainly due to decrease in fair value of remaining
unsold car park area attached to each zone under market comparison approach.
Finance costs amounted to HK$72,081,000 in current year which was much higher
than that of last year amounting to HK$5,431,000 was due to finance costs no
longer capitalised to properties held for sale during the year as the major building
construction works in Liuzhou Zhenghe were completed. The basic and diluted loss
per share was approximately HK$0.36 cents for the current year (2022: HK$0.59
cents).

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS AND PROSPECT

International Business Settlement

During the year, in view of the continuing military conflict between Russia and
Ukraine and the global political environment against the development of China-
related enterprises, business activities were affected and there was minimal progress
in the development of our settlement platform. Also, there has not been much
activities on the cross-border settlement system in connection to the Central Bank
Digital Currency proposed by the PRC government. No additional investment were
made in the current year in respect of these two projects.

The Group acknowledges that the development of alternative settlement channels
continues to be challenging. However, the trend of dedollarisation between
international trades by using their local currencies among several countries and
regions due to the geopolitical and economic considerations recently increases our
confidence that our target to develop an alternative global settlement channels
would be a good fit for the transformation of the global economic and financial
markets. Despite the challenges and difficulties the Group is facing, we will continue
to work through the challenges.

NEE IS EEREEF)49250,531,0008 70 (CTE -
£F 1 17,747,0007%870) REFZF28.9% (T2 "F ¢
5.8%) c EFIRIENMTERHRNAFEEHENFE
AERBEFRABFEHEERS MEL—FEH
ENETERBENEEBMEFNERE-

REBPARFEM#EEEF184782,088,00058 7T

(CTT -4 1 145171,0005870) cEBHETEHM
T YR, 5 ) #6172,731,00078 TP 2 o MUR S &
MEDETERRRIETISILER L SEH T EXR
HEFESEBNAREBETF AFENRE R
K 7372,081,00078 7T » 32 = 1 A FAY5,431,00078 7T
T ERERMMNEMTERZETREEIET B
BERATBENMCERENE - AFENEGRE
AREEEIBAA0368W (T2 2 1 0.59%8
i) ©

REXRBRIBERAR

BEREREE
FRERBRENTAS M ANERERER
TR 2IRBUSIRIEAF R P EERE R
B BEETBRIFE BRMAEEETEN
ERE Y o I oh o B2 o B BT 45 5 3% B9 R IR ER1T
HFERARNBREERANEITAR K
FE > HALESIEMERE (FHEEINRE

AEEADREENFEERENAT mE -
FAT » BR 3T HH IS M A BUB B 4838 75 E BV & &8 2 BB
NERMtEZENEREZHIR T EREME
BHERTEBE  ILREMTHMANEL R
FIREEAENEEERENERIFEESEIXK
KENERTHNEE -BEAEREERIEK
PRI > R APIR G EE T E e AR E D E -

Annual Report 2022/2023 R 5



Management’s Statement

BIEERS

No revenue generated from this segment for the year after the deconsolidation of
International Business Settlement Limited (the “IBS HK"), a wholly-owned subsidiary
engaged in the settlement business through an electronic money institution license
(“EMI license”) in Lithuania, in the previous financial year as a result of a winding
up petition against IBS HK (2022: Revenue generated from EMI license business
was HK$9,878,000). Total loss incurred for the year was HK$6,700,000 (2022:
HK$41,265,000). The major expenses of this segment are impairment made for right-
of-use assets, rental expenses and staff costs. The deconsolidation of IBS HK will
not affect the development of alternative settlement channels that the Group will
continue to work on.

In relation to the winding up petition against IBS HK, liquidator has been appointed.
The Company will monitor the latest development and will keep shareholders and
investors informed of the latest progress.

Liuzhou Zhenghe (property development and hotel business segment)
Zhenghe City is a mix-used complex project located at No. 102, Xinliu Avenue,
Liudong New District, Liuzhou, Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region, the PRC,
which offers a wide range of properties, including villas, townhouses, commercial
buildings, office buildings, hotels and high-rise apartments developed by Liuzhou
Zhenghe.

Zhenghe City comprises two phases with Phase | providing a stack of residential
and commercial properties with gross floor area of approximately 485,000 square
meters. Phase Il will provide another stack of residential and commercial properties
with a total gross floor area of approximately 513,000 square meters. Both Phase |
and Phase Il have commenced construction and are under development. The Group
owned 100% interest in properties held for development and properties held for sale
in both Phase | and Phase II.

6 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

RE—HMEBFE BREREXEEERAE
(MBs&&» —x B BB FEBEBETIE (Teml
FFAlER)) RPN EEEEBNEZENB R
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S5 EEFSE £ IRA9,878,000787T) o ERELLEEIE
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

(@)

Detail area of the properties under development and completed properties

are as follows:

(@) BERPYMERDEIVENEBFBNOT :

Saleable area Properties
Approximate remaining held for
gross floor unsold self-operating/
Site area area (Note 2) own use
8 R HE /Y
HEAT HERRE FEEE
HARETE REMB (Hizt2) BRI
(sq.m) (sq.m) (sq.m) (sq-m)
(EAHK) (FEFHAK) (FEFHAK) (FEFHAK)
Phase I: —HA

Zone A A& 76,000 97,000 12,000 -
Zone B BE& 94,000 130,000 10,000 -
Zone C (& 61,000 258,000 115,000 -
231,000 485,000 137,000 -

Phase II: —H:
Zone D D& 71,000 191,000 44,000 -
Zone E El& 30,000 140,000 80,000 31,000
Zone F Fl& 41,000 182,000 35,000 -
142,000 513,000 159,000 31,000
Total: L 373,000 998,000 296,000 31,000
Note 1:  The number of square meters (“sq.m”) are rounded to nearest thousand for MisE1 0 FAK (EAK) BFDNBREREA

illustrative purpose only. BT g0 ZIERPEA®R -

Note 2:  Representing saleable gross floor area under development and saleable gross MizE2: BN BE_=F=ZA=+—HEETH

floor area of completed properties that were unsold as at 31 March 2023.

PHEREEBERHARHEBRTIYE
WA HEREERE-
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

8

The progress of each phase in Zhenghe City are shown as follows: (b) EMPFEABEEERO TN
Property type Status
MEER AR5
Phase I:
_;H‘H :
Zone A Villas and high-rise apartment The construction works were completed and most of the residential units
Al buildings with retail outlets, were sold in the past financial years. Farmers market attached with a total
farmers market and car parking saleable area of approximately 12,000 square meters are held for sale.
spaces
MERSEBAE (ﬁﬁﬁﬁf BETIREEBTIBASDEEEMERNAFTHBEELRE PR
- BREmBREELD HEREELN12,000F A RN EEMIHBHEFFHE
Zone B Villas and high-rise apartment The construction works were completed and most of the residential units
Bl& buildings with retail outlets and were sold in the past financial years. Remaining unsold saleable area are
car parking spaces retail outlets and car parking spaces with approximately 10,000 square
meters are held for sale.
AEREEAE BEZEE BEIREBRIBAFSAFTEUECRBEHTHFEHE GRT
FHRFEA) 1 o H & AT HE mA&4910,000°F 5 KN S E[E S R EEALTLFRFEY
Eo
Zone C Residential and commercial There are 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes and 3 blocks of
(& complexes and studio/office studio/office buildings in this zone.

buildings with retail outlets and
car parking spaces

FERBEGSBRIEE
SR KIE (BBETES
FHRFEA)

rER7/MEEEREELRSIEURSEIEE HHAKE-

The construction works of 7 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
and 2 of 3 blocks of studio/office buildings in this zone were completed and
most of the units were sold in the past financial years.
AE7EEEREEFREIEURIETIEE A KIERR2ER R
RIRBETEHARDEMENBTHREELE -

The construction works of the remaining 1 block of studio/office buildings
were completed and acceptance certificates of completion were granted
in the current year. The studio/office building with saleable area of
approximately 32,000 square meters, retail outlets and car parking spaces
with saleable area of approximately 83,000 square meters in this zone are
held for sale.

BRTELEE MAKBNRRTIREEET  BETRB TRIGE
SEREKEEREL AT HE®REAI32,000F 5 KN TIEE A K
B A HE mREA 483,000 A KNS EEH R EEALIFEY

o
=

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT



Management'’s Statement

EERHE

Property type Status
YMEER AR

Phase II:

—HA:

Zone D1 Villas The construction works of the villas in this zone were completed and sold to

D1& B EF the customers and revenue was recognised in the past financial years.
AERENRERETREEE T TEHETERBRABRIBEMIK
FEMER -

Zone D1 High-rise apartment There are 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings in this zone.

D1& buildings with retail outlets KEBESEAS -

and car parking spaces
[S)=FN-3 The construction works of these 5 blocks of high-rise apartment buildings
(BETSEEFAFENM)  were completed and most of the units were sold in the past financial years.

ZEMEEEABNERTIEEE T BEABHEMCSNBEREE
EHE-
Car parking spaces and few remaining retail shops with a total saleable area
of approximately 44,000 square meters in this zone are held for sale.
A& 48 7] & E AR #344,000F ORI R B ALK/ D EFiR N EEE S
TSR E -

Zone D2 Villas The construction works of 36 villas are completed and were sold in the past

D2& B EF financial years.

MRABNERTIRERTEENBEMBEELE -

Annual Report 2022/2023 R 9



Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Property type
YEER
Phase IlI:
—ZHR:

Status
AR5

Zone E Hotel and high-rise
E& apartment buildings with retail
outlets and car parking spaces
BEREBAE GEZERR
R (= B D)

Zone F Residential and commercial

The construction works of high-rise apartment buildings were completed
and most of the units were sold in the past financial years. Retail outlets and
car parking spaces attached to this apartment building with a saleable area
of approximately 26,000 and 54,000 square meters respectively are held for
sale.
EEABEMNERIRBEIBEARM2BEMENBEFMBEFEEL
& o A B P AT E B 5#926,000F 75 K K 54,0007 7 KK Z
EEfHREEATFIERE -

The construction works of the hotel building were completed and the pre-
sale permit was granted. The acceptance certificates of completion are
expected to be obtained in late 2023. The Group plan to operate the hotel
under franchising arrangement instead of held for sale. Constructing area of
approximately 31,000 square meters of the hotel building are included in
property, plant, and equipment.

BIEEFNEETRER T RBEEHIZEREL - TREB TR
SRR T =FFRENS - AEE G ERBIT TS E LK
EBEEMIFRERE  BIEBFEREIEL31,000F 5 RKEFFAY)
EN TG

There are 6 blocks of residential and commercial complexes in this zone.

Fl& complexes with retail outlets and K& B6IEF T REmELiL 1B

car parking spaces
FERBEGGE GETEE
K B A)

The construction works of 3 blocks of residential and commercial complexes
were completed and most of the units together with the attached retail
outlets were sold in the past financial years.
SEAEERFELRSENEREIREEB T AT DBMERBEN
ZEEHENBEFMBEEHE -

The construction works of the remaining 3 blocks of residential and
commercial complexes were completed and acceptance certificates of
completion were granted in current year. The properties were therefore
delivered to the customers and revenue was recognized in the current year.
B EAERBEFCENERETIREECR T BTREB TR
EERATEERL -AM MEXNTFTER > BERAEEEFEUA -

1 O International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT



Management’s Statement

EERHE

For property development segment in Liuzhou Zhenghe, an area of
approximately 79,000 square meters (2022: 44,000 square meters)
was sold and generated a segment revenue of approximately
HK$714,134,000 for the current year (2022: HK$292,042,000). A
segment profit of approximately HK$3,788,000 (2022: segment loss
of HK$34,340,000) was recorded for the current year. The high sales
figures in the year was mainly due to newly completed units in 3 blocks
of residential and commercial complexes in Zone F were delivered to
customers during the current year.

An external expert was engaged to assess the fair value of the properties
development project as at 31 March 2023. For those properties which
had completed the construction work and were held for sale, a
market comparison method by making reference to comparable sales
transactions as available in the relevant market was used. For those
properties still under construction, the value was derived by using a
market comparison method with the assumption that the construction
works of the properties would have been completed at the date of
valuation and have taken into account the construction costs expected
and costs that will be expended to complete the development. As
result, a write-down of properties held for sale of HK$172,731,000 is
recognised for the year ended 31 March 2023 as the net realisable value
is lower than carrying amount.

Liuzhou Zhenghe will continue to develop the Phase Il of Zhenghe
City and the Group is actively looking for other property development
opportunities in Guangxi or other provinces in the PRC.

The hotel business is located in Zone E1 of Zhenghe City with gross
floor area of approximately 31,000 square meters. In 2018, the Group
entered into a franchising agreement with a well-known international
hotel franchisee to operate the hotel under the franchising requested
standards. The construction works of the hotel building were completed
but acceptance certificate of completion not yet obtained and no
revenue will be generated until commencement of operation of the
hotel.

MNENMERELEEEHLY
79,000 5K (ZZ2 =24 44,0007

AR NER UREAEEEE DS
WA #9714,134,0008 T (ZSE 224 ¢
292,042,000/870) cMAFERFHHE
I 43,788,00008 T (CEZZF I
#E#57834,340,000/87T) ° AFEMN S
EBETETRNFEIBEEERBESS
BB TEUERAEERTTE
BFo

INBEREED T LAY ER R
BERZZZ=F=B=1+—HH2AR
BE-EMEBIAGFENNEFERS
ZHEEAMIE SN LERIEER 5
HMIBLEE A - ERMENEETLE
BAHSBLEEEEY  BEFRBREMEN
BETITEERHEHHEBT Uitk
TESH B A K A SRR A L iR
A e B A IR ERNEEE &
b HE_E_=F=B=+—0H1E
FE ORI S ¥%172,731,000
BITe

AN IE AR M A B 3% IEAN I — R AL
EEEREARNTEAMEHEES
HHMYERE S -

BEEBUNENHOE BEBRE
#9#331,000F K- R ZZE—\F > K
S E RN BT E T L
REri S REBEETFEERTER
ERERE BEEFNERTEE
BTHEARRSIREBETRKESE
BliAfgELXWNABERBISHEEE
Alko
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Contact lenses in Fujian

The construction of the production plant in Mawei District in Fuzhou was
completed in 2021. With respect to the production, as of 31 March 2023, 5 of the 7
production lines planned to be installed in Fujian Unicon had all been installed and
commissioned. At present, all 5 production lines have been put into operation. The
remaining 2 production lines with a total of 20 sets of equipment are scheduled to
be in place by the third quarter of 2023, with the aim of completing commissioning
by 2023. By that time, the full production capacity will reach approximately 21
million pieces per month.

In addition to the 5 medical device registration certificates previously obtained, the
Company obtained 2 new medical device registration certificate, and completed 2
large diameter products filing during the year.

Fujian Unicon is still planning to apply for the medical device registration certificates
for its silicone color film and porous silicone blue film. At the same time, the
Company is also planning to initiate the application for registration of medical
devices such as defocused contact lenses and bandage contact lenses to further
enhance the Company’s technological advancement and operating efficiency.

On the basis that the Company has obtained the “1S013485 Medical Device Quality
Management System” certification, the Company has initiated the application for
FDA qualification in the United States and planned to apply for CE certification and
the relevant qualifications of our products to gain a foothold in the Southeast Asian
markets in the second half of the year. In 2023, the Company will step up the efforts
of international market expansion.

During the year, the Company has obtained 15 utility model patents. In terms of
patent applications, the Company’s research and development department will
continue to prepare and carry out.

12
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

With the Medical Device Production Permit obtained, Fujian Unicon has commenced
production of contact lenses since late 2021. During the year, the segment recorded
sales revenue of HK$40,165,000 (2022: HK$2,159,000) and recorded a loss of
HK$48,095,000 for the current year (2022: HK$40,598,000). The substantial loss
for the current year was mainly due to salaries, depreciation, and research and
development expenses incurred. Currently, 36 brands and channels have established
steady business relationship with the Company with production and orders being
gradually increasing. As the quality, production capacity and delivery time of the
Company’s products have been positively evaluated by our customers, we are
actively approaching and negotiating with more potential customers. The Company
will also enhance its graphic design capabilities, optimise its production capacity
structure and increase the flexibility of its supply chain, and improve management
and its order coordination capabilities, to provide customers with more flexible
supply chain services and strengthen customer loyalty.

In addition to our OEM and ODM business, in the second half of 2023, the Company
will engage in the establishment of our own brand, which includes planning to open
self-operated flagship stores on the major e-commerce platform and expanding sales
of our own brand to enhance the Company’s operational efficiency and brand effect.
We hope to achieve substantial growth in business performance in the coming year.

The Company is actively exploring cooperation opportunities with industry experts,
including but not limited to introducing industry experts as investor, so as to
leverage the Company’s advantages in industry-related fields and bring returns to
the Group and shareholders.

Leasing and trading of computer equipment

The Group believe that the emerging Fintech industry is one of the innovative factors
that would improve the delivery of global financial services in the future. The Group
continues to explore different potential opportunities in the Fintech sector, including
but not limited to Fintech-related upstream and downstream services, infrastructure
projects in connection with Fintech.

In view of the fast pace development of the virtual world and the ever increasing
amount of data being generated online every minute of the day, the Board believes
that the need for secured, encrypted and reliable cloud distributed storage space
and the computer equipment is not only an important element of the infrastructure
for the healthy development of the virtual world but will also increase sharply in the
near future. A subsidiary engaged mainly in the business of leasing of data storage
equipment to customers who provide virtual data storage space for end-users and
trading of computer equipment was set up in January 2022.

BRECHRESNEBRMEEST D BRERE
B FERBEERERE RER Z
PRSI E WL A40,165,0008 T (& -
2,159,000787T) > I 2 5 [E £k 15 §51848,095,00078 7T
T BT T4 140,598,000/ 70) o AN E R AIEES
BLhEEHERMEENTHF S - INERAZEER-
RAERRIEE RERAANBRUBTEER
% EEMTEBEZSIEM AR A AR ER
HNRE EERBE XN EXHAZIELANEE
i BMERELBEREAREE AN
RAB G BBIRF BAEETE N~ BILEREAE
BB EERE BASERTEREENS A
BRREBEABETNHEHRRE HWRELAE
%o
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Management'’s Statement

BIEERS

In last financial year, the first phase of installing 40 sets of servers was completed
and all 40 sets of servers were leased out to customer. During the current year, the
installation work of the servers for the second phase has been completed. 960 sets of
servers in total has been set up in Hong Kong and all were leased out to customer.

The leasing fees payable to the Group consist of a fixed rent plus a variable rent with
reference to the average market price of Filecoin quoted on different cryptocurrency
exchanges with specific formula. The rental income provides a steady income stream
to the Group. It is expected that the Group would be able to recover the cost of each
set of server within 14 to 30 months.

During the year, in order to maximize the return of the resources of the Group, the
rental received was used in trading business of computer equipment. In view of the
steady income stream and recover the investment cost within a reasonable period,
the Group decided to re-invest the rental income received by further acquiring 450
sets of server for leasing.

For the current year, the revenue generated from leasing of data storage equipment
was approximately HK$87,123,000 (2022: HK$219,000) and trading of data storage
equipment was approximately HK$24,281,000 (2022: Nil) respectively; and the
segment profit for the year was HK$16,129,000 (2022: HK$129,000). The significant
increase in revenue and segment profit was due to all servers are leased out as
planned and the Group utilize the rental received from the customer to conduct
trading activities of computer equipment and diversify different source of income to
the Group.

The Group considers that the leasing and trading of the data storage equipment
fit into the Group’s business strategy and generate stable revenue stream, the
revenue generated will be reinvested into the Group, leading to further growth and
expansion.

Recently, the government announced its strategy to foster the development of
Fintech development and its goal of creating a top crypto hub. It is expecting that
Hong Kong is pivoting toward a more friendly regulatory regime for cryptocurrencies
in the coming future. Looking forward, the legislative framework encoding crypto
rules will bring transparency and clarity to development of future cryptocurrency
trading activities. The Group will keep a close eye on policy changes and market
trends, the Group may engage further in the business of cryptocurrencies, including
but not limited to trading of crypto and crypto-asset production, in the future when
the development of the ecosystem of virtual assets is regulated and matured.
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Management'’s Statement

EERHE

Financing Business

In respect of the loan receivables from financing leasing business of the Group, in
the last financial year, the Group prudently made full impairment provision on the
long overdue loan receivables in view of inactive response from the borrower and no
promising future repayment schedule can be reached. Although the loan receivables
was secured by a plantation in Shanghai, the Group does not have the expertise in
running and operating the plantation, the Company does not take possession of the
plantation. We have approached certain asset management company to see whether
they can help to recover our loans by realizing the collaterals. However, as the cost to
realize the collaterals is difficult to estimate, the response is not positive.

To safeguard the interest of the Group, we have arranged for staff to visit the
plantation site regularly and performed stock take of the collaterals to make sure the
collaterals are in good condition. We will continue to monitor the situation and take
any possible actions to recover the loan.

In view of the uncertain macro-economic environment in the PRC, the Group
adopted a prudent and careful strategy to operate its financing business in future
and temporary ceased to provide new financing services in PRC.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF SUBSIDIARIES AND
ASSOCIATED COMPANIES

There was no material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies during the current year.
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

FINANCIAL REVIEW

Finance position, liquidity and gearing

As at 31 March 2023, the total assets and liabilities of the Group were at
approximately HK$2,378,267,000 (31 March 2022: HK$3,159,851,000) and
approximately HK$1,755,839,000 (31 March 2022: HK$2,439,782,000) respectively.
The Group recorded a total equity of approximately HK$622,428,000 as at 31 March
2023 (31 March 2022: HK$720,069,000).

The Group recorded net current liabilities of approximately HK$225,879,000
as at 31 March 2023 (31 March 2022: net current assets of approximately
HK$130,520,000). The bank balances and cash as at 31 March 2023 was
approximately HK$268,997,000 (31 March 2022: HK$522,507,000), of which most
were denominated in US dollars, Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi.

The Group’s current ratio (defined as current assets divided by current liabilities) was
0.86 (31 March 2022: 1.06).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had total borrowing amounting to approximately
HK$901,424,000 (31 March 2022: HK$929,464,000) which were denominated in
Renminbi. 86% (31 March 2022: 80%) of borrowings are due within one year, 12% (31
March 2022: 12%) of borrowings are due more than one year but not exceeding two
years, and 2% (31 March 2022: 8%) of borrowings are due more than two years but
not exceeding five years. The breakdowns are as follows:

(i) Secured bank borrowings amounting to approximately HK$254,664,000 (31
March 2022: HK$233,080,000) with variable interest rate; and secured other
borrowings amounting to approximately HK$132,726,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$143,101,000) with fixed interest rate of 6.5%;

(i) Unsecured other borrowings amounted to approximately HK$433,370,000 (31
March 2022: HK$466,546,000) with fixed interest rate ranges from 3% to 18%;
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

(i) Interest free loan due to non-controlling interests and ultimate holding
company amounting to approximately HK$56,169,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$60,446,000) and approximately HK$1,636,000 (31 March 2022:
HK$1,645,000) respectively; and

(iv) Interest bearing loan from non-controlling interests amounting to
approximately HK$22,859,000 (31 March 2022: HK$24,646,000) with floating
interest rate.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has unutilised banking facilities of approximately
HK$25,358,000 (31 March 2022: HK$68,834,000) available for further drawdown
should it have any further capital needs. The cash at banks together with the
available banking facilities and the estimated cash flows generated from the Group’s
operations can provide adequate liquidity and capital resources for the ongoing
operating requirements of the Group.

The gearing ratio, as a ratio of total borrowings to total equity, as at 31 March 2023
was 1.45 (31 March 2022: 1.29).

Financial resources

During the year, the Group’s operations continued to be mainly financed by internal
resources, borrowings as well as proceeds raised from equity financing exercise in
December 2016. The management believes that the Group will generate its liquidity
from business operations and will consider making use of further equity financing
when necessary.

Use of proceeds from fund raising activities

In December 2016, the Company placed up to 1,280,000,000 new ordinary shares at
a price of HK$1.25 per ordinary share (the “Placing”). The net proceeds raised were
approximately HK$1,587,200,000 and as at 31 March 2023, the total unutilised net
proceeds were approximately HK$227,765,000.

(i) ENFEZFIERRREERATRREER
2R 7%956,169,0008 T (T2 _-_"F =4
=+—H :60,446,00058 7T) K #J1,636,0007%
T(CE-_F=ZH=+—H :1,645,000%
7o) 5 &

(ivy ZEBEIIEEHIEDZNZIHIEXAEBNER
#97322,859,0008 T (CTE-_F=B=+—
H : 24,646,000357T) ©

N_EZ=FE=A=+—H AxEBERFHAHRT
BbE4925,358,0008c (CE-“F=B=+—H
68,834,000/ 70) > I E A EME—FT EEFRE
E—FIRINCIRITIRESERABRITHEURA
EEEEELENGHRERENRETERBE
ERERERUMESNEBNRHEREERK

ATEBEC—F=-RA=1+—H BEAB/ELX EIE
ARG ARRE L) B145 (CEBE - —F=
B=+—H:129)°

MBEER

FRAERETEZZBRIPER  ERMUKRRZ
T RNFT_RBETREAMEMEBEZ FTIENRIEA
BEARHEERHMES -BEEERR ~EER
BRHEEZEEELERPES URNBERE
BHRE—TREME -

EEEBAMEMIERR

RZE—RFETZA ARBEUERE®ER1.25
BT B ED & & £1,280,000,0008% 71 8 A% (TEC
E)) cEEWFSRIEFEEA%A1,587,200,00078
TR IECZEZRA=+—HEXBENMR
BRIEFEES H4975227,765,0008 7T

17

Annual Report 2022/2023 R



Management’s Statement

BIEERS

As the development of NGSN is slower than expected, the Group believed it would

be in the interests of the Company and its shareholders to re-allocate the intended

use of the un-utilised proceeds from the Placing to segments where revenue can be

generated sooner.

The following table sets forth a breakdown of use of proceeds up to 31 March 2023

and the reallocation of the proceeds:

HINGSNBY S BEN TR AEER R EMD
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ARNDEFERABRERRAF @ o

TRFFEEZE

e
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Un-utilised
net proceeds
Utilised amount T R B P Y
BEHRME FRGRIERE
Original Revised Further revised Upto Upto As at
allocation of allocation of  allocation of 31 March During 31 March 31 March
net proceeds netproceeds  net proceeds 2022 the year 2023 2023
FRiGRAIE
FRgFIE BEM EX EX ?
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Mank HREIME KEITSE =BR=+-A &R ZA=+—-H =BA=+-H
HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million Notes
BEET BEAET BEBAT BEAT BEAT BEET BEBAT W
Development of the Next Generation HET—RAEERE .
Settlement Network:
(i) Hardware and software () B R 1,111.0 158.5 158.5 (935) = (935) 65.0 @)
(ii) Research and development (i) B 3% 3175 330 30 (9.7) - (9.7) 233 (b)
Expand the settlement services BRI A RREERE
through EMI license - 300 - - - - - (©
Set up subsidiaries in Mid-Asia for application ~ 7£ R E3 p 3L Mt BAEI M
of payment licenses HEY[fRR - 200 _ _ B _ _ 0
General working capital —REEES 158.7 2936 3436 (276.55) (184) (294.9) 487 (O
Potential investment opportunity ERBBREMEED
in the Fintech and other industry BUIRERE - 567.6 567.6 (2320) (244.8) (476.8) 908 )
Use in financing husiness HEXBAR - 177 17.7 17.) = M7 =
Repayment of loan related to the property (B3R B4 £ FRE TS
development business BENER = 3668 366.8 (366.8) = (366.8) =
1,587.2 1,587.2 15872 (1,09.2) (2632) (1359.4) 278
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Management’s Statement

EERHE

The current expected timeframe and detailed breakdown for the un-utilised

proceeds is as follows:

(@)

Approximately HK$65,000,000 is to be applied to the hardware and software
for the NGSN platform and the expected timeline for utilising had been
extended from March 2022 to March 2024, as the development of NGSN was
severely affected by the global outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic since early
2020 and the recent outbreak of military conflict between Russia and Ukraine;

Approximately HK$23,300,000 is to be applied to the research and
development on the technical side of the NGSN and the expected timeline
for utilising had been extended from March 2022 to March 2024, as the
development of NGSN was severely affected by the global outbhreak of the
COVID-19 pandemic since early 2020 and the recent outbreak of military
conflict between Russia and Ukraine;

Originally, approximately HK$30,000,000 is to be applied to further expand
the settlement services for commercial and individual customers through EMI
license by March 2022; and approximately HK$20,000,000 is to be applied to
set up subsidiaries in Mid-Asia for the application of EMI license or payment
licenses to provide settlement or payment services for commercial and
individual customers by March 2022;

As the EMI license business had been terminated due to deconsolidation in
preceding financial year, the aggregate un-utilised proceeds of approximately
HK$50,000,000 previously allocated for the aforesaid EMI business purpose
had been further reallocated for the purpose of general working capital;

Approximately HK$48,700,000 is to be applied to general working capital of
the Group for the coming years; and
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Approximately HK$90,800,000 is to be applied to investment opportunities in

the Fintech section (or other industry section) that the Board may identify by
March 2024.

0)

(i)

During the financial year ended 31 March 2020, the Board has re-
allocated approximately HK$164,700,000 to establishment of contact
lenses business. The Group believed that it would be in the interests
of the Company and the Shareholders to re-allocate the un-utilised
proceeds to segments where revenue can be generated sooner.
In addition to abovesaid investment set up, totally approximately
HK$62,300,000 had been applied to contact lenses business segment
for working capital and purchase of equipment purpose.

During the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Board further
diversified its investment and revenue streams and decided to further
re-allocate HK$300,000,000 to new segment which engaged in the
business of leasing of data storage equipment to customers and trading
of computer equipment.

As at 31 March 2023, totally approximately HK$249,800,000 had been
utilised by data storage business segment for purchase of equipment
purpose.

Share capital
As at 31 March 2023, the Company had 20,319,072,320 shares of ordinary shares in
issue and the total equity of the Group was approximately HK$622,428,000.

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2023, certain property, plant and equipment with carrying amount
of approximately HK$380,877,000 (31 March 2022: HK$275,708,000) were pledged to
secure certain bank and other borrowings granted to the Group.
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Management'’s Statement

EERHE

Contingent liabilities

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers
of the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is any
default of the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible for
repaying the outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon
and any penalty owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the Group is then
entitled to take over the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period
commences from the dates of granting the relevant mortgage loans and ends after
the buyer obtains the individual property ownership certificate. As at 31 March 2023,
the guarantee given to banks for the above-mentioned mortgage facilities amounted
to approximately HK$479,329,000 (31 March 2022: HK$517,488,000).

Foreign exchange exposure

As part of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Renminbi, US dollars
and Hong Kong dollars, in order to minimise the foreign exchange risk, the Group
aims to utilise the fund for transactions that are denominated in the same currency.

EMPLOYMENT AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 210 employees (2022: 190, not
including the employees of the Deconsolidated Subsidiaries). The employees’ salaries
are reviewed and adjusted annually based on their performance and experience.
The Group’s employee benefits include performance bonus, medical insurance,
mandatory provident fund scheme, local municipal government retirement scheme
and education subsidy to encourage continuous professional development of staff.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The Group’s financial conditions, results of operations, businesses and prospects
may be affected by a number of risks and uncertainties. Key risks and uncertainties
affecting the Group are set out as below.
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Management’s Statement

BIEERS

Operation risk

The Group is exposed to operational risks in relation to each business division
of the Group. To manage operational risks, the management of each business
division is responsible for monitoring the operation and assessing operational
risks of their respective business divisions. They are responsible for implementing
the Group’s risk management policies and procedures and shall report any
irregularities in connection with operation to the Directors and seek for directions.
The Group emphasises on ethical value and prevention of fraud and bribery and
has established a whistleblower program, including communication with other
departments and business divisions and units, to report any irregularities. In this
regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s operational risks have been effectively
mitigated.

Investment risk

Investment risk refers to the risk of loss or decrease in the investment income of the
Company resulting from the investment on developing the business of the Company.
Specifically, it refers to the following risks:

1. Investment target risk: It refers to the uncertainties in the growth and
development of the investment target, including but not limited to technical
risk, operation risk and financial risk;

2. Investment analysis risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from incorrect or
incomplete due diligence conducted in an investment project;

3. Investment decision-making risk: It refers to the risk of loss resulting from an
imperfect decision-making process and bias before any decision-making;

4. Project management risk: It refers to the risk resulting from insufficient
supervision or improper management after investment and failure to discover
and exercise control of the problems in an investment project in a timely
manner; and

5. Project exit risk: It refers to the risk resulting from exit from an investment
project with losses or inability to exit from an investment project.

The Company will formulate comprehensive procedures for approval and
supervision of investment projects through authorities such as the asset
management business investment decision committee, general manager office,
Board, general meetings, in order to minimize investment risk. The Company will
take reasonable steps in carrying out investment and enter into comprehensive
investment agreements to protect the legal rights of the Company.
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Management'’s Statement

EERHE

Financial Risk

The Group’s major financial instruments include financial assets measured at fair
value through other comprehensive income, other receivables, bank balances and
cash, other payables, lease liabilities, bank and other borrowings and contingent
consideration payable. The risks associated with these financial instruments include
market risk (currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. Particulars of financial risk management of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2023 and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out in
Note 36 to the consolidated financial statements. The management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a
timely and effective manner.

Financial crime risk

The Group’s failure to comply with applicable laws and regulations relating to
International Sanctions, Anti-Money Laundering and Anti-Bribery and Corruption
may result in legal or regulatory penalties, material financial loss or reputational
damage. The Group has implemented certain financial crime risk management
activities, which include adherence to anti-money laundering and sanctions policies
and the application of core controls such as client due-diligence screening and
monitoring.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group encourages environmental protection and complies with environmental
legislation and promote awareness towards environmental protection to the
employees.

Further information on environmental policy and performance of the Group is set
out under the section headed “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this
annual report.

& b E
FEENTIESHMTEOERAMESAHME
EWRENEMEE  HMBWERE RITEFR
RE HMENIRE HE&E  RITREMMER
URENHARNE - BzFcR T AERZ AR
BETHERE (EFRR AR ERREMERSR
) EERBRABESRR FEEBRET
T=HEZRA=t—HLEFENEREKREEFE
RN PIPER AR 2% 55 R e B SR B hS n 5 A 5 R AR B
36 EEEEEREEZFRBUBRKER
B & HE I

TR SR E B

FEBREET A RBIFRSIE % R B
HEMNBRERRERIEEBEAENEER
S BAMBEIANBERZ -AEEEERE
TERILFARERES  SFEETRIEERS
BHRURERAEFERBEHEREESZO
FE R o

IRIFBR R R
FEESHBERERETERL LRABT
Z IR RERH o

FEBRFRERRRFZE-—SERTNEER

MRE M ERE ARSI —HC

23

Annual Report 2022/2023 R



Management’s Statement

BIEERS

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has on-going review the changes in enacted laws and regulations
affecting the operations and changes are brought to the attention of relevant
employees and relevant operating units when necessary. During the year ended 31
March 2023 the Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with laws and
regulations which are significant to the operations of the Group.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH SUPPLIERS, CONTRACTORS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers
and contractors after years of cooperation. The Group will conduct appraisal of the
performance of suppliers and contractors regularly to ensure the product quality.

The Group has committed to provide satisfactory services to each customer in order
to maintain our brand competitiveness. The Group maintains close contact with the
customers and had regular review the requirements of customers and complaint.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to express our gratitude to the shareholders
of the Company and business associates for their continued support, and extend
our sincere appreciation to all management and staff for their ongoing dedication,
commitments and contributions throughout the year.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Biographical Details of Directors
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YUEN LEONG

Executive Director

Mr. Yuen Leong, aged 65, was appointed as an executive Director of the Company on
1 January 2008. Mr. Yuen holds a master degree in mechanical engineering from the
Shanghai Jiao Tong University and was a senior research analyst of & %2 & Aff 25 3%
JB=0) (Fujian Provincial Research and Development Center*) from 1985 to 1991.
Mr. Yuen has over ten years of experience in corporate management and operation.

CHAN SIU TAT

Executive Director

Mr. Chan Siu Tat, aged 52, has been re-designated from independent non-executive
Director to executive Director of the Company with effect from 1 September
2020. Mr. Chan was an independent non-executive Director of the Company
from September 2016 to August 2020. Mr. Chan graduated from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology in 1994 with a major in Accounting. He is
a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants and a fellow member of The Association Chartered of
Certified Accountants. Mr. Chan possesses over 20 years of experience in corporate
restructuring, financial capital planning and corporate management. He has been
an independent non-executive director of Ta Yang Group Holdings Limited since
April 2022 (stock code: 1991) listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). He was an assistant to the chairman
from 2011 to 2015 and an executive director and chief financial officer from April
2002 to August 2006 of CIMC-TianDa Holdings Company Limited (formerly known
as China Fire Safety Enterprise Group Limited) (stock code: 445) previously listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange where he was mainly responsible for
corporate strategy, restructuring and financial planning. Mr. Chan was a non-
executive director of Tongguan Gold Group Limited (formerly known as China Mining
Resources Group Limited) (stock code: 340) listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange from November 2006 to May 2008. From 2007 to 2010, Mr. Chan was a
partner and chief investment officer in an international private equity fund. Prior to
working in corporations, Mr. Chan had around five years of audit experience with an
international accounting firm.

* The English name is for identification purpose only.
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LIU YU

Non-executive Director

Mr. Liu Yu, aged 39, was appointed as non-executive Director of the Company on 1
January 2022. Mr. Liu graduated from the Jilin University in 2005 with a bachelor’s
degree in optical information science and technology and received a doctoral degree
in aerospace information technology from Zhejiang University in 2016. Mr. Liu has
years of experience in new energy technology, big data analysis and information
system, and has long served as the person in charge and senior management of
Internet companies industry. He has more than ten years of experience in Internet
of Things, big data and industry information field. Mr. Liu presided over the research
and development of a number of provincial level big data intelligence systems, and
has deep industry knowledge in the application of artificial intelligence and big data
technology in the fields of industrial, finance, securities, investment and financing,
etc.. From September 2007 to October 2018, Mr. Liu held key positions in a number
of companies, responsible for projects such as research and development of wind
turbine, smart city technology projects and transportation big data platforms. Since
October 2018, he has been the general manager of a Shenzhen company engages in
smart city and big data technology related businesses.

YAP YUNG

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Yap Yung, aged 49, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director of
the Company on 20 August 2009. Mr. Yap graduated from the University of Hong
Kong in 1995 with a Bachelor’s degree in mechanical engineering. He has been a
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 1999. He
has also completed an advanced management course held by the London Business
School and the University of Cambridge in 2003. Mr. Yap has over 10 years of
corporate finance and audit experience gained from his previous employment. Mr.
Yap was employed by PricewaterhouseCoopers as an audit manager from 1995 to
2002.
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Biographical Details of Directors
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CHEN LANRAN

Independent non-executive Director

Ms. Chen Lanran, aged 42, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director
of the Company on 1 August 2019. Ms. Chen graduated with a bachelor’s degree
in finance from Fuzhou University in July 2002, and graduated in marketing from
School of Journalism and Communication, Peking University in July 2011. Ms.
Chen has over 15 years of experience in the marketing industry. Upon graduation,
Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager from 2002 to 2005 in Fujian Mobile
Communications Co., Ltd.. From 2005 to 2017, Ms. Chen worked as a brand manager
in China Mobile Communications Group Co., Ltd.. From February 2017 to present,
Ms. Chen is the principal of Fujian Yuyue Education Training Centre, and is in
charge of the overall planning, promotion and development of the campus, and its
expansion.

WONG KIN PING

Independent non-executive Director

Mr. Wong Kin Ping, aged 69, was appointed as an independent non-executive
Director of the Company on 1 September 2020. Mr. Wong has substantial experience
in the business of trading and merchandising. Prior to joining the Company, Mr.
Wong was a founder of a trading company which was principally engaged in general
trading business in Hong Kong. He was also the executive director of Jinchuan Group
International Resources Co. Ltd (formerly known as Goldigit Atom-Tech Holdings
Limited) (stock code: 2362) listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange from
2003 to 2005.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES
The Board believes that good corporate governance is essential to the success of the

Company and to the enhancement of shareholder value. The Company is committed

to building and maintaining high standards of corporate governance. The Board and

the management of the Company have been continually reviewing and enhancing

its corporate governance practices with reference to the principles and the code

provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14

to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (the “Listing Rules”) to ensure compliance with the CG Code.

For the year ended 31 March 2023, the Company has complied with the CG Code
save for the deviation mentioned below:

(@)

28

In accordance with the code provision C.2.1, the role of Chairman and Chief
Executive Officer (“CEQ”) should not be performed by the same individual.
However, the Company did not officially appoint a Chairman or a CEO during
the year. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of
the Group’s business is handled by the executive Directors collectively and
supported by a team of senior management, which is in turn supported by
staff with relevant expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity
of the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the
business of the Company, the Board will review the existing structure and
consider the issue of nominating appropriate candidate to fill up the role of
Chairman and CEO.

Code provision C.2.7 stipulates that the Chairman should at least annually
hold meetings with the independent non-executive Directors without the
presence of other directors. Since the Company has not appointed a new
Chairman and no meeting was held between the Chairman and the non-
executive Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) without
the executive Directors present during the year ended 31 March 2023.

Code provision F.2.2 stipulates that the Chairman should attend the annual
general meeting. The Company does not at present have any officer with the
title Chairman. However, one of the Directors presents at the annual general
meeting held on 24 August 2022 was elected as chairman thereof to ensure an
effective communication with the shareholders thereat.
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(d)  Code provision C.6.3 stipulates that the company secretary should report to
the Chairman and/or the CEO. As the Company did not officially appoint a
Chairman or a CEO, the company secretary reported to the executive Directors
during the year.

Set out below are the details of the Company’s compliance with the CG Code for the
year ended 31 March 2023.

MODEL CODE FOR DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of
Listed Issuers (the “Model Code™) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the
code of conduct regarding directors’ dealing in the securities of the Company. The
Company has made specific enquiry of all Directors and received confirmation from
all Directors that they have fully complied with the required standard set out in the
Model Code during the year ended 31 March 2023.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

The Board during the year and up to the date of this annual report comprises
the following executive/non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors.

Executive Directors
Mr. Yuen Leong
Mr. Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director
Mr. Liu Yu

Independent non-executive Directors
Mr. Yap Yung

Mr. Wong Kin Ping

Ms. Chen Lanran

The Company believes that the current Board composition is well-balanced and of
a diverse mix appropriate for the business of the Company. The biographical details
of the Board members are set out under the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors” of this annual report.

All Directors, including the independent non-executive Directors, are expressly
identified in all corporate communications where Directors have been mentioned
pursuant to the Listing Rules.
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During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board at all the times had at least three
independent non-executive directors with at least one independent non-executive
director has appropriate professional qualifications on accounting or related
financial management expertise. The total number of independent non-executive
directors representing at least one-third of the Board maintain a strong independent
element on the Board in order to exercise independent judgment.

The Company received, from each independent non-executive Director of the
Company, an annual confirmation of their independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company is satisfied with the independence of the
independent non-executive Directors.

There is no relationship among the members of the Board.

Board diversity policy

In order to achieve a sustainable and balanced development, the Company
considers the enhancement of diversity at the Board level as an essential element in
facilitating the achievement of its strategic objectives and sustainable development.
The Board has adopted a Board Diversity Policy in accordance with the requirements
of the Listing Rules with a view to enhancing the combination of competencies and
diversity of perspectives in the boardroom. The summary of the Board Diversity
Policy is disclosed as below:

- the Company acknowledge the Board should have a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of
the Company’s business;

- the Company is committed to equality of opportunity in all aspects of its
business and does not discriminate on the grounds of race, gender, disability,
nationality, religious or philosophical belief, age, sexual orientation, family
status or any other factor;

- in deciding the Board composition, board diversity has been considered from
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- in forming its perspective on diversity, the Company will also take into
account factors based on its own business model and specific needs from time
to time;
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- all Board appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will
be considered against objective criteria, having due regard to the benefits of
diversity to the board. The selection of candidates will be based on a range
of diverse perspectives, including but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional experience, skills and knowledge;

- the ultimate decision will be based upon the merits and contribution the
selected candidates will bring to the Board; and

- the Nomination Committee will report on the Board’s composition under
diversified perspectives, monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity
Policy, review the Board Diversity Policy to ensure effectiveness and
recommend for any revisions to the Board for consideration and approval.

The Board currently has one female member and the Board is of the view that
gender diversity has been achieved at the Board level. The Company aims to
maintain at least one female Director in strict compliance with the gender diversity
requirements of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size, and diversity of
the Board, to ensure that its composition complies with the Listing Rules and
reflects an appropriate mix of skills, experience, and diversity that are relevant to
the Company’s strategy, governance, and business and contribute to the Board’s
effectiveness and efficiency. The Nomination Committee considered that an
appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of the Board is maintained and
accordingly, the Company has effectively implemented the Diversity Policy.

As at 31 March 2023, according to the section headed “Environmental, Social and
Governance Report” set out on page 97 in this annual report, among the 210
employees (including senior management) of the Group, the percentages of male
employees and female employees are 60% and 40%, respectively. The Board believes
that the Group’s workforce (including senior management) is diverse in terms of
gender, and will endeavour to further improve gender diversity across the Group’s
workforce (including senior management).

Responsibilities

The Board is responsible for formulating the business plans and strategies,
monitoring the business performance and internal control, approving investment
proposals and reviewing the finance performance of the Group. The daily operations
of the Group and execution of the business plans are delegated to the management
of the Group. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, Board approval
should be obtained. In addition, the Board has established Board Committees and
has delegated to these Board Committees various responsibilities set out in their
terms of reference respectively.
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The Company has established written guidelines on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code for employees who are likely to be in possession of unpublished inside
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the guidelines was
noted.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover for Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions against its Directors arising out of
corporate activities.

All Directors shall ensure that they carry out duties in good faith, in compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders at all times. In addition, every director should ensure sufficient time
and attention to the affairs of the Company. Directors have satisfactory attendance
rates at both Board meetings and Committee meetings.

Board meetings and general meetings

Directors’ Attendance Records

The Board meets regularly with additional meetings if and when required. During
the year ended 31 March 2023, nine Board meetings and one annual general
meeting (‘AGM”) of the Company were held. Details of the Directors’ attendance
records are as follows:
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Attended/Eligible to attend

HEAERUFE
Board AGM held on
Meetings 24 August 2022
R
NBZ+mH
BITZKRE
EEgEE BEXRE
Executive Directors HITEE
Mr. Yuen Leong RELE 9/9 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat R/ DS 9/9 11
Non-executive Director FEPITESE
Mr. Liu Yu 2RELE 9/9 11
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFHITEE
Mr. Yap Yung BEEhEE 9/9 11
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FEFRE 9/9 11
Ms. Chen Lanran PRE BT 9/9 11
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Board Practices and Conduct of Meetings

All Directors have the opportunity to include matters in the agenda for a regular
Board meeting. Notices of regular Board meetings are sent to Directors at least 14
days before the meeting date. For other Board and committee meetings, reasonable
time is generally given.

The Directors have to declare their interests in the subject matters to be considered
in the relevant meeting and the director, who or whose associates have any interest
in any proposed resolution, must abstain from voting and will not be counted in
quorum.

The agenda together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information were
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before each Board meeting to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate and
independent access to the senior management when necessary.

Directors can, upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the expenses of the Company. The Board shall resolve
to provide separate independent professional advice to Directors to assist the
relevant Directors to discharge their duties to the Company.

Minutes of each Board meeting will be drafted by the company secretary (“Company
Secretary”) to record the matters discussed and decision resolved at the Board
meetings and circulated to the Board for comment within a reasonable time after
each meeting. The final Board minutes are kept by the Company Secretary and are
available for inspection by Directors.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles and responsibilities of chairman
and CEO should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The Company did not officially have Chairman and CEO up to the date of this annual
report. The responsibilities of the Chairman and daily management of the Group’s
business is handled by the executive Directors collectively and being supported by
a team of senior management which is in turn supported by staff with relevant
expertise and experience.

The Board considers that this arrangement allows for contributions from all
executive Directors with different expertise and is beneficial to the continuity of
the Company’s policies and strategies and the interest of the shareholders of the
Company as a whole. Depending on the future development of the business of the
Company, the Board will review the existing structure and consider the issue of
nominating an appropriate candidate to fill up the role of Chairman and CEO.
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Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Independent Non-executive Directors play a significant role in the Board as
they bring an impartial view on the Group's strategies, performance and control, as
well as ensure that the interests of all shareholders are considered. All Independent
Non-executive Directors possess appropriate academic, professional qualifications or
related financial management experience. None of the Independent Non-executive
Directors held any other offices in the Company or any of its subsidiaries or is
interested in any shares of the Company.

The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure independent views are
available to the Board. For instance, each Director is normally able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board. Further, the Board shall at all times
comprise at least three independent non-executive Directors that represent at least
one-third of the Board, such that there is always a strong element of independence
on the Board which can effectively exercise independent judgment. The Board
has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are effective in ensuring that
independent views and input are provided to the Board during the year ended 31
March 2023.

34

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

BIFERTES

BUYFATESNEFTERESTEFA HEK
SHAEEERR RREREERHEAEER I
EREERRINM D 2RBIUIIFNTEFTERB
BELFE FXERNERAMBEELR - HE
BIFRITESN A AR NEEAMN B ASEE
ERIEMBAL TR BN A ABERROTER

o

EFETERUKS URFRESFENERFEIL
ER- P EAEFSHEFSREEBRE  —K
BEEERR THABIEXER  BRABHEA
BIEE IS EEERMRBAE D =B
HWITES hEFEMBEL=022—) - 1
MEESTIKREASEBLE  JBEMITER
VHE EFEEBERURS BE_T=F
ZR=+—HLEE BRI EMRRES
SERHBUBRMNER-



Corporate Governance Report

EEERRS

Appointment, Re-election and removal of Directors
The procedures and process of appointment, re-election and removal of Directors
are laid down in the Company’s bye-laws.

The Nomination Committee is to be responsible for reviewing the Board
composition, monitoring the appointment and succession planning of Directors and
assessing the independence of independent non-executive Directors. In selecting
and approving candidate for directorship, the Board will consider various criteria
such as education, qualification, experience, integrity and the potential contribution
to the Group.

The non-executive Director, Mr. Liu Yu, has entered into a letter of appointment
with the Company for an initial term of three years with effect from 1 January 2022,
which can be terminated by either party by serving not less than one month written
notice to the other party.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has a service contract with a
term of service for one year and the contract will be renewed automatically for a
successive term of one year, each commencing from the next day after the expiry of
the current appointment term, unless terminated by either the independent non-
executive Director or the Company.

In accordance with the Company’s bye-laws, one-third of the Directors of the
Company for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office by rotation
provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once
in every three years. If an independent non-executive Director serves more than
nine years, his/her further appointment should be subject to a separate resolution
to be approved by the shareholders of the Company. Any new Director appointed
by the Board to fill a causal vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall submit
himself/herself for re-election by shareholders at the first general meeting after
appointment.

Induction and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Director will be arranged a comprehensive, formal and tailored
induction which includes provision of key guidelines, documents and publications
relevant to their roles, responsibilities and ongoing obligations; a briefing on the
Company’s structure, businesses, risk management and other governance practices
and meeting with other fellow Directors so as to help the newly appointed Directors
familiarise with the management, business and governance policies and practices of
the Company, and ensure that they have a proper understanding of the operations
and businesses of the Company.

The Company encourages its Directors to participate in continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional institutions
or professional firms and read materials on relevant topics so that they can
continuously update and further improve their relevant knowledge and skills.
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On 24 June 2022, the Company provided an in-house training seminar which was
conducted by an external counsel covering the company’s responsibilities and
compliance issues as regard to the amendments to the Listing Rules. All existing
Directors attended this seminar. In addition to this in-house training seminar and
reading materials, the Directors were provided with other materials in relation to the
regular updates to corporate governance practices, statutory requirements, Listing
Rules and other relevant topics related to listed companies to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills from time to time.

During the year, the Directors participated in the following trainings:

N TR THFERAZTEB ARBREET —R
WERIEEITRET & s B R IMNERER ETT 0
HZRR LHRNEBEIZ AR EAREGHRERE 2
BIREESE2MT LIS E - FREXAIBIE
Mg REBEMN 2N EFRRERESMAEEE
AER EAERER EHRAINERREN AL
MABBRNEMAEREENEMME FEFIY
T BT RN A B e ©

FR EFHEREINT -

Attending
Reading materials  seminars/briefings
HEWRSE
B aNng
Executive Directors HITER
Mr. Yuen Leong RELE v 4
Mr. Chan Siu Tat [/ DiE e a4 v v
Non-executive Director FEHITEE
Mr. Liu Yu 2RAcE v/ v
Independent non-executive Directors BUIFHITESE
Mr. Yap Yung EBAE v v
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FTREFERE v 4
Ms. Chen Lanran FREMBZLT v v

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board is supported by three committees with defined roles and responsibilities
for each committee. Such committees are the remuneration committee
(the“Remuneration Committee”), nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”) and audit committee (the “Audit Committee”). All committees were
set up with a written terms of reference, which are in line with the relevant CG
Code and available to shareholders on the Company’s website, to deal clearly with
its authority and duties. The committees will report their findings and decisions
and make necessary recommendations to the Board. Minutes of the committee
meetings will be drafted by the Company Secretary and circulated for the comment
to the members of the committee within a reasonable time. The final version of
the committee minutes will be kept by the Company Secretary and such minutes
are open for inspection by any Director. All committees are provided with sufficient
resources to discharge their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expense.
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Details of each committee and work performed during the year are as follows:

Nomination Committee
The Nomination Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors
and the members are as follows:

Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and
Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director)

Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director)

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the size,
structure and composition of the Board, making recommendations to the Board
on the appointment and succession planning of Directors with reference to the
Company’s corporate strategy and assessing the independence of the independent
non-executive Directors. The Board has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) on the recommendation of the Nomination Committee, which
describes the procedure by which the Company will select candidate(s) for possible
inclusion in the Board. The Board considers the Nomination Policy could strengthen
the transparency and accountability of the Board and Nomination Committee and
election of Directors. In assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate before
recommending to the Board for it to consider and make recommendations to
shareholders for election as Directors at general meetings or appoint as Directors
to fill casual vacancies, the Nomination Committee will consider: (i) character and
integrity of the proposed candidate; (ii) qualifications of the proposed candidate
including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are
relevant to the Company’s business and corporate strategy; (iii) accomplishment
and experience of the proposed candidate in the business from time to time
conducted, engaged in or invested in by any member of the Group; (iv) commitment
of the proposed candidate in respect of available time and relevant interest; (v)
requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the
Listing Rules and whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing Rules; (vi) Board
diversity policy and any measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board;
and (vii) such other perspectives appropriate to the Company’s business. The
Nomination Committee also ensures the Board has a balance of skills, experience
and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the Company’s
business. The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are in line with the
CG Code and are accessible through the Company’s website.
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The Nomination Committee held one meeting during the year ended 31 March
2023, amongst other matters, to review the size, structure and composition of the
Board, review the board diversity policy, review the suitability of the candidates
to be nominated to the Board and to consider the independence of all the
independent non-executive Directors. Individual attendance of each member of
Nomination Committee is set out below:

k%éé%‘?éﬁx T =H=-R=+—HIF
ERRT—REH Was EThaE E5e8
B RBERBN B EFEZ OB RER
MESFRLZEEANES L TEBEEE
UFRATESFZBUM -RLEEETINEZE
B EE SIS -

Attended/

Eligible to attend
Nomination Committee Members REEEENE HESERLE
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FiEFRE 11
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BR/DESE il
Mr. Yap Yung BEELY 11
Ms. Chen Lanran PRE BT 11
Remuneration Committee HMEEE
The Remuneration Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors M EE G T EHBIIIFHTESHM > EE
and the members are as follows: wr
Mr. Wong Kin Ping (independent non-executive Director and FTREERE BUHHTEFRFNEE EF/E)

Chairman of Remuneration Committee)

Mr. Chan Siu Tat (executive Director) BRAVESE BITEE)
Mr. Yap Yung (independent non-executive Director) BEBRE BUHHNTESR

Ms. Chen Lanran (independent non-executive Director)

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the
Board regarding the Group’s policies and structure for remuneration of Directors
and senior management of the Group and determining the remuneration packages
of Directors and senior management of the Group. It also reviews and/or approves
matters relating to share schemes of the Company and provides its views on those
matters as required under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules. The terms of reference
of the Remuneration Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through the Company’s website.
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The Remuneration Committee held two meetings during the year ended 31 March
2023 to review and determine the remuneration packages of the Directors of the
Company and make recommendations to the Board. The individual attendance of
each member of Remuneration Committee is set out below:

FMEEEREE_ S =F=A=1+—HItE
EBRTMREH U REESRADEE
FMRR THERSFLEERZ -FNEE
EEMEZERHFEEREINNT

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Remuneration Committee Members HINEEERE HEAERLFRE
Mr. Wong Kin Ping TREFERE 2/2
Mr. Chan Siu Tat BR/DEESAAE 212
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 2/2
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBL T 2/2

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee is comprised of independent non-executive Directors and the
members are as follows:

Mr. Yap Yung (Chairman of Audit Committee)
Ms. Chen Lanran
Mr. Wong Kin Ping

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to manage the relationship between
the Company and its external auditor and monitor the audit scope and the process,
to review and supervise the financial reporting process, internal control system and
risk management and to provide advice and comments to the Board. The terms of
reference of the Audit Committee are in line with the CG Code and are accessible
through on the Company’s website.
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The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year ended 31 March 2023
for considering re-appointment of auditors, reviewing the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the interim results of the Group for
the six months ended 30 September 2022 and discussing with the auditors of the
Company on internal control procedures and financial reporting systems, auditors’
independence, auditors’ remuneration and reviewing the risk management and
internal control system of the Group. The individual attendance of each member of
Audit Committee is set out below:

BREEENBE_S_=F=A=+—HLHF
EBRTHREH  UEBEEZHEE  BRA
EEBE_T_—F-RB=1+—HLEFEZFE
FEUAAERSE"S_"FAA=THLR
BRZHHZEE TRALTZBMAHERFA
BIERIREF KM BRERAG  ZBEDZFIIE
T2 BB 2 B 2 B 1 5 2= 52 [ JEL i T T e PR BB 2 )
AR -BREZEEGEMEZER LEE R
T

Attended/

Eligible to attend

Audit Committee Members BZZEERE HE SERLE
Mr. Yap Yung BEBAE 4/4
Ms. Chen Lanran FREBLT 4/4
Mr. Wong Kin Ping FTEFRE 4/4

Corporate Governance Functions

As at 31 March 2023, no corporate governance committee has been established.
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Board, with the help of the Audit
Committee, was responsible for determining the policy for the corporate governance
of the Company and performing the corporate governance duties below:

developing and reviewing the Group’s policies and practices on corporate
governance and making recommendations;

- reviewing and monitoring the training and continuous professional
development of the directors and senior management of the Company;

- reviewing and monitoring the Group’s policies and practices on compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements;

- developing, reviewing and monitoring any codes of conduct and compliance
manuals applicable to employees and directors of the Group; and

- reviewing the Group’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure
requirements in the Corporate Governance Report.
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DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES ON THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2023.

The Board is responsible for to prepare balanced, clear and understandable financial
statements for each financial period which give a true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the Group and other disclosures required under the Listing Rules and other
statutory and regulatory requirements. The Directors are responsible for ensuring
that (i) appropriate accounting policies are selected and applied consistently, (i)
judgements and estimates made are prudent and reasonable and (iii) the financial
statements are prepared on a going concern basis.

The responsibility of external auditor of the Company is to form an independent
opinion, based on their audit, on those consolidated financial statements prepared
by the Board and to report their opinion to the shareholders of the Company.
A statement by the external auditors of the Company about their reporting
responsibility is set out under the section headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” of
this annual report.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for maintaining sound and effective risk management
and internal control systems of the Group to safeguard shareholders” investment
and the Group’s assets. No risk management committee has been established and
the Board, with the help of the Audit Committee, reviews the overall effectiveness
and oversees the management of the Group in the design, implementation and
monitoring of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group. The
risk management and internal control systems are designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to manage
rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational systems and achievement of the
Group’s objectives.

The Board continuously monitors the Group’s risk management framework, review
the Group significant risks and conducts an annual review of the effectiveness of the
risk management system. The Board determines the nature and extent of significant
risks it is willing to take in achieving the strategic objectives of the Group.
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The Group’s risk management and internal control systems include, among others,
the relevant financial, operational and compliance control and risk management
procedures or policies, a well-established organizational structure with a clearly
defined line of responsibilities and authorities. Each department is accountable
for its daily operations and is required to implement the policies adopted from
the Board from time to time. Self-evaluation has been conducted annually to
confirm that control policies are properly complied with by each department.
The management had reported to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems during the year
ended 31 March 2023.

The Company does not have an internal audit department. During the year ended
31 March 2023, Directors, through the Audit Committee with the help of an
external consulting firm, have reviewed the effectiveness of the risk management
and internal control system of the Group. The Company has engaged an external
consulting firm to conduct a review of the effectiveness of the system of internal
control of the major operating subsidiaries of the Group. Areas for improvement
have been identified and appropriate measures have been taken to provide
assurance that key operational risks are identified and managed.

Whistleblowing policy was established to facilitate employees of the Company to
raise, in confidence, concerns about possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Company.

The Company has an established insider information policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s Directors, officers, senior management and relevant
employees in handling confidential information, monitoring information disclosure
and responding to enquiries.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

BDO Limited (“BDO”) resigned as the auditor of the Company with effect from 6
February 2023 and CL Partners CPA Limited (‘CLP") was appointed by the Board as
auditor of the Company with effect from 6 February 2023 to fill the casual vacancy

S0 arisen.
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For the year ended 31 March 2023 the remuneration paid or payable to BDO and
CLP in respect of audit services and non-audit services are as follows:

Nature of service

Name of auditor

BE_T_=—F=-A=1+—HLFE %K
BRI BIRT BN BN LS B KA
/(I

Fee paid/payable

RFE M4 E ZH e TE eft EdER
HK$'000
FET
Audit services in relation to annual results CLP 1,800
B2 FEENZERE Gl
Review of interim financial statement BDO 546
ERP I BERE TEER
2,346

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Chung Yau Tong (“Mr. Chung”) was appointed as the company secretary of the
Company since 1 January 2008. Mr. Chung is a full time employee of the Company
and has day-to-day knowledge of the Company’s affairs. Mr. Chung had complied
with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules for the year and had taken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training for the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for convening a special general meeting by shareholders
and putting forward proposals at shareholders’ meetings

Any one or more shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company (the “Eligible Shareholder(s)") shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of
the Company (the “Company Secretary”) deposited at the head office and principal
place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-
257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong, to require a special general meeting
to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition, including making proposals or moving a resolution at a special general
meeting.

Eligible Shareholders who wish to convene a special general meeting for the purpose
of making proposals or moving a resolution at a special general meeting must
deposit a written requisition (the “Requisition”) signed by the Eligible Shareholder(s)
concerned to the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong.
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The Requisition must state clearly the name of the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned,
his/her/their shareholding in the Company, the reason(s) to convene a special
general meeting, the agenda proposed to be included the details of the business(es)
proposed to be transacted in the special general meeting, signed by the Eligible
Shareholder(s) concerned.

If within 21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the Board has not advised the
Eligible Shareholders of any outcome to the contrary and fails to proceed to convene
a special general meeting, the Eligible Shareholder(s) himself/herself/themselves
may do so in accordance with bye-laws, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned as a result of the failure of the Board shall be
reimbursed to the Eligible Shareholder(s) concerned by the Company.

Making enquiry to the Board

Shareholders of the Company may submit their enquiries and concerns to the Board
in writing by addressing them to the Board by post or delivery to the principal place
of business of the Company in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257
Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, there were significant changes in the
Company’s constitutional document, namely, the Company has amended the Bye-
laws in order to (i) reflect certain amendments to the latest legal and regulatory
requirements, including the amendments made to Appendix 3 to the Listing
Rules which took effect on 1 January 2022; (ii) allow electronic and hybrid general
meetings of the Company to be convened; and (iii) make other consequential and
house-keeping amendments. The amendment was approved by the shareholders
of the Company in the annual general meeting of the Company held on 24 August
2022. Details of the amendment are set out in the circular of the Company dated 25
July 2022. An up-to-date version of the Bye-laws is available on both the websites of
the Company and the Stock Exchange.

COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Company has established a shareholders’ communication policy and the
Board shall review it on a regular basis to ensure its effectiveness. The Company
communicates with the Shareholders and/or potential investors mainly in the
following ways: the Company’s financial reports (interim and annual reports), annual
general meetings and other general meetings that may be convened, publication
of all disclosed information submitted to the Stock Exchange on the websites of
the Company and Stock Exchange. The Company will continuously ensure the
effectiveness and timeliness of information disclosure to Shareholders and the
investors. The Board welcomes the views of Shareholders on matters affecting the
Group and encourages them to attend Shareholders’ meetings to communicate any
concerns they might have with the Board or the management directly.
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Shareholders of the Company and investors can mail any enquiries, comments,
suggestions and recommendations to the principal place of business of the Company
in Hong Kong at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway Bay,
Hong Kong, the Board or their delegates will reply and response to you promptly.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company considers stable and sustainable returns to shareholders of the
Company to be its goal. It is the policy of the Board, in declaring or recommending
a payment of dividends, to allow our shareholders to participate in the Company’s
profits and for the Company to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The
Board adopted a dividend policy (the “Dividend Policy”) on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee in order to promote greater dividend policy transparency. In
deciding whether to recommend the payment of dividend to the shareholders, the
Board will take into account of (i) general business conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or financial performance
and position of the Company; (ii) the financial condition and results of operations
of the Group; (iii) the expected capital requirements and future expansion plans of
the Group; (iv) future prospects of the Group; (v) statutory and regulatory restrictions;
(vi) contractual restrictions on the payment of dividends by the Group to the
shareholders or by the subsidiaries of the Company to the Company; (vii) taxation
considerations; (viii) shareholders’ interests; and (ix) other factors the Board may
deem relevant. The Board may also pay half-yearly or at other suitable intervals to
be settled by it any dividend which may be payable at a fixed rate if the Board is of
the opinion that the profits of the Company justify the payment.

Whilst the Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the financial and
cash-flow position of the Group, the Dividend Policy will continue to be reviewed
from time to time and there can be no assurance that dividends will be recommend
or declared in any particular amount for any given period. The declaration of or
recommendation of declaration of dividends is subject to the absolute discretion
of the Board. Even if the Board decides to recommend and declare dividends, the
form, frequency and amount will depend upon the operations and earnings, capital
requirements and surplus, general financial condition, contractual restrictions and
other factors of and affecting the Group. The payment of dividend is also subject to
applicable laws and regulations and the Company’s constitutional documents.
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PREAMBLE

The year of 2022 marks the relief of the COVID-19 Pandemic (the “pandemic’)
and the entry towards the post-pandemic era. Following the recovery from
the pandemic, the world has been gaining back its vitality and mobility
under the new normal. International Business Settlement Holdings Limited
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group”), which is
an enterprise with diverse businesses including property development,
international business settlement, contact lens business, leasing and
trading of computer equipment business and financing business, has been
maintaining its business continuity and enhancing its resilience in the post-
pandemic era. Overcoming the challenges and obstacles, the Group has
adjusted its business operations and insisted on its endeavours to incorporate
the philosophy of sustainability in its daily operations.

Understanding the importance of its Environmental, Social and Governance
(“ESG”) performance towards the transition to a green and sustainable future,
the Group is dedicated to adopting a holistic approach to ESG management.
As such, the Group aims to establish corporate procedures that enable it
to properly understand, identify, evaluate and manage ESG-related risks,
including climate-related risks. By taking a comprehensive approach to ESG
management, the Group aims to integrate sustainability into all aspects of its
operations and make informed decisions that consider the well-being of its
stakeholders and the environment.

Committed to promoting a sustainable business model for itself and the
society as a whole, the Group adheres strictly to its ESG values and takes
measures to minimise its environmental impact, promote employee
wellbeing and enhance the quality of its products and services. By prioritising
sustainability and responsible business practices, the Group aims to contribute
to a better future not only for itself but also the wider community.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

In compliance with the requirements under Appendix 27 — Environmental,
Social and Governance Reporting Guide of the Main Board Listing Rules
published by the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong (the “Stock Exchange”), the
Group is pleased to present its ESG Report (“ESG Report”) for the financial
year from 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2023 (“FY2022/2023”, or “the year under
review”), which demonstrates the Group’s approach and performance in
terms of its ESG management and corporate sustainable development for
FY2022/2023, under the “Comply or Explain” provision.

Reporting boundaries

The Group determines its reporting boundaries by adopting the operational
control approach and endorsed by the chief operating decision maker
(“CODM”). This ESG report covers the environmental and social performance
within the Group’s operational boundaries, including its main business lines
and reportable operating segments of property development, international
business settlement, contact lens business, financing business and office
operations in the People’s Republic of China (“Mainland China”) and Hong
Kong. For corporate governance related disclosures, please refer to the
Corporate Governance Report chapter of the Group’s 2022/2023 Annual
Report.

In consideration of the principle of materiality, the Group considers the
environmental and social impacts brought by its leasing and trading of
computer equipment business are not significant, thus relevant performance
will not be disclosed in this ESG Report.

Reporting principles
The Group has followed the following reporting principles, namely Materiality,
Quantitative, Balance and Consistency, in its preparation of the ESG Report.

Materiality: The principle of Materiality is fundamental to the Group for
effectively identifying key ESG issues and reasonably allocating manpower and
resources to manage and control the associated ESG risks. As such, the Group
conducted an annual materiality assessment through online surveys with its
key stakeholders to identify material ESG issues that may impact the Group
in the long run. More information can be found in the chapter Stakeholder
Engagement.
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In addition, as the Group’s contact lens business has partially commenced
in the year under review, the Group’s considers the environmental impacts
this business brings are material, thus related environmental information
will be included starting from this year’s ESG Report for portraying a more
comprehensive picture.

Quantitative: The application of the reporting principle of Quantitative
was reflected in the calculation and numeric presentation of the Group’s
environmental and social key performance indicators (“KPI”). Calculation
methods, assumptions and conversion factors used are specified clearly in the
footnote of the corresponding performance tables.

Balance: The Group aligns with the principle of Balance in the disclosure
of its ESG performance to ensure that true and effective ESG information
is conveyed to its stakeholders. To portray a full picture of the Group’s
sustainability performance, the Group was fully transparent on the critical
elements including both its outstanding achievements and rooms for
improvement in comparison with its previous performance.

Consistency: The Group adopts a consistent reporting framework and data
calculation method to allow meaningful comparison on a yearly basis. In case
of any significant differences from the previous reporting framework, a clear
explanation will be made correspondingly.

BOARD INCLUSIVENESS

The Company’s operations are guided by the Group’s objective of promoting
sustainable growth and creating opportunities. This objective motivates
the Group’s efforts to address its environmental and social issues across
its operations and with its business partners. The Group’s robust ESG
Management System is instrumental in supporting these efforts, with
oversight from the Group’s Board of Directors (the “Board”) at the highest level
and throughout the management system.
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Overview of the ESG Management System RE-HERELEERBREE
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Governance Structure
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The Board is responsible for overseeing the Group’s businesses and takes a
leading role in managing and reporting on its ESG affairs. The Board reviews
and monitors the Group’s performance against its well-defined ESG strategy
and goals. The Group’s ESG-related risks, including climate-related issues,
are overseen and managed by the Board at the full board level and through
executive levels like the Audit Committee. The ESG Work Group has been
established to implement the ESG work plans, while the Group’s management
team including the Investor Relations Department and the Company
Secretarial Department of the Hong Kong headquarter are responsible for
day-to-day coordination of the Board’s directives and regularly update the
Board on market news and progress developments related to the Group’s ESG
performance. The Group’s business units are responsible for implementing
the ESG-related policies set by the top management and regularly report the
progress and obstacles encountered during daily operations.

Management Approach and Strategy

To effectively evaluate, prioritise and manage the Group’s material ESG-related
issues, the Board engages with internal and external stakeholders through
the annual stakeholder engagement and materiality assessment process, in
addition to the internal review of the risk management approach conducted
by the Audit Committee. Details on how the Board evaluates and prioritises
material ESG-issues can be found in the chapter Stakeholder Engagement.

Meanwhile, to support the Board in gaining a comprehensive understanding
of the Group’s sustainability performance so as to make better informed
decisions regarding the management of material ESG-related issues, external
consultants are engaged to prepare a review material for the Board. This
review includes an analysis and the results of the materiality assessment,
major environmental and social performances, climate-related risks and
other relevant information. It aims to facilitate the Board in establishing and
implementing more effective ESG management approaches and strategies.
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ESG-related Goals and Targets

As an enterprise with a diverse range of businesses, including office
operations, manufacturing production and property development, the Board
recognises that the Group’s major ESG issues are related to the environmental
impacts of its operations. To this end, the Group has established specific
environmental targets based on its past environmental performances, which
are detailed in the chapter Environmental Sustainability. To monitor the
progress towards these targets, external consultants will provide a summary
of environmental performance and corresponding analysis to the Board for
review and endorsement. This approach enables the Board to gain a better
understanding of the Group’s current context, thereby allowing for informed
decisions when setting future business strategies and business plans. Going
forward, the Board will continue to review the Group’s business scope and
update its ESG goals and targets when necessary.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Effective stakeholder involvement is an integral part of the Group’s ESG
management, thus the Group respects, considers and actively responds to
the expectations of its stakeholders when planning business strategies. To
identify and address stakeholders’ concerns on the Group’s ESG-related issues,
the Group has been undertaking an ongoing engagement and maintaining a
sound relationship with its stakeholders, so as to ensure that it stays updated
with the risks and opportunities arise from the markets. Over the years,
the Group has communicated with its stakeholders through the following
channels.

Communication with Stakeholders

Stakeholders
FnE

Expectations and Concerns
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Communication Channels

BERE

Government and regulatory authorities -
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regulations

- BTEREER

- Sustainable development

-  IRE%E

- Occupational health and safety

- BERERZE

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

Compliance with laws and

- Supervision on complying with local
laws and regulations

- HETHGERERBERNEE

- Routine reports and taxes paid

- ERBEREMRIE



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « t1ERERHBS

Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
FinE FEHARRRERS BEERE
Employees Employees’ remuneration and - Performance reviews
B8 benefits - EEs
BB KR EF]
- Regular meetings and training
Career development - TEHgEKEIN
WEER
- Emails, notice boards, hotline and
Occupational Health and safety Group caring activities
HWERERZSE - BI-AER ABKREBRRE
EE
Customers High-quality products and services — Customer satisfaction survey
ER = oo 3 E an R AR - EBRREBEERADT
Customers’ interests - Face-to-face meetings and on-site
EFR#m visits
- EHEgRKERSES
Customers’ satisfaction
BERmEE - Customer service hotline and email
- BPRRBRGKRER
Shareholders Return on investments - Regular reports and announcements
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Corporate governance

TEER

Compliance with laws and
regulations
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Regular general meetings
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Corporate website
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Stakeholders Expectations and Concerns Communication Channels
FinE FEHARRRIERS BEERE

Suppliers - Fair and open procurement - Open tender
R - ATFRREEREE - REEE

General public

AR

- Win-win upstream and
downstream cooperation

- EBFLERTREAE

- Protection of intellectual property
rights
- IREHFERE

- Involvement in communities
- HHEZHA

- Compliance with laws and
regulations

- BTEREER

- Environmental protection
awareness
-  IRREH
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- Suppliers’ satisfactory assessment

- HEEHEEE

- Telephone conferences, face-to-face
meetings and on-site visits

- BHEgR - OHEERKRRSE
Bl

- Media conferences and responses to
inquiries

- HRIBEKHEANCE

- Public welfare activities
- RE@EH



Materiality assessment

Since ESG risks and opportunities vary across different companies with various
backgrounds, business operation models and concerns, the Group takes
a step-wise approach and conducts an annual materiality assessment to
determine the main concerns and major interests of its stakeholders on ESG
matters. In FY2022/2023, the Group engaged an independent consultant and
invited its stakeholder representatives to participate in the Group’s materiality
assessment survey. The stakeholder representatives were selected based on
their influence and degree of dependence on the Group. Selected stakeholders
include general and managerial staff of the Group, suppliers, customers and
professional organisations, who expressed their views on a range of corporate
ESG management issues through online surveys. In particular, the questions
covered topics including environmental impacts, employment and labour
practices, operating practices, community investment, and leadership and
governance. In FY2022/2023, the Group further fine-tuned the materiality
assessment methodology with weightings being applied to the ratings of the
ESG issues identified, based on the preference and concern of the engaged
stakeholder representatives on the E, S and G pillar.

By integrating the results and formulating them into a materiality matrix,
the Group can prioritise its ESG issues through a visualised approach, thus
facilitating the development of action plans for better ESG management.
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Product/Service Quality and Safety
ER/ REEERTR

Customer Privacy and Data Security

BRLRRENEEZE

Marketing and Promotion

SN E

Intellectual Property Rights

TR & AN B EE 1

Labelling Relating to Products/Services

Bt/ RS AR RE AR B RE

Business Ethics and Anti-corruption
I EEEN R ER

Internal Grievance Mechanism
P30 ER EfR A i
Participation in Philanthropy
NmAEFFHHNDH

Cultivation of Local Employment

REZ iz

Support of Local Economic Development
TR E SR

Business Model Adaptation and Resilience to Environmental,
Social, Political and Economic Risks and Opportunities
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Management of the Legal and Regulatory Environment
(regulation compliance management)

Critical Incident Risk Responsiveness
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Stakeholder Engagement Materiality Matrix
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Environmental Impacts

2 2

RIRRE

O Employment and Labour Practices

ERREIER

Importance to the Group

HEAEENEZE

O Operating Practices
EIEER

) Community Investment
HERE

Through the materiality assessment, “Product/Service Quality and Safety”,

“Intellectual Property Rights” and “Labelling Relating to Products/Services”

were identified as the most material ESG issues to the Group. The results have

been passed and reviewed by the Board.

[ Leadership & Governance
BEEHMER

BREEUNE ER/ BRBEERZ
2 MREANBER K EER RESEH
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Progress on Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs)

The Group’s sustainability approach is driven by its purpose of creating long-
term value for all stakeholders while maintaining a balanced and responsible
business operation. Regarding sustainability as one of its business principles,
the Group has prioritised the following SDGs that are of significant concern to
stakeholders regarding corporate sustainability stewardship. As a supporter of
the United Nations Global Compact, the Group is committed to contributing
to the achievement of global sustainability targets by promoting SDGs at the
local and national levels.

SDG 1: No Poverty

The Group newly identified this SDG as one of its material concerns in
FY2022/2023. Responding to the national call of eliminating poverty, the
Group offers local employment opportunities and promotes job security by
ensuring decent work and considerable wages. Moreover, it provides social
insurance which covers all eligible employees. Recognising the importance
of inclusive economic growth and sustainable development, the Group will
continue to monitor its policies and operations in aiming for the eradication
of poverty in all its forms and dimensions.

SDG 2: Zero Hunger

In response to the sub-targets outlined in Goal 2, the Group has invested
in exploring viable strategies for environmental protection and enhancing
business resilience to environmental hazards, resource scarcity and other
climate-related risks in its supply chain, particularly in the property
development sector. The Group has demonstrated a strong commitment to
sustainable property development by continuously assessing the vulnerability
of its business model, setting targets on energy and resource consumption
and leading innovations in the construction, delivery and management of its
diverse portfolio of properties.
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SDG 3: Good Health and Well-being

Health and safety have always been one of the Group’s top priorities. To
safeguard its people, business partners and customers, the Group exercised a
series of measures, such as providing anti-epidemic supplies and promoting
the use of digital communication.

Meanwhile, the Group priorities the protection of its people from occupational
health and safety hazards. Through the provision of appropriate health-care
options, the Group ensures the health and well-being of all its employees
can be safeguarded. Moreover, the Group has taken on the responsibility of
protecting end-users from any potentially negative health impacts by sourcing
environmentally friendly building materials, monitoring the use of resources
in the building environment and enhancing the quality of management
service. The Group remains committed to maintaining its work-related fatality
and injury rate at zero, while continue to enforce is internal policies to achieve
this objective.

SDG 4: Quality Education

The Group upholds a non-discriminatory and inclusive approach to providing
its employees with access to vocational training opportunities and internship
programmes. Aiming to foster a more motivated and skilled workforce, the
Group offers continuous learning, upskilling and reskilling opportunities to
both newly hired staff and mid-career professionals. In addition to in-house
training programmes, the Group also encourages its staff to participate in
external training courses. To cultivate a culture of ongoing learning within
the organisation, the Group motivates its employees to attain additional job-
related qualifications through rewards such as discretionary reimbursements.
The Group aims to further diversify its training courses to equip its employees
with the necessary capabilities and knowledge to handle complex tasks.

SDG 5: Gender Equality

In order to promote full and effective participation of all female employees
in the Group’s activities and provide equal opportunities for leadership at
all levels of decision-making, the Group prioritises diversity and inclusion
in its talent pool by increasing the representation of women. Moreover, to
raise awareness on gender equality, the Group’s human resources policies
ensure equal remuneration for both male and female employees, thereby
maintaining full compliance with the Law of the People’s Republic of China
on the Protection of Women’s Rights and Interests.
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SDG 6: Clean Water and Sanitation

Recognising the significance of protecting and restoring water-related
ecosystems to the sanitation and hygiene of drinking water, the Group
is dedicated to improving water quality by reducing water pollution and
minimising the discharge of hazardous waste during its operations.

Realising the environmental impact that its contact lens business would bring,
the Group already established a water conservation target before the initiation
of the business, with an aim to reduce water consumption by 50% during the
manufacturing process. Furthermore, the Group has implemented a range of
preliminary treatment process before discharge during production to prevent
the contamination of natural water bodies. For more information about the
water conservation targets and progress, please refer to the section A.2. Use
of resources.

SDG 8: Decent Work and Economic Growth

Committed to responsible employment practices, the Group perseveres the
adherence to basic labour rights and the provision of a healthy working
environment for its employees, offering fair and competitive salary and
benefits packages as stated in the Group’s various internal policies. The Group
strives to continuously enhance its supply chain management in collaboration
with its business partners, with the aim of gradually transitioning to local
procurement practices which create more employment opportunities for the
local communities.

Stakeholder feedback

As the Group strives for excellence, the Group welcomes stakeholders’
feedback on the improvement of corporate ESG approach and performance,
especially under the topics listed as the highest importance in the materiality
assessment. Readers are also welcomed to share their views with the Group at
https://www.ibsettlement.com/contact.php or via mail.
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V. ENVIRONMENTAL SUSTAINABILITY

The Group is committed to minimising its impacts on the environment in

which it operates through strictly controlling its emissions and consumption

of resources. Following national goals and action plans on green and low-

carbon development, the Group is devoted to contributing to ecological and

environmental protection, thus incorporating environmental sustainability as

an integral part of its operations.

This section will primarily disclose the Group’s policies and practices on

emissions, use of resources, the environmental and natural resources, as well
as climate change during FY2022/2023.

A.1. Emissions

In FY2022/2023, the Group complied with relevant national and local
laws and regulations in relation to air, GHG emissions, discharges into
water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous
waste, including but not limited to:

Environmental Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China

(PEARHAMBIRIFREZED ;

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Atmospheric Pollution {1 ZE A B HM B A RITH
FriaiED s

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control

of Water Pollution {FZE A R HEFIEK TR EED ;5

Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Prevention and
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Wastes {1 EE A &
HA B E AR EEY) 5 RIRIBFAZED

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Conserving Energy ¢/
EARHFMBIESNERE)

Law of the People’s Republic of China on Environmental Impact

Assessment (FPEE A R A BIRIBE R & E L) 5
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. Waste Disposal Ordinance (Cap. 354 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 358 of the Laws of Hong
Kong); and

. Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap. 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong).

Upholding its commitment to minimising GHG emissions, the Group
is dedicated to climate protection and remains aligned with the
national goal of achieving carbon neutrality by 2060. In FY2022/2023,
the Group’s major source of GHG emissions was the consumption of
electricity, while air emissions including sulphur oxides (“SOx”), nitrogen
oxides (“NO\") and particulate matter (‘PM”) were mainly from the
burning of fossil fuels for vehicles. For more information about the
quantitative data of the Group’s environmental performance, please
refer to Table E1 in the Appendix.

Financing Business

Emissions from the Group’s financing business were mainly GHG
emissions from the consumption of electricity during daily operations.
To further reduce GHG emissions, several measures have been taken
to reduce electricity consumption, which will be further described in
A.2.Use of Resources.

In the meantime, since the municipal solid waste was normally
collected and disposed by the property management team, while
municipal wastewater was directly discharged to the drainage system,
the Group did not have a precise record on its waste discharged. Still,
the Group has implemented the following practices to lower its waste
produced and aims to drive sustainable practices during its daily
operations in the office:

. Recycle waste through waste classification;

. Encourage employees to bring their own lunchbox to reduce the
use of disposable items; and

. Advocate the reuse of office stationeries.
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Understanding the amount of wastewater highly depends on the
amount of water used, the Group has taken specific measures to
encourage water conservation during its operations. These measures
will be further discussed in A.2.Use of Resources.

Property Development

In FY2022/2023, emissions from this business segment included air and
GHG emissions, non-hazardous wastewater and waste, dust and noise.
The Group is aware of the potential environmental impacts that this
business segment would bring to the environment, thus has established
a series of policies and implemented various practices to control and
manage the amount of emissions and wastes.

Air and GHG Emissions

Given the business nature of this business segment, a large proportion
of air and GHG emissions emitted were mainly from the use of gasoline
in vehicles and the consumption of electricity. The Group is committed
to minimising its climate impact and responding to the national call for
accelerating decarbonisation, and more information on its efforts on
energy conservation and implemented specific measures will be further
described in A.2. Use of Resources.

Wastewater

Understanding that the generation of wastewater is unavoidable during
construction projects, the Group has carried out the measures below
to manage its wastewater discharged thus relieving public concerns on
inappropriate discharge.

. Segregate domestic sewage from construction wastewater and
remove oil and residue by filtration before discharging it into the
municipal sewage network;

. Install an internal wastewater treatment plant to treat
wastewater before discharging it into the municipal sewage

network;
. Use coagulant to enhance sedimentation efficiency;
. Conduct regular self-monitoring to ensure that the effluent meets

prescribed standards; and

. Maximise water efficiency at all stages and reuse the wastewater
for cleaning purposes whenever possible.
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Solid waste

Solid waste is unavoidable during most construction and demolition
practices. Therefore, to minimise the impacts that waste generated
would bring to the environment, the Group has classified solid waste
during its construction practice, including land excavation waste,
broken bricks, mortar, concrete and plastic package. Furthermore, to
reduce solid waste produced, the Group has exercised the following
practices in respect of the “3R” principles:

. Reuse land excavation waste for backfill purposes;

. Store construction waste at designated locations for
transportation and disposal regularly;

. Recycle residual materials from the construction sites, including

residual steel, wood and non-hazardous solid waste;

. Sell plastic packages to recycling stations for further handling;

. Use eco-friendly materials in construction operations, such as
those with recycled content;

. Ensure that workers on-site are aware of the “3R” principles; and
. Monitor on-site practices to review and improve waste
management.
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Dust

The Group has also taken the following measures to control the
dust generated from the construction sites which may threaten the
environment and workers’ health:

. Clean vehicles’ wheels and underbody before leaving the
construction site;

. Use a sealed vehicle to transport dust;

. Set appropriate speed limits and reduce the frequency of
transportation through better planning;

. Rinse the ground or sprinkle water daily to settle the dirt and
prevent sludge accumulation; and

. Install pressurised dust reduction spray devices along the main
road of the construction site.

Noise
The Group has taken the following measures to mitigate noise during

operations:
. Install noise enclosure, noise barrier and vibration isolation
facilities;

. Use equipment and construction methods with lower noise and
lower vibration; and

. Regulate certain operating periods for the use of equipment/
machinery.

In FY2022/2023, the Group strictly complied with the national standards
regarding noise emissions, including the Emission Standards for
Industrial Enterprises Noise at Boundary (GB12348-2008) and did not
receive any substantiated complaint about noise nuisance from its
nearby residents.
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Contact lens business

In FY2022/2023, emissions from the contact lens business included air
and GHG emissions, hazardous wastewater, non-hazardous wastewater
and waste. Following the official commencement of the contact lens
business, the Group has included the relevant data and prepared a
series of measures to manage its environmental performance.

Air and GHG Emissions

The main sources of air and GHG emissions during the year under
review in this business sector were the use of gasoline in vehicles and
consumption of electricity. The Group has formulated and implemented
internal standards that abide with relevant standards and regulations
in order to effectively manage its air emissions. For instance, the
generation of Nonmethane Hydrocarbons (“NMHC") during the
production process will be handled according to the Emission Standard
of Volatile Organic Compounds for Printing Industry (DB35/1784-2018).
Specifically, NMHC will be collected and connected to the spray tower
for preliminary treatment, then discharged through a 15-metre exhaust

pipe.

Hazardous waste

The hazardous waste generated in this business segment mainly
include waste ink (HW49) from the production process, glycerol
waste liquid used for the cleaning of liquid injection machine
pipeline (HWO06), resin-containing experiment residue from research
and development (R&D) laboratory (HW06), and saturated spray
tower circulation waste liquid (HW49), etc. Since hazardous solid
waste is collected in a unified manner and handed over to qualified
organisations with Hazardous Waste Business License (%% B #) 4% &
FFP158) for handling and disposal, the Group did not have a precise
record on the amount of hazardous waste disposed during the year
under review.

Meanwhile, hazardous wastewater primarily contains suspended
solid, organic matters and ammonia nitrogen generated from
the manufacturing process. It is collected through the production
wastewater pipeline in the factory and pre-treated in the coagulation
sedimentation process before discharging to the municipal sewage pipe
network.
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To monitor the compliance in operations in accordance with
relevant regulations and standards, the Group has designated a full-
time environmental protection management team who will be
responsible for performing an Applicability Evaluation G A4 5F(E)
every six months, according to the Applicability Evaluation Form of
Environmental Protection Law Standards GR{R %1212 % 78 18
).

Emission controls

In addition to the above measures, the Group has taken a series of
measures to manage and minimise the emissions from the contact lens
plant and relevant operations, including:

. Enhance employees’ environmental awareness through training
and the building of environmental management system;

. Record real-time air emissions and wastewater produced,;

. Organise equipment maintenance daily to prevent any
unorganised discharge of exhaust gas, wastewater and noise that
may be caused by equipment malfunction; and

. Adopt the pollution prevention and control measures as
proposed by the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) to
guarantee that all discharges meet the standards.

Use of resources

In FY2022/2023, the major resources consumed by the Group were
electricity, gasoline, diesel, water, paper and packaging materials.
Table E2 in the Appendix illustrates the details of the Group’s resource
consumption in FY2022/2023.
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Electricity

The Group consumes electricity mainly for the daily operations in the
offices, construction sites and contact lens plants. In FY2022/2023, the
Group recorded a significant increase in its electricity consumption
due to the inclusion of its contact lens business. Understanding the
importance of improving electricity use efficiency, as well as managing
and controlling the electricity consumption pattern, the Group has
implemented the following practices:

. Place reminders next to the switches to remind staff to turn
appliances off when not in use;

. Install time-controlled switches to prevent energy waste during
idle periods;
. Adjust air conditioner temperatures in the offices in response to

weather conditions;

. Substitute traditional lighting with energy-efficient alternatives
such as LEDs;

. Clean appliances (such as refrigerators, air conditioners and
shredder) regularly to maintain their efficiency;

. Procure equipment with Grade 1 Energy Label; and

. Conduct education seminars and workshops to promote
electricity conservation among employees on a regular basis.

The Group places a high priority on controlling electricity consumption
as part of its efforts to reduce carbon emissions and improve energy
efficiency. To this end, the Group has established internal policies
that incorporate the slogan of “Saving Electricity” into its business
strategy. All production machines, surrounding units, power supplies
and lightings must be turned off before the close of business at 17:30.
The Group has also assigned an internal task force to monitor energy
consumption and ensure the effectiveness of policy implementation.
Furthermore, the Group has invested in eco-friendly devices and
facilities to promote energy conservation, such as the installation of
solar panels at the contact lens plants.
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Gasoline

Gasoline was used primarily for transportation at the Group’s
operations. In FY2022/2023, the Group recorded a 57% decrease in the
use of gasoline due to the reduction in private cars transportation.
The Group has been aware of the worsening air quality and rise in
GHG emissions associated with the reliance on vehicles powered by
fossil fuels. Therefore, with an aim to transition towards a low carbon
and low consumption business model, the Group is committed to
optimising its business trips management by implementing the
following internal policies:

. Utilise telephone conferences instead of physical meetings to
reduce the need for travel;

. Avoid idling of vehicles and machinery at construction sites; and
. Explore the feasibility and practicality of replacing highly
polluting vehicles with electric and energy-efficient alternatives.

Water

The Group understands the importance of fully utilising water resources
in minimising water loss as water is one of the most precious resources
on earth. Realising that water saving is the key to the long-term stability
of its business, the Group has established and implemented the
following practices to promote water conservation:

. Educate and encourage staff to save water;

. Display “Saving Water Resources” posters in prominent locations
to raise awareness about water conservation;

. Install water-saving equipment with water efficiency labels;

. Adjust the water supply according to the season and resting time;

. Conduct regular checks, maintenance and leakage tests on the
water supply system;

. Recycle and reuse wastewater for purposes such as greening and
road cleaning; and

. Harvest rainwater for use in construction site operations.
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The Group strives to optimise its contact lens operations and targets at
reducing water consumption during productions without compromising
the quality of its products. Furthermore, the Group is extending its
target to reduce water consumption by 50% for the hydration process.
In FY2022/2023, the Group did not face any problem in sourcing water
fit for its purpose.

Paper

The Group has always been embracing the concept of paperless office
and making use of digitalised documents. By reducing, reusing and
recycling paper in its operations, the Group recorded a 32% decrease
in its paper consumption in FY2022/2023. The Group has also
implemented the following measures to reduce paper consumption:

. Disseminate information through electronic means as much as
possible;
. Promote the “Think before print” concept to encourage staff to

avoid unnecessary printings;

. Set double-sided printing as the default setting;

. Place boxes and trays next to photocopiers to collect single-sided
paper for reuse and recycling; and

. Prioritise suppliers with more environmentally friendly paper
sources during procurement.

Packaging materials

Understanding that the use of packaging materials is unavoidable

given the Group’s business nature, it has implemented several practices

to minimise the use of such materials and enhance the consumption

efficiency:

. Strengthen recycling efforts and promote the reuse of packaging
materials to lessen the burden on landfills;

. Encourage the practice of minimal packaging; and

. Search for more environmentally friendly packaging materials.
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Construction Materials

Construction materials are mainly consumed by the Group in the
property development business, including metal, concrete and
paper materials. In FY2022/2023, the Group consume minimal any
construction materials as major building construction works in property
development segment were completed during the year. Nevertheless,
as a best practice, the Group has been taking the following practices to
improve the utilisation efficiency of raw materials and strive for long-
term environmental stability of the Group’s business:

. Opt for aerated blocks to reduce the weight of the walls;

. Utilise new polymer waterproofing membrane to prevent water
infiltration;

. Adopt hollow glass tiles for thermal insulation;

. Create construction blueprints and employ innovative

construction techniques to enhance the efficiency of material
usage; and

. Select environmentally responsible and locally sourced
sustainable building materials to mitigate the embodied impacts
associated with energy, waste, carbon and water.

The environment and natural resources

In FY2022/2023, although the Group’s business operations did not
cause any adverse impacts on the environment, the Group considers
the purchase of energy resources thus its Scope 2 GHG emissions are
relatively the most significant environmental impacts through analysing
its environmental performance. As such, the Group believes that it has
a pivotal role to play in improving its energy efficiency. By establishing
and implementing effective internal policies that regulate the use
of energy resources, the Group is committed to further reducing its
electricity consumption and the related GHG emissions.
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In compliance with relevant environmental laws and regulations, the
Group has established internal policies, such as the Environment,
Health and Safety (EHS) measures. The Group incorporates the concept
of green building into its construction projects and endeavours to
create more eco-friendly and sustainable housing estates through
exceptional design and landscaping within the property boundary.

Furthermore, the Group encourages employee participation in tree
planting activities and eco-tours to contribute to the carbon offset
target. Since establishment, the Group has planted 580 trees and will
continue to seek out green activities and engage employees in learning
and implementing sustainability principles in daily operations.

The Group promotes the “3R principles” — reduce, reuse and recycle — in
the handling of used materials. Paying attention to details, the Group
replaced the aluminium foil labels printed with ink with ones based
on laser engraving for its contact lenses to minimise resource usage at

source.

Realising the environmental impacts that its businesses would bring,
the Group is committed to establishing specific environmental targets to
meet increasing demands and expectations from regulatory authorities
and its stakeholders. The below table summarises the Group’s future
targets and actions.
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Targets
B1R

Actions

T8

Air and GHG
Emissions

BERMBER
BEHE

Solid Waste
ERSEEY

Electricity
B/

Other Energy
Resources

HpERE R

Water and
Wastewater

IKE R EE 7K

Taking FY2022/2023 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of air and GHG
emissions in FY2023/2024 within the same scope at the
same level.
NWZBZZ /2 -HFEAEES AEEB
RN _E_= /“E_MHFHEREER
HNER MR ERBEINBE SR AR KT
Taking FY2022/2023 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of non-hazardous solid
waste generated in FY2023/2024 within the same scope
at the same level.

M_E:: TEC-HMEREEF  AEEE
RN -2 = /"2 _HFAEAREERN
Efﬁ#%l%%%%%ﬁﬁﬁ%fﬁﬂm¥o

Taking FY2022/2023 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of electricity
consumption in FY2023/2024 within the same scope at
the same level.
MNWZEBZZ /T2 =FEAEES AEEE
EERER T = /TN EAERHEER
HNE/HERE SR TRR KT

In addition, a subsidiary of the Group has set up
a voluntary target to reduce its absolute electricity
consumption by 10% in the next reporting year.

5y REBN—FENBE LS EBR&RILE F—
ERESFEREHFESER D100 BE T

Taking FY2022/2023 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of gasoline and diesel
in FY2023/2024 within the same scope at the same
level.

UWZBZZ /"2 =—MFREEF AEHH
RN 2= /"2 _HFAEARBEERN

E’J/_\,/EEEZ /EE‘ZF_ E?ﬂf?fﬂﬁﬂ(“ o

Taking FY2022/2023 as the baseline year, the Group
targets to maintain the intensity of water consumption
and wastewater discharged in FY2023/2024 within the
same scope at the same level.

NWZBZZ /2 =MFRBEF KEEHH
RERNKR 2= /" NHFHERHEERN
BYR K55 KB R EAEFF R AR R K S o

The Group will continue to monitor and review its

emissions, thus controlling the level of electricity

consumption to further lower its Scope 2 GHG emission.
435 B3|

FEEREBEARSEHINE  HMIZEHIE
JHBERNKTFUE-—FPREHEEE _BERE
Lo

The Group will promote its waste classification practices
with reference to the “3R” principles.

AEER2ROIBRIRAEERELIR D EIE

The Group will continue to uphold its internal policy of
“Saving Electricity” in its business strategy. Meanwhile,
one of the Group’s subsidiaries has started its peak
demand management on electricity consumption to
reduce peak hour consumption as well as reducing
operating costs.

FEBREBNHEEBRBARSTHETBHNAE)

BY PO BB B ER o B L[ B - A S B 7R T B9 — AT FfY /B
@ﬂE@@%W BEEREE LUR S ERER
BRFEEEME -

The Group will abide by its internal policies on
business trips to control the use of fuels and explore
the feasibility to replace current vehicles with energy-
efficient alternatives.

REBRETHRTEZE R A EBEEEZ G R
NER TEXRUABERNGNERRERRE
BEA AT o

The Group will continue its common practice of
adopting water-saving equipment, thus recycling and
reusing wastewater in its business operation as its
commitment to save water.

FEERESKBHKREBRIVABANBHEE
BEETHNEKNSEYS  (FRBRTHEBHNA
IKBYZKEE
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A.4. Climate change

Given the increasing frequency of climate-related crisis around the
world, decarbonising and achieving carbon neutrality has become a
growing priority for nations worldwide. As the world’s second largest
economy, China has taken the initiative to reduce carbon emissions,
becoming the first developing country to propose a carbon neutrality
timetable, known as the “30 « 60” decarbonisation target.

Aligned with the national policy of promoting green development and
the economy outlined in the “14™ Five-Year Plan”, the Group has been
formulating strategies to strengthen governance and improve climate
risk management and performance. The ESG management team of the
Group has identified various paths to addressing potential risks, taking
guidance from the Recommendations by the Task Force on Climate-
related Risks (TCFD).
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Risk
1

Potential Impact
BERE

Acute
Physical Risk
EIMER
i

Chronic
Physical Risk
REAMER
R Bz

Transition Risk

BRE R

Opportunities

s

Increase in frequency of extreme weather events such
as typhoons, storms and flood
B ~ 2 B R K Ak Sk A R B LR IRE

(=hy—
E 5]

Prolonged heat waves and change in precipitation
patterns

ERRIMRRERRERE

Updates of policies and regulations have further
increased the environmental requirements especially
for the construction and the property development
business
BREERNEFEE—FRSERER LH
EHHRRRYEMAEERNER

Damage the Group’s properties and bring major
safety hazards to its construction workers and
occupants
BEAEEMENEBIAEBEET AR
FRERERZRRR

Delay the transportation of goods, thus
disrupting the supply chain and affecting the
stable supply of raw materials

JEFRE M) E 8 > 1T 45 AR 2 1 58 AP A e 52
EBRMERIRE HAE

Suspension of work and electricity may lead to
a delay in project completion, thus raising the
Group’s operating costs
FIEEEENIEE T IR sl
MAERELEINEEMR K

Continuous raining may lead to frequent
flooding which may cause higher maintenance
costs for the Group’s properties
FEERNGEBUKKIEE  BrkEEE
B L B W HE RV AE SE R A8 0

Prolonged heat waves may affect the working
conditions of the Group’s workplace and lead to
higher operating costs for maintaining optimal
temperature to protect the workers health
EREHRAEETEAERLIESFAMN
THERD TERERFRERAENRET
ANEEHEER AL

Operating costs are expected to rise in response
to stringent regulations

TRAIEEM A g HEBRR AR

Green Building
KRR

Under the promotion of green buildings in the “14th Five-Year Plan”, the Group is currently exploring alternatives
to integrate energy and resource efficiency in project design and operations in its new development projects,
which favours reductions in follow-up operating costs and development of new business opportunities
RIT-MOARE A EEERNES T AERRERRNERBHEZIEERARIEE R EERE
BRERRERMENBERAR  BEMNNEREBESEM A KEAERE
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Although climate change may not cause severe direct impacts on the
Group’s businesses, the Group is fully aware of the potential risks that
climate change poses to its property development and manufacturing
operations. To mitigate the impact of the climate crisis, the Group has
established precautionary measures and emergency response plans
related to extreme weather events and contingency plans for selecting
alternative suppliers. Additionally, the Group takes climate-related
issues into account when making important decisions, such as selecting
locations for new property development.

To manage material risks related to climate change, the Group’s ESG
management team is responsible for monitoring and reporting on
climate-related risks to the Group’s management with the assistance
of external consultants. In the future, the Group intends to deepen
its understanding of its climate-related risks and opportunities and to
develop internal policies, metrics and goals to guide its climate actions.

SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
Employment and labour practices

B.1.

Employment

The Group values its employees and treats them equally, respecting
their opinions and responding to their needs. The Group is dedicated
to creating and maintaining a comfortable and attractive workplace
and providing various development opportunities for all employees,
while growing with its employees together. In particular, the Group
offers high-quality benefits, exciting opportunities for promotion, self-
improvement and career development, which can contribute to the
sustainable development of the Company.
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As of the end of FY2022/2023, there were 208 full-time employees BE_S_— /"ZT_ZHEXRK

and 2 part-time employees working for the Group, with a gender ratio EEAE208L2HEEMELRHBES

of 60% male to 40% female. Details of the distribution of the Group’s EE > MBI B A60% (5B) K40% (&)

employees can be found in Table S3 in the Appendix. B -AEBREEDMHINFEE F2H
FfE2RS3 0

Distribution of Employees by Gender and Age in FY2022/2023
TEIZ R CHERENRERESNES DM

—

Female Z 1%

35%

42%

B4 Male

Aged 30 or below . Aged 31 - 40
305E AT 31E405%

. Aged 41 - 50 . Aged 51 or above
41E5075% 51 £
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Compliance with laws and regulations

The Group’s human resources policies adhere to the applicable
employment laws and regulations in its operating regions. In
FY2022/2023, the Group complied with the material relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Minimum Wage Ordinance (Cap. 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {FZE A R+EHN
B EED;

. Employment Promotion Law of the People’s Republic of China

(FEARAMBIGE(REZL);

. Labour Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China {FHZE A
REMBESBEREZED; and

«  Social Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China {FREE A
EHEMEHEREEE).

Recruitment and promotion

The Group’s employment policies have been updated and adjusted to
reflect social changes. The Human Resources Department is responsible
for staff recruitment and promotion, following the “Selection, Use,
Education, Retention” (G2~ ~ 5~ &) talent management system
established by the Group. The Group offers competitive and fair
remuneration and benefits based on individuals' past performance,
personal attributes and job experiences in order to attract high-calibre
talent. Meanwhile, promotions are proposed based on an employee’s
performance and qualification, which are evaluated by the Human
Resources Department and approved by their supervisors.
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Compensation and dismissal

The Group strictly complies with local regulations regarding minimum
wages and working age in its operating regions. The Human Resources
Department regularly reviews relevant policies and compensation
packages to ensure compliance with the latest laws and regulations.
The Group conducts probationary and regular evaluations based on the
employee performance, salary structure within the Group, market levels
and profitability to determine salary adjustments as detailed in the
Salary Management System (37BN & IB4IE) .

The Group also complies with the employees’ social security schemes
enforced by local governments and provides various benefits, including
performance bonuses, medical schemes, mandatory provident fund for
employees in Hong Kong and social insurance packages for employees
in Mainland China.

The termination of employment contracts in the Group is based on
reasonable and lawful grounds. The Group prohibits any unfair or
illegitimate dismissal, and internal policies are in place to regulate the
dismissal procedures for management. For employees whose behaviour
constitutes a serious violation of the Group’s regulations or has caused
significant damage to the Group through serious dereliction and
malpractices, the Group will terminate the employment relationship
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations after an investigation
and verification process. In FY2022/2023, the turnover rate of the Group
was 147%. Details on the turnover of employees of the Group can be
found in Table S4 in the Appendix.

Working hours and rest period

The Group’s policies standardising employees” working hours and rest
periods have been established in accordance with relevant laws and
regulations, including:

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {HrEE A LA
BN,

. Legal Protection of the Rights and Benefits of the Peasant Workers
(HENIRFEEZZ AR ) ; and

. Rules of the State Council on Working Hours of Workers and Staff

Members (EIF5FERATS B T TERFEIBIRE ).
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In addition to the statutory holidays, employees are also entitled to
additional leave benefits such as marriage leave, maternity leave and
bereavement leave.

Equal opportunities, diversity and anti-discrimination

The Group is committed to becoming an inclusive employer by
promoting anti-discrimination and equal opportunity for all, thereby
creating a fair, respectful and diverse working environment. The
internal equal opportunity policy applies to all business sectors
and covers all aspects related to training, promotion opportunities,
employment and dismissal. Decisions regarding these aspects are made
irrespective of the age, gender, marital status, pregnancy, family status,
race, national or ethnic origins, nationality, religion or other non-job
related factors of the employees.

The Group has a zero-tolerance policy towards any workplace
discrimination, harassment, or vilification. Employees are encouraged
to report any incidents of discrimination to the Human Resources
Department via the Group’s grievance mechanism.

Other benefits and welfare

The Group recognises that a comprehensive employee benefits
package can help retain talents and foster employee cohesion. To
make employees feel valued and motivated to perform their best, the
Group has established policies that provide corporate benefits, such
as subsidies for vocational education and medical services. A range of
activities including outings, sports matches and dinner gatherings have
also been organised by the Group.

During the year under review, no events were held due to the
social distancing rules under the pandemic prevention and control
requirements. Still, the Group continued to stay connected with its staff
through WeChat and internal mails to care for their mental health amid
the difficult times.

In FY2022/2023, the Group abided by the relevant laws and regulations
in relation to compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion,
working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti—
discrimination, welfare and other benefits that have a significant
impact on the Group.
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B.2.

Health and safety

The Group has implemented a series of policies and practices in order
to maintain a safe working environment. In FY2022/2023, the Group
abided by relevant laws and regulations in its operating regions,
including but not limited to:

. Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Cap. 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong);

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction
Projects (J£3& T2 Z 2 BIREMG);

. Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance { T2 R 1&H) ;

. Production Safety Law of the People’s Republic of China {71 ZE A
RENBEZE2EEE);

. Occupational Disease Prevention Law in the People’s Republic of

China {FREE AR XM IR R %); and

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on the Protection of Rights
and Interests of Women (P ZE A B HMEF L m REE).

In light of the Group’s business nature, it is crucial to establish a
pervasive health and safety culture and a robust occupational health
and safety (“OHS”) management system to equip its staff with the
necessary skills and knowledge to work safely and respond effectively
to safety-related emergencies. In compliance with applicable laws and
regulations, the Group has implemented a series of risk identification
and management procedures such as the OHS Management System,
which are overseen by internal task forces, and are then executed by
the relevant departments of each business unit.

For example, the Social Security Management Centre is responsible
for identifying hazards and risks in the working area, investigating
and reporting any accidents to local authorities, and proposing
countermeasures when hazards are identified. The Safety Quality
Department is tasked with monitoring the classification of occupational
hazards, identifying their source, evaluating their impact and
implementing effective preventive measures. The Project Management
Department conducts regular tests on the hazardous materials or
components and optimises the production process accordingly.
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The Group has a long-standing commitment to minimising and
eliminating its employees™ exposure to potential OHS risks, with the
goal of maintaining zero fatalities and zero life-threatening or life-
altering injuries and illnesses. As such, the Group provides OHS training
to employees before they start work and prepares appropriate personal
protective equipment (‘PPE”) in working areas. Moreover, designated
employees are required to perform regular checks and keep records
of the execution of health and safety-related rules on-site in order to
ensure internal policies are fully implemented. First-aid boxes are well-
stocked and unlocked first-aid boxes in every working area and all
emergency exits in the workplace are unblocked.

Meanwhile, to increase employees’ awareness of workplace hazards,
relevant material is regularly publicised in group chats and bulletin
boards. Safety drills are conducted to ensure that all personnel are
well-prepared and capable of handling such situations in case of
emergencies. The Group has taken specific measures to address worker’s
health and safety issues, including but not limited to:

. Performing emergency response drills, fire drills and safety
inspections;

. Forbidding smoking and drinking liquor in the workplace;

. Providing counselling for stress release; and

. Organising yearly health and safety training.

Furthermore, the Human Resources Department arranges physical
examinations for all employees on a yearly basis and all canteen
workers are required to hold a health certificate before starting work.

The Group recorded zero work-related fatalities in the past three years
(including FY2022/2023), while there were zero work-related injuries
and zero lost days due to work-related injuries during the year under

review.
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B.3.

Response to the pandemic

Following the loosening of restrictive measures, the Group relaxed its
pandemic prevention and control measures. Still, it is committed to
prioritising the safety of its employees through implementing various
measures, such as reminding employees to maintain personal hygiene
and promoting good ventilation in all workplaces.

During the pandemic which masks became a necessity, both the sales
of contact lenses and the repurchase rate increased for more than 30%.
As such, the Group’s contact lens business is now paying more attention
to the product quality and brand cultivation, thus actively contacting
with various e-commerce platforms and brands for collaboration
opportunities.

Development and training

Employee development is a critical driver of the Group’s long-
term success. The Group recognises that training is instrumental in
enhancing its integrated competitiveness and reputation, as well as
improving employees’ working capacity and professional skills. To this
end, the Group has established Educational Training Control Measures
FHBE I ITE5F2F) to guide the arrangement of training courses
that best suited to its staff.

The Group offers induction training to newly hired staff to provide
them with a better understanding of the corporate history and culture,
the Group’s internal policies and its business development. Meanwhile,
the Group designs relevant training programmes based on the roles
and positions of experienced staff. For example, the Group organised
training courses for its directors on topics such as internal control, risk
control management and regulatory updates. Leveraging the online
video learning platform, the Group holds sharing conferences for
different departments on a regular basis to foster a continuous learning
culture that strengthens employees’ professional knowledge and
benefits the Group.

Moreover, the Group supports its employees in participating in
professional courses to equip them with the skills they need to thrive,
thus enhancing their competitiveness and expanding their capacity
through continuous learning. The Group provides financial assistance
to qualified staff to attend external seminars, programs, or courses
that directly and substantially increase their knowledge and skill
corresponding to their present job duties.
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B.4.

In FY2022/2023, 460 employees of the Group received training with
a total time of over 1,500 hours. Details of the number of employees
trained and average training hours are presented in Table S5 and Table
S6 in the Appendix.

Labour standard

In FY2022/2023, the Group strictly abided by relevant laws and
regulations in its operating regions related to prohibit child and forced
labour employment, including but not limited to:

. Employment Ordinance (Cap. 57 of the Laws of Hong Kong);

. Labour Law of the People’s Republic of China {FZE A R+EAN
E% %) ; and

. Provisions on the Prohibition of Using Child Labour {Z£1Ef# A
ETIRED.

In addition, the Group has formulated internal policies such as “The
Prohibition of Child Labour Policy and Remedial Procedures” in
line with the requirements of the SA8000 Standard. Committed to
combating illegal employment of child labour, underage workers and
forced labour, the Group’s Human Resources Department conducts
background checks and document verification of candidates before
confirming their employment. The Human Resources Department also
monitors, updates and promotes compliance with corporate policies
in accordance with relevant laws and regulations that prohibit child
labour and forced labour, thus is responsible for reporting employment
information to the relevant government department every 6 months.

If the Group identifies any violations of labour standards, the
employment contract will be immediately terminated and the
responsible staff for the employment procedures may be subject to
disciplinary actions deemed necessary by the management.

In FY2022/2023, the Group was not in violation of relevant laws and

regulations that have a significant impact on the Group relating to
preventing child and forced labour.
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OPERATING PRACTICES HEEN
B.5. Supply chain management . HEESEEIR

Committed to eliminating environmental and social risks along its value
chain, the Group strives to build a comprehensive supply chain management
system which incorporates ESG-related elements, so as to maintain a
sustainable, resilient and reliable supply chain. All subsidiaries of the Group
are expected to monitor the quality of engaged suppliers and supplied goods
on a regular basis.

Supplier Engagement and Risk Management

The Group has established a specific department and team to oversee the
procurement of construction materials, which are responsible for identifying
eligible suppliers/contractors through public tendering and strategic
cooperation. To maintain good relationships with its suppliers/contractors,
the Group is committed to holding engagement meetings and communicating
frequently using WeChat and email. These channels act as the platform for the
Group discussing green building materials, eco-friendly practices and analysis
of the latest government policies with its suppliers.

Moreover, the Group performs due diligence before selecting and engaging
any potential suppliers to minimise environmental and social risks along
its value chain. The Group has implemented a Supplier Evaluation System
and conducts Graded Evaluation on its suppliers. On-site inspections,
supplier audits and in-field verifications are performed on a yearly basis to
ensure that its suppliers can deliver on their commitments to responsible
practices. In cases where risks such as labour rights violations or non-
compliance with environmental laws are identified, the Group takes action
to ensure that it does not collaborate with such suppliers and prohibits them
from participating in the next bidding. For selected suppliers, the Group
requires them to provide relevant qualifications and certificates that can
prove their strong competency to meet the technical requirements and a
qualified manufacturing environment, have a good track record and fulfil
environmental and social responsibilities.

The Group selects suppliers based on their bidding rating, industry
recommendations and market reputation. As part of the supplier selection
process, the Group conducts on-site inspections of completed projects by
prospective suppliers to evaluate their technological capability. Qualified
suppliers will be included in the “List of qualified suppliers” and are subject to
annual qualification inspections performed by the Quality Control Department
of the Group. Once the eligible tender is selected, the relevant department
work closely with the selected suppliers to execute development plans and
oversee the quality and progress of each project’s completion.
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Suppliers are subject to the Group’s ongoing quality control procedures, which
includes the test on the quality of supplied materials, at different stages of
the construction process. For instance, suppliers/contractors are required to
obtain acceptance from the Electric Power Supply Bureau as an evaluation
of the standard in power supply and acceptance from the Institute of Quality
Inspection and Construction Bureau as an evaluation of the standard in
construction projects.

To ensure a sound and stable partnership with its suppliers, the Group signs
Quality Agreements (B 21#%%) and Long-term Strategic Cooperation (&7
BB 5 1E) with its core suppliers. These agreements enable a stable supply
and quality of supplied goods/services. All incoming materials are subject to
strict inspection as required by the Group’s Quality Assurance System (SR Ee
7).

Green Procurement

Striving to minimise its environmental footprints along the supply chain,
the Group prioritises the engagement with suppliers whose supplied goods/
services or production process are characterised by environmentally friendly
elements. The Group is currently planning to gradually shift towards local
procurement of tools, fixtures, raw materials, packaging materials and
chemicals, so as to promote responsible sourcing throughout its value chain.

In FY2022/2023, the Group collaborated with a total of 98 suppliers, which 86
of them are located in Mainland China and 12 are located in other overseas
locations. The Group’s supplier engagement and management policies applied
to 69% of its key suppliers and its green procurement policies applied to 31%
of its key suppliers. Both sets of policies are implemented by the procurement
team and monitored by the corresponding business unit.
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B.6. Product responsibility B.6. EmEIE

Quality Assurance and Recalling Procedures

The Group has implemented various quality assurance processes across
its different business segments in order to meet the needs of customers
and deliver high-quality products. These processes are designed to ensure
the quality of the products and services delivered by the Group are up-to-
standard, while any non-conforming products can be promptly recalled so as
to protect customers’ rights.

International Business Settlement & Financing Business

The Group has implemented multiple measures to monitor the information
security, response quality and system stability. Dedicated operation teams
conduct rigorous assessments to identify and address any areas that may be
vulnerable or pose a threat to the system’s safe operation. Regular meetings
are held to promptly identify and resolve any issues that arise during service
delivery.

Property Development Business
As a property developer, the Group has strictly abided by the relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to:

. Law of the People’s Republic of China on Road Traffic Safety {F7ZE A
RHMEERIBLRE);

. Construction Law of the People’s Republic of China {FZEE A R HFE
BEL);

. Administrative Regulations on the Work Safety of Construction Projects

(BRIEBEZ2EEESERAG); and

. Regulations on the Quality Management of Construction Projects {#£z&
TITRESEEKRAG).
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The Group places a strong emphasis on product quality and has established
specific targets for its property development projects. Technical standards
and construction plans are formulated at the preliminary stage of each
project, with reference to the I1SO 9001:2015 Quality Management Systems.
The Operation Department conducts regular checks to ensure that the
construction progress adheres to the project plan and will take action to
adjust the plan immediately if any material deviation is identified. The
Engineering Department is responsible for other quality assurance-related
issues by carrying out regular evaluations on the property quality during all
stages of projects. Relevant government agencies are also engaged throughout
the construction process to ensure that the final products meet all applicable
requirements.

The professional team of the property development business is responsible
for safety management throughout the entire construction process. A
reporting mechanism and contingency plan are in place for any public
emergency that may arise at the construction site, ensuring an efficient and
timely safety incident reporting system. Project managers and professional
engineers regularly inspect and appraise the quality of contractors’ work,
thus monitoring the safety and quality of the Group’s properties at all stages
of construction to ensure that they meet the high standards and stringent
requirements.

After completion, the Engineering Department conducts quality assurance
acceptance of all construction projects before delivering the properties to the
customers. Qualified property companies are entrusted to periodically inspect
the quality of the properties after delivery, while third-party maintenance
companies are responsible for the regular maintenance of property facilities
such as elevators.

Contact Lens Business

The Group’s contact lens business is committed to upholding its Quality Policy
(B &7 %) of “Service with quality; Win together; Products with care” ({&
GRS R E T~ BEFEET) . This business constantly strives to meet
customers’ expectations and regulatory requirements. From order review and
management planning to production, inspection and delivery, all employees
work in accordance with established work specifications to ensure ongoing
quality improvement and the provision of competitive and premium products

and services.
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To ensure compliance with relevant regulations and maintain product quality,
the Group adheres to Good Manufacturing Practices (GMP) and 1SO 13485:
2016 (Medical devices — Quality management systems — Requirements for
regulatory purposes). In March 2020, the Group was granted a domestic
Medical Equipment Sales Permit, and in FY2021/2022, it obtained three types
of Medical Device Registration for soft contact lenses and a Medical Device
Production Permit. A comprehensive quality management system has been
established in accordance with relevant laws, regulations and standards,
which were outlined in its internal policies “PQA001 Quality Manual”,
“PQA005-B Quality Control System”, “PQA007-D Product Inspection Control
System”, etc. If any products fail to meet relevant standards, an Advisory
Notice (B 14 38%0) will be announced and the product will be recalled in
accordance with the Product Recall Control (Z [B1#=%#2 ) . During the year
under review, the Group did not have any products recalled for safety and
health reasons.

Promotion and Advertising

The Group has established an internal guideline to ensure that its Marketing
Department adheres to relevant laws and regulations in relation to marketing
and advertising, such as the Advertising Law of the People’s Republic of
China {FEAREHMEESL); The Marketing Department also
provides accurate information about its products and services to customers.
Any misrepresentation or exaggeration of offerings in the Group is strictly
prohibited.

The legal counsel of the Group is responsible for reviewing the sales and
marketing materials before they are released to the public in order to ensure
compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Additionally, the legal counsel
provides legal advice for the protection of the Group’s intellectual property
rights.

Customer Satisfaction and Complaint Handling

To enhance customer experience and maintain a high level of satisfaction, the
Group has established an after-sales services department within its property
development business. The department is responsible for collecting feedback
from customers and responding to inquiries received during satisfaction
surveys. By engaging in efficient dialogue and mutual understanding with
its clients, the Group is dedicated to continuously improving its business
performance and delivering top-notch services and products.
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In addition, the Group places great importance on addressing any concerns
raised by its customers and conducts customer satisfaction surveys on a
regular basis. An effective complaint-solving mechanism has been established
to minimise the risk of disrupting customers’ operations. Upon receiving any
complaint, the Group promptly identifies and addresses any faults to ensure a
timely resolution. During the year under review, the Group did not receive any
substantial complaints regarding its products and services.

Data Security and Customer Privacy

The Group places a high priority on privacy protection and has established a
strategy to safeguard the interests of all customers by appropriately collecting,
using, and storing personal and sensitive information in accordance with legal
requirements, regulations and contractual obligations. The Group complies
with the Personal Information Protection Law of the People’s Republic of
China (FRZE A RHEMEE A S ERE/E)and Personal Data (Privacy)
Ordinance (Cap. 486 of the Laws of Hong Kong), thus ensuring that sensitive
information collected from customers is only used for the purpose for which
it was collected. Employees who have access to this information are required
not to disclose customer contact information to any third parties without prior
consent. To enhance data security, all collected data is treated as confidential
and stored in an encrypted database to prevent unauthorised access,
collection, leakage, hacking, abuse or misuse of personal information.

Meanwhile, the Group has introduced a software named TIPTOP ERP in the
contact lens business to lower the risk of business information and customer
data leakage. This software helps the Group meets operational demands for
its re-export business and enhances the enterprise firewall and office network
security.

During the year under review, the aforementioned policies and measures were
effectively implemented and monitored by the designated departments, thus
the Group did not receive any substantial complaints regarding the breaches
of privacy laws and data leakage.

Intellectual Property Rights

The Group places great emphasis on protecting its intellectual property rights
and requires its employees to maintain the confidentiality of trade secrets and
other proprietary intellectual property rights. In addition, the Group actively
applies for trademarks for any new innovations developed in-house in order
to safeguard its products and services from infringement. In FY2022/2023, the
Group’s contact lens business has obtained 15 utility model patents, and is
currently planning to submit 8 more applications on utility model patents in
coming years.
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B.7.

Product Labelling

The Group’s contact lens business abides by the internal policies and
procedures, such as “PQA008-D Product Identification and Traceability Control
System” and “PRA006-B Product Labelling and Language Control System”,
to ensure that the product labels did not violate any relevant laws and
regulations.

In FY2022/2023, the Group complied with relevant laws and regulations
that have a significant impact on the Group relating to health and safety,
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products and services
provided and methods of redress.

Anti-corruption

Maintaining a strong culture which has incorporated compliance into daily
operations and business principles has always been the Group’s commitment.
During the year under review, the Group abided by the relevant laws and
regulations, including but not limited to:

. Anti-Corruption Law of the People’s Republic of China {1 EE A B 40
Bl B RUED;

«  Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China {F7ZE A
RHEME R %L ; and

. Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Cap. 201 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group places a high value on honesty and integrity among its employees
and strictly enforces its code of conduct through the Human Resources
Department to ensure adherence to high ethical standards as outlined in the
Group’s Anti-Corruption Policy and the Employee Handbook. The Group has
zero tolerance on any form of corruption, suspected impropriety, misconduct
or malpractice within the Group. The Human Resources Department is
responsible for monitoring the behaviour of all employees, who are expected
to conduct business activities with integrity and self-discipline, and to refrain
from engaging in misbehaviours such as bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering activities or any actions that may compromise their independence
or conflict with the Group’s interests.

In official functions, if employees are offered gifts or souvenirs, they are
required to report the offer to the Company and seek direction on handling
the offer from the Head of Human Resources by filling the “Report on Gifts/
Advantages Received” form.
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To extend its anti-corruption efforts throughout its supply chain, the Group
requires procurement personnel to sign and comply with the Integrity
Responsibility Letter (B&;2E1EZ). The Group also employs a monitoring
system to oversee the entire procurement process, which includes reports and
external audits for review.

The Group’s Whistleblowing Policy serves as an effective mechanism for
addressing any irregularities or wrongdoings, while also ensuring that
whistleblowers are protected from fears of reprisals or inappropriate
reactions. Employees can report their concerns to their respective Head
of Division/Department, while external stakeholders involved in the
procurement process can contact the Chairman of the Audit Committee
via mail or email at the Group’s designated addresses for whistleblowers.
The Audit Committee will conduct a timely and confidential investigation
upon receiving a report. If criminality is suspected, a report will be made
to the relevant regulators or law enforcement authorities when the Group’s
management deems necessary. Under effective implementation and
monitoring of the preventive measures and whistleblowing procedures by
the Audit Committee, there was zero concluded legal case regarding corrupt
practices brought against the Group or its employees during the year under

review.

In FY2022/2023, the Group did not organise any external anti-corruption
seminars or workshops for its employees. However, regular trainings
incorporating relevant knowledge were held throughout the year in order to
strengthen their awareness towards proper business ethics. During the year
under review, the Group was not in violation of any of the relevant laws and
regulations in relation to bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering that
have a significant impact on the Group.
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B8. (t&EKRE

COMMUNITY
B.8. Community investment

The Group recognises the significance of local communities in ensuring its
long-term success, and places great value on their stability and prosperity.
As such, the Group is committed to adhering to ethical practices, respecting
communities and the environment, thus creating value for all. This approach
is integral to the Group’s transparent and sustainable business growth.

During the year under review, the Group actively cooperated with the
community and subdistrict offices to promote local development. Community
safety activities, such as fire drills, were held on a monthly basis. To continue
its operations in the communities it is stationed at, the Group will continue
to assist in flourishing local communities and maintaining its social licenses.
Looking forward, aiming to strengthen its relationship with the communities,
the Group plans to collaborate with local communities to foster their growth
through initiatives such as local procurement, employment, and community
investment.
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Table E1. The Group’s Total Emissions by Category in
FY2022/2023 and FY2021/2022

Emission Category

23 €Yl

Air Emissions

R

GHG Emissions’

BEREHRC

Non-hazardous Waste

BEEY

Hazardous Waste

BEBREY

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

Key Performance
Indicator (KPI)

RBEAMIER

SOx
iE=Rlvn?)
NOx
ety
PM
BRI

Scope 1 (Direct Emissions)*

HE— (B
Scope 2 (Energy Indirect
Emissions)®

#EZ (FeRBEE
Scope 3 (Other Indirect
Emissions)®

#HE= (EMEZHR °
Total (Scope 1,2 & 3)
st (BE— k=)
Domestic and Commercial
Solid Waste
LENEEEREY
Construction Waste
EEEY)

Domestic and Commercial
Wastewater’

LB RN
Construction Wastewater
EREEEK

Wastewater

[BE 7K

Unit

B

Kg
T
Kg
T
Kg
T

Tonnes of COe
SR EE
Tonnes of COze

1 = o
Tonnes of COe
M_SERES
Tonnes of COe
SR EE

Tonnes

it
Tonnes
i

m3

AR
m3
IAHK
m3
AR

. PiyER
ROAEER_-_SZZ “T=§
FRIEZ— /"B _IHFERER
2R HERE
Intensity’ Intensity?
(Unit/HK$ (Unit/HK$
Amount in million) in Amount in million) in
FY2022/2023  FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022>  FY2021/2022
RZI8ZZ RZg=Z—/
—E-= —E_C
R-E=Z/ E?IEE’J%F” AZEZ—/ ﬁ?IEB'JﬁF‘Z
—EC= (B, —E-C (Efi,/
MENEE BEBT) MENYE BEBT)
0.3 3.29x10* 0.7 2.14x103
12.2 0.01 36.8 0.12
0.9 1.04x10° 2.7 8.91x10°
33 0.04 178 0.58
3,823 442 443 1.46
41 0.05 34 0.11
3,897 4.50 654 2.15
55 0.06 61 0.20
= = 10 0.03
9,000 10.40 34,659 113.85
500 0.58 - -
5,600 6.47 9,000 29.56



Intensity for FY2022/2023 was calculated by dividing the amount of air, GHG and
other emissions respectively by the Group’s revenue of approximately HK$865.70
million in FY2022/2023;

The amount and intensity in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the data in the
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2021/2022;

The methodology adopted for reporting on GHG emissions set out above was
based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report - Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange, The GHG Protocol Corporate
Accounting and Reporting Standard and the 2006 IPCC (Intergovernmental Panel
on Climate Change) Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories;

The Group’s Scope 1 (Direct Emissions) included only the consumption of
gasoline and diesel in motor vehicles, stationary combustion of gasoline in
factories and the GHG removed by the 580 trees planted;

The Group’s Scope 2 (Energy Indirect Emissions) included only electricity
consumption;

The Group’s Scope 3 (Other Indirect Emissions) included other indirect emissions
from paper waste disposed at landfills, electricity used for processing fresh water
and sewage by government departments, as well as business air travel; and

The total amount of domestic and commercial wastewater generated by the
Group was primarily based on the direct measurement provided by the Group’s
subsidiaries.
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Table E2. Total Resource Consumption in FY2022/2023 and

RE2-E—-—

—E_CHMERZE

FY2021/2022 ——/ZE__HMEERERAESE
Intensity’ Intensity?
(Unit/HK$ (Unit/HK$
Key Performance Amount in million) in Amount in million) in
Use of Resources Indicator (KPI) Unit FY2022/2023  FY2022/2023 FY2021/2022>  FY2021/2022
AZEZC n-—g=-—/
—EZ= —E_C
RIBEZZ )/ HMENEE WIEZ—/ HENEE
ZTCZ= (B, —g-C (B,
BREA FARERIEE B (i MENHE HEAT) MHENEE BEAT)
Energy Electricity 000" kWh 6,580 7.60 725 238
RETR B/ TET ELEs
Gasoline L 19,128 22.10 44,000 144.54
b F
Diesel L 254 0.29 226 0.74
Lo F
TOTAL® 000" kWh 6,768 7.82 1,154.3 379
s TET ELEs
Water Water m? 77,994 90.09 35,964 118.14
7K K RPN
Paper Paper Kg 850 0.98 1,254 412
R R T
Raw materials Paper Tonnes - - 0.6 0.01
[RATRE R Ui
Steel Tonnes - - 1,350 443
1 i
Concrete Tonnes - - 650 2.14
KR it
Gravel Tonnes - - 3,500 11.50
yal i
Packaging materials Plastic Tonnes 1 116 x10° 2 6.57 x 10°
BEE M 28} U
1. Intensity for FY2022/2023 was calculated by dividing the amount of resources 1. BB CHENBERBE A
that the Group consumed in FY2022/2023 by the Group's revenue of ERR - /"B ZHEHEN
approximately HK$865.70 million in FY2022/2023; BERERUAEEE S /T =
B EERIUR A £9865.70 8 B3 B TS H 5
2. The amount and intensity in FY2021/2022 were extracted from the data in the 2. TEC— /BT CHENYEREERE
ESG report set out in the Company’s ESG report for FY2021/2022; and HEEAABD B — T HENER
R HEREAREMARIE - HERESR
WEEE, &
3. The total energy was calculated based on the conversion factors as stated 3. TR AR 2 TH IR $R B 22 B T 82 B9 (U0 Al 4 B

in the “How to Prepare an ESG Report — Appendix 2: Reporting Guidance on

Environmental KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange.
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Table $3. Number of Employees by Age Group, Gender, RSBEFN TS “E"_=8
Employment Type, Position Type, Geographical Locations of The FiRFERAR 4R EEEED IS
Group in FY2022/2023" a5 - HIBMU B SNE T AR
Unit: Number of employees Age Group
B BTA¥ FH4ER
Aged Aged
Aged 30  between  between  Aged 51
Gender or below 31and 40 41and50 orabove Total
305% NE “E 515%
aall AT 40%% 505 S E “ast
Male 44 53 16 13 126
B
Female 35 34 11 4 84
2z
Total 79 87 27 17 210
st
Employment Type
%8R!
Full time 208
2
Part time 2
i3

Position Level

B AR A

General staff 165
—fRB8T

Middle-level managers 27
PARERE

Senior management and directors 18

SREEERES

Annual Report 2022/2023 R 97



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

IRIR « (1B R ERERS

98

Geographical Location

IR E

Mainland China 196
A [ P 3t

Hong Kong 14
58

Total 210
st

1. The employment data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human BIHERREAEERES T 2 BT

Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. The data covered employees engaged in a
direct employment relationship with the Group according to relevant local laws
and workers whose work and/or workplace was controlled by the Group within
the reporting scope, only including the employment data from its operating
regions including Hong Kong, Beijing, Liuzhou and Fujian. The methodology
adopted for reporting on employment data set out above was based on “How to
Prepare an ESG Report - Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs” issued
by the Stock Exchange.
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Table S4. Employee Turnover Rate by Age Group, Gender and

Geographical Locations in FY2022/2023"2

Ro4. “BZ TR SHERER
850 MBI R IR BRI 0R TRk
tsgr2

Unit: Number of employees Age group
B BTAH FH4ER
Aged Aged  Aged 51
Aged 30 or between  between or
Gender below 31and40 41 and 50 above Total
305% NE ZNES 515%
PRl FLLF 405% 50p% BRI E K5t
Male 108 60 22 4 194
B4
Employee turnover rate 245.5% 113.2% 137.5% 30.8% 154.0%
= WP N
Female 76 26 9 4 115
2z
Employee turnover rate 217.1% 76.5% 81.8% 100.0% 136.9%
BT mALEE
Total 184 86 31 8 309
wast
Total employee turnover rate 232.9% 98.9% 114.8% 47.1% 147.1%
BB TomkE®E

Geographical locations

I E

Locations

Uk

Employee Employee
turnover turnover rate

EIiﬁ%Ag EI/MLgEtt$

Mainland China
FRE Ay i
Hong Kong
EE

1.

The turnover data in headcount was obtained from the Group’s Human
Resources Department based on the employment contracts entered into
between the Group and its employees. Turnover rate was calculated by dividing
the number of employees who resigned in FY2022/2023 by the number of
employees in FY2022/2023. The above data includes the operations of the
Group within the reporting scope, only including the employment data from
its operating regions including Hong Kong, Beijing, Liuzhou and Fujian. The
methodology adopted for reporting on turnover data set out above was based on
“How to Prepare an ESG Report - Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange.

Turnover rate may exceed 100% when the number of employees who resigned
in FY2022/2023 is greater than the number of employees as of the end of
FY2022/2023.

308 157.1%

1 7.1%
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Table S5. Number and Percentage of Employees Trained in the
Group by Gender and Position Type in FY2022/2023"

S5,

—E-C B =HEALE

BB R RN E SRR SIS

TABRBSLE?
Total number of employees trained 460
EBESIENIETEH
Total number of employees in FY2022/2023 210
B/ EB_=HMEFBTHEHY
% of employees trained? 219.0%
BEZBIEeETIa St
Unit:Number of employees Position Type
Bl BTAH gz bl
Senior
General  Middle-level  management
Gender staff managers  and directors Total
SREERE
151 —HRET FHREEE RES 4Bt
Male 243 28 6 277
B
Percentage of employees trained 52.8% 6.1% 1.3% 60.2%
BRBIEIENT
Female 175 7 1 183
g3
Percentage of employees trained 38.0% 1.5% 0.2% 39.8%
BYEIETENT
Total 418 35 7
st
Percentage of employees trained 90.9% 7.6% 1.5%

¥RENETEDE

1. The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources
Department. Training refers to the vocational training that the Group’s
employees attended in FY2022/2023. The methodology adopted for reporting on
the number and percentage of employees trained set out above was based on
“How to Prepare an ESG Report - Appendix 3: Reporting Guidance on Social KPIs”
issued by the Stock Exchange;

2. The training data only includes the data from its operating regions including
Beijing and Fujian; and

3. Since the training data includes also the staff who left the Group during the year,

the percentage of employees trained in FY2022/2023 exceed 100%.
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Table S6. Training Hours Received by the Employees of the Group
by Gender and Position Type in FY2022/2023"2

7<S6.

eI TR CMEFER

P Bl e Bk 755 48 R 81 0 B = Bl BRF 252

Unit: Training Hours Position Type
B IR BT EER
Senior

Gender

il

Male

Bt

Average training hours
TR
Female

pegid

Average training hours
TIgEEEI R 2L
Total

st

Average training hours

TR &

General staff

75

556

79

1,268

7.7

Middle-level ~ management

managers  and directors Total
BREEE

HREERE KRES st

122 71 905

72 5.1 72

74 4 634

74 1.0 75

196 75 1,539

73 42 73

1. The training information was obtained from the Group’s Human Resources
Department. The methodology adopted for reporting training hours set out
above was based on “How to Prepare an ESG Report - Appendix 3: Reporting
Guidance on Social KPIs” issued by the Stock Exchange; and

2. The training data only includes the data from its operating regions including
Beijing and Fujian.

BB ERNANERSERS £
X#E B TR HAT AN A ER
BT MHN(MAREIRR - HERER
RE-WiR=  HEHRERSRERE
5005 &

BllgREaEEEEME (BFEIIRK
BE) NBUE-
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VIIl. REPORT DISCLOSURE INDEX VL. 3RS RERSI
Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
fEm ESGIEAR 1R At BR
A. Environmental 1IR3
A1: Emissions General Disclosure Information on: 61
Al HERY —RE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to air and greenhouse gas emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.
TEFER
@ R K
) BEBFHETABEAZENMERZERRG REERAERKX
RERBIER MK IHNEES - EERBEEEYNESS
&K o
Note: Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under
national laws and regulations.
2 BEREINEEaa Y REaEtYEREMZREZOERERES
PSS
Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide,
hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur hexafluoride.
RERBEEZS/EK - BFh-—8tZa - amikity- 26
A7 @A
Hazardous wastes are those defined by national regulations.
BEEEYIEHBERBMRAEMAEZBSEY
KPI'A1.1 The types of emissions and respective emissions data. 94
BEm A T8 B 4B RAHE I Bt o
KPI'A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas emissions (in 94
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,
per facility).
B @E-) REREE @ED) A=gBENE CUESE) & W
BER BE MUSESEM §ERME) o
KPI'A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 94
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FRESAEREEY®EE UMt E) kK WER) ZE WS ESE M-
ERMETE) ©
KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where appropriate, 94

intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per facility).
FREEREEREYMAEE CIEE) R QIER) BE IS ES B
FIERMETE) ©
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Aspects ESG Indicators
fEm ESGIEZ

Description

1t

Page
BR

KPI'A1.5

KPI'A1.6

A2: Use of Resources  General Disclosure

A2 I ERER — R B

KPI'A2.1

KPI'A2.2

KPI'A2.3

KPI'A2.4

KPI'A2.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HIPRET L AV BEN E B IR R E % E B AR PR EREN B B o

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are handled, and a
description of reduction target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.
HREEEERBEEREYNG L REMPITUINREB R R RE
B ZE B ERPTERER 2 B o

Policies on the efficient use of resources, including energy, water and other raw

materials.

BXERER (B1EFER  KREMRME) AIEE

Note: Resources may be used in production, in storage, transportation, in
buildings, electronic equipment, etc.

2 BRUARLEE-#HE -EG- -BF - EFxEF-

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil)

in total (kwWh in '000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per

facility).

RSN BERRSEEER (B molih EFEE UUTET

BFEEE) RBE MUSESEM  BERFHEH) °

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume,

per facility).

BFEKERERE WUSESEN SEREE) °

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve

them.

I PRET L MVBE R E AN e B R R A E R ZE B RPTRE & B o

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that is fit for

purpose, water efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to achieve them.

HEt SR EGE A ACR Rl BRI R MR U ARk E B R R

ZERZE BIRFTERELRY P BR o

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes) and, if

applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

HpmPTAEEMENEE B k WER) SEEBMUGE-
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
A3: The Environment  General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s significant impacts on the environment and 72
and Natural Resources natural resources.
A3 IRIBERRAER —RIEE BEBTABIRERRAE RSN EATEEES -
KPI' A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of activities on the environment and 73
natural resources and the actions taken to manage them.
HLEHHIRRERRABE RNEAXERERNEEBRTZENTT
& o
A4: Climate Change General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of significant climate-related issues 74
A4 RIREE —RRINEE which have impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer.
HH RSB RIEEHETAELERENEAREERBEEN
B o
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related issues which have impacted, and 75-76
those which may impact, the issuer, and the actions taken to manage them.
BB EEHETAEERENEAREERAEE  REEBZ
ER BRI TH)
B. Social 1 &
Employment and Labour Practices {E{E K& % T &R
B1: Employment General Disclosure Information on: 76
B1: {B1& — R R @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to compensation and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity,
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare.
RS
@ BE; &
b) BFHETABEAZENERZERRG ABEMEFNE
REBREEREA LN RA-TERE S0 REKR
Uk EMAEFEREFNER -
KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full- or part-time), 97
age group and geographical region.
R EEEE QN2 B - FicMER RE S DI IESEH -
KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical region. 99

104
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Aspects
B

ESG Indicators
ESGIS1Z

Description
L

Page
BR

B2: Health and Safety

B2 REKRZE

B3: Development and

Training

B3 : & @ K iEdl

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

KPI B2.1

KPI B2.2

KPI B2.3

General Disclosure

—RRIREE

KPI B3.1

KPI B3.2

Information on:

(@)  the policies; and

(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to providing a safe working environment
and protecting employees from occupational hazards.

TEFER

@ HE;K

by BFHETABEAZENERZEEIR NEFRHEHEZ2
TRRIERREREREHEHELBENELR

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of the past three

years including the reporting year.

BE=F (BREREFE) SEFRTITHAABRIEEX.

Lost days due to work injury.

EITHEEEAITFEHC

Description of occupational health and safety measures adopted, and how they

are implemented and monitored.

AP ERMBVRE R R L 2 URAERRITARERS -

Policies on improving employees” knowledge and skills for discharging duties at

work. Description of training activities.

BRI EB BT TIEM BN # R AR EUR o Mg as) o

Note: Training refers to vocational training. It may include internal and
external courses paid by the employer.

5t IBIEREEID e EREE N ERRIMERERIZ

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee category (e.g.

senior management, middle management).

BMRKEESER WSREERE -PREERE B 0NRIEER D

tbo

The average training hours completed per employee by gender and employee

category.

BRI R EE RS D SR EE TSI TR -
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
B4: Labour Standards  General Disclosure Information on: 84
B4 : 5 T ZA —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to preventing child and forced labour.
HERERY :
@ BE; &
) BFHETAFBEAXENEREIRERRG AEHRPLE
TRaHs TER .
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to avoid child and 84
forced labour.
R TR B H A LU R E T Kaaflss T e
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when discovered. 84
T B IRER BN R HERA BB U P ERERRY 25 BR
Operating Practices 2 15
B5: Supply Chain General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and social risks of the supply chain. 85
Management
B5 . fHIESEEIR —RIRE ERMHERENIRRE R ERRBR
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. 86
s o HEREEmEE -
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 85-86
where the practices are being implemented, and how they are implemented
and monitored.
g RS A EEAIES > MERNTEREANNHERME Uk
MR TREER G %
KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social risks along 85-86
the supply chain, and how they are implemented and monitored.
A BB R RS EIRENIRIE R S RENVIEH) LU IERT
TREZRFE-
KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally preferable products 86

106

and services when selecting suppliers, and how they are implemented and
monitored.

BRI R E S AIRRERKRARFERVIES)  LURERE#HIT
R BB 7% o
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BE ESGHS 1R 1t BR
B6: Product General Disclosure Information on: 87
Responsibility — R R @  the policies; and
B6 : EmET (b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to health and safety, advertising, labelling
and privacy matters relating to products and services provided and
methods of redress.
GENi =
@ BE;K
b) BFHETABEAZENEMZERRG ABEBTIRME
EmRBENEEREZE - EBS - RERLEETURBH
BB o
KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls for safety and 89
health reasons.
BERREXEREHPRLZ 2 HREREAMEBRKNE Db
KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related complaints received and how they are 89-90
dealt with.
R RAN E R ARV SR 8B LU IR 75 0% ©
KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing and protecting intellectual 90
property rights.
3t B A B e ARPE R 8 AE A RARY B B o
KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures. 87-89
HiLE ST BERERLBIKRERF -
KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies, and how they are 90

implemented and monitored.

EIUHEEERMRERLRER WA TRER G A
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Aspects ESG Indicators Description Page
BmE ESGHS 1R 1Rt BR
B7: Anti-corruption General Disclosure Information on: 91
B7 . RES —RRINEE @  the policies; and
(b)  compliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a significant
impact on the issuer relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and money
laundering.
TEFER
@ HE;K
b) BFHETABEAZENERZERRG RB BRI
BB BRI BEBIER
KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against 92
the issuer or its employees during the reporting period and the outcomes of the
cases.
RBEARHETANEESERETEBEENE SHAZRGNHE
e EfFahfE R o
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing procedures, and how 91-92
they are implemented and monitored.
ML S R R U R T RER A £
KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and staff. 92
HitmEERETIRHENRESE
Community 1t &
B8: Community General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to understand the needs of the 93
Investment — R R communities where the issuer operates and to ensure its activities take into
BS : (&I E consideration the communities” interests.
BERUHEZERTRETAEEMTHERENRRELEEHEE
B & AR
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental concerns, labour 93
needs, health, culture, sport).
EISHERE WHE  RESE - FLIHER EE -XE-BH) °
KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area. 93

108
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The directors of the Company (the “Directors”) are pleased to present their report
and the audited consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to the consolidated financial statements.

A review of the business of the Group during the year ended 31 March 2023,
including an analysis of the Group’s performance during the year using financial key
performance indicators, a discussion of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of likely future developments in the Group’s business
are set out under the section headed “Management’s Statement” in this annual
report. This discussion forms part of this Directors’ Report.

The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of the operations
of the Group during the financial year are set out in note 7 to the consolidated
financial statements.

The Company’s environmental and social-related key performance indicators
and policies, a discussion on the compliance with relevant laws and regulations
which have a significant impact on the Company and the Company’s relationship
with its employees, suppliers and customers are provided in the section headed
“Environmental, Social and Governance Report” in this annual report.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023 and the Group’s affairs as
at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statement on pages 125 to 128.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of any dividend for the year ended 31
March 2023.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Details of movements in property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
year are set out in note 13 the consolidated financial statements.

FABESR (EF) MAREEE_ZT_=F=
A=+ HILFEZEFERTHARTZER
AR E M BT

EXE S YES ]
FAAA—EREERAT -HEIBEMBEAT
FEEBIE M B REM 00

FEERBE_T_=ZF=-A=+—HILFEZ
EHOE BEERVBRBRRRERONAE
BERAFEZRE) BRAEERETIZRAMKR
TEARAAI R 2 57 o ;e B B A S B 3£ 755 K 2R B) AE 34
Bz #NAFEREEBRS) —H o Ib5
MmN AESTERE 27

FEERMBFERNZEEEZBREEMRZ S
1 B R G M BRI EET ©

ARBZIRFERAGHEARRRIRIERREER
BERETHARBDRERTEZEBERERZ
S URERFRRAERE - HEBRER ZH
BEHNAFRNIRZ - HERERREI—H

FERD K
FEEBE_Z_=F=-RB=1+—HLEFEZ#¥
BhAEEHEZARZEHIHNF1255F128
BZEREMBRR

EETERABE_Z_=F=F=+—HLt
FEZEMRE -

(ERNEVY
BMEEEZNE BERRENEFEZEE
HERN R AR B REME3.
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PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE
Details of completed properties held for sale and properties under development for
sale of the Group are set out in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements.

BORROWINGS
Particular of borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2023 is set out in notes 23 and
24 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESERVES
Details of the movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out on
page 129 this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, the Company has no distributable reserves. However, if
necessary conditions for share premium reduction are met in accordance with
applicable laws and the bye-laws of the Company, the Company’s reserves available
for distribution will become approximately HK$693,006,000 (2022: HK$699,893,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Details of contingent liabilities of the Group are set out in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

FIVE YEARS FINANCIAL SUMMARY
A summary of the results and assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five
financial years is set out on page 228 of this annual report.
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DIRECTORS
The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this annual
report were as follows:

Executive Directors:
Yuen Leong
Chan Siu Tat

Non-executive Director:
Liu Yu

Independent non-executive Directors:
Yap Yung

Wong Kin Ping

Chen Lanran

Pursuant to Bye-law 84(1) of the Company, at each annual general meeting one-
third of the directors of the Company for the time being (or, if their number is not
a multiple of three, the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement
by rotation at least once in every three years. Accordingly, Ms. Chen Lanran and Mr.
Wong Kin Ping will retire by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company.

Biographical details of Directors are set out on pages 25 to 27 of this annual report.

DIRECTOR’S REMUNERATION

The remuneration of the Directors is determined with reference to the Director’s
duties, responsibilities, performance and the results of the Group. Details of the
remuneration of the Directors are set out in note 11(a) to the consolidated financial
statements.

DIRECTOR’S SERVICE CONTRACTS

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting
of the Company has an unexpired service contract which is not determinable
by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of its independent non-executive Directors, an
annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The
Company considered that all independent non-executive Directors are independent
in accordance with the guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTION, ARRANGEMENT OR
CONTRACTS

No transaction, arrangement or contract of significance to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a Director of the Company or
an entity connected with a Director had a material interest, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND DIRECTORS’ LIABILITIES
INSURANCE

According to the Bye-laws of the Company, the Directors and officers of the Company
are entitled to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the execution of the
duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company has arranged
appropriate insurance covering the potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers in connection with the discharge of their responsibilities throughout the
year.

CHANGES OF INFORMATION IN RESPECT OF DIRECTORS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Biographical Details of Directors” in this
annual report, there was no change to any of the information required to be
disclosed in relation to any Director pursuant to paragraphs (a) to (e) and (g) of
rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules since the date of the 2022 interim report of the
Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES AND
CONFLICTS OF INTERESTS

During the year ended 31 March 2023, none of the directors of the Company or any
of their respective associates have engaged in any business that competes or may
compete with the businesses of the Group or have any other conflict of interests with
the Group.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 March 2023, the interests and short positions of the directors and the chief
executive and their associates in the shares of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”) (a) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock
Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests
or short positions which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions
of the SFO); or (b) which were required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be
entered in the register referred to therein; or (c) which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

() Long position in shares and underlying shares of the associated

EFNRRAERARG Z#m

RZB_=F=ZRB=+—RH'EFR&KBTHA
BUNKREZBBEARERT REBREE (€
ERBFRIAEHRE (FBHRIAEERG) BXVER)
ZRDPER IRER ST M ERGEXVEL R
R8BI RBM A AR MR PIZ m kA (8
BREBEESRBERAZZFRREREFR
BIEER 2 RmIKA) ; HO)RFESF KGR
BIE352AFRBL ARG B Mz EmRK A
FORBLEHRBDEFETESXZHRETH
MEBRBNANB KRBTz Bm R AWMT

(i) MREBZEROREREREZERE

corporation
Number of ordinary shares (long positions)
EEREE (F2)
Approximate
Total number percentage of
of shares held issued share capital
Name of associated in associated of associated
Name of Director corporation Personal interest corporation corporation
REEZEERFEZ  (GEECEEERT
BExts MR B A B L TR PN 57 fefp4agr  RAEZBAEILE
Yuen Leong Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 300 30%
RS EEARAE FisE1) BEmEEAA
Notes: 5T

(1) Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu
and as to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. Long Grand Limited holds more than 50% of
the issued share capital of the Company. Accordingly, by virtue of the SFO, (i)
Long Grand Limited is an associated corporation of the Company and (ii) Mr.
Yuen Leong is deemed to be interested in this associated corporation of the
Company.

1) EEBRADDHEFERERRRILE
EEREREATONE30%ER - RIBER
NEFBEARAT B BITIRASHS50% o A UL »
RIBFERAEEG (RRERATAE
NEZ BB EBE R (VRBAERBARE
NEZZABB B R EE R
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Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, none of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company had any interest or short position in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), (a) which were required to
be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8
of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO); or (b) which were required,
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein;
or () which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Companies.

SHARE OPTIONS

A share option scheme was adopted on 5 September 2014 by the Company. The
share option scheme is designed to award employees for their performances and
details of the share option scheme are set out in note 33 to the consolidated
financial statements. No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the share option scheme during the year, and there is no outstanding
share option as at 31 March 2023.

ARRANGEMENT FOR DIRECTORS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company, its holding company, fellow
subsidiaries or subsidiaries was a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
of the Company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debt
securities (including debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF SUBSTANTIAL

SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2023, the following interests of 5% or more of the issued share capital
of the Company were recorded in the register of interests required to be kept by the
Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

FTERRZEDRRE

A TEC=ZF=-A=+—H REXAIERE

KREERPIEBFREFE 2 B m

EDEFH}FET ’

TIANLTHABHEBERRE B E(TIRAS%I A L

oo
Approximate
percentage of the
Capacity in which Number of Shares issued share capital
Name interests are held interested of the Company
BHEE HEATEET
o Rt ] FERZEZ SR ZRHBE REZBHOBESL
Long Grand Limited (Note 1) Beneficial owner 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
EEBEARRE (1) BE#EAA
Yam Yu (Note 1) Interest in controlled corporation 10,347,283,880 (L) 50.92%
£5F (MfF5E1) N2EGEE i
Power Trend Asset Holdings Limited (Note 2) Beneficial owner 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
Power Trend Asset Holdings Limited (Fff5¥2) EmEA A
Luo Feng (Note 2) Interest in controlled corporation 2,540,190,000 (L) 12.50%
g (fyst2) N2EGEE i
()  denotes long position L 1EEE
(S)  denotes short position () ERAE
Notes: BT

(1) Long Grand Limited is legally and beneficially owned as to 70% by Mr. Yam Yu and as
to 30% by Mr. Yuen Leong. By virtue of Mr. Yam Yu's 70% direct interest in Long Grand
Limited, Mr. Yam Yu is deemed or taken to be interested in the 10,347,283,880 shares
held by Long Grand Limited for the purposes of the SFO.

@) Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. is legally and beneficially wholly owned by Mr. Luo
Feng. By virtue of Mr. Luo Feng’s 100% direct interest in Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd.,
Mr. Luo Feng is deemed or taken to be interested in the 2,540,190,000 shares held by
Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. for the purposes of the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified of any other relevant
interests or short positions in the issued share capital of the Company as at 31 March
2023.

REBRAGADIBHEFRERRZHRESE
BRER70%30%ER - ERNEFEERER
BIRABZ70%EZE#E D RIEE S RIAEEG
EFEEWEAREEREBRBBERARNFTEZ
10,347,283,880% AR (7 P B # 2 ©

Power Trend Asset Holdings Ltd. FRZEI& 4S5 K
L ERA BN EIELET Power Trend Asset
Holdings Ltd.Z100%H & @  RIFHF S KSR
) ZBIE AT EWR AT E FH Power Trend Asset
Holdings Ltd.3%7 222,540,190,0008% f& 17 Sh 5 1
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m

fR EXFRIREE N AT ERERRN _-F
T=HFZRA=1+—HARABHETREAFEMH

fthE R

RSN A ZBE o

115

Annual Report 2022/2023 R



Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

None of the “Related party transactions” as disclosed in note 25 to the consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023 constituted discloseable non-
exempted connected transaction or non-exempted continuing connected transaction
under the Listing Rules.

To the extent of the above “Related party transactions” constituted connected
transaction as defined in the Listing Rules, the Company had complied with the
relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules during the year.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES
Details of the retirement benefit schemes operated by the Group are set out in note
34 to the consolidated financial statements.

MATERIAL LITIGATION AND ARBITRATION

The Company was not involved in any material litigation or arbitration during
the year ended 31 March 2023. The Directors are also not aware of any material
litigation or claims that are pending or threatened against the Group during the
year ended 31 March 2023. As at 31 March 2023, the Group has been involved in
numerous ongoing legal proceedings and claims. The management has made full
provision for the accrued charges and has been pursuing favorable settlement
solutions with the plaintiffs.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s largest customer and five largest customers for the year ended 31 March
2023 accounted for approximately 10.06% (2022: 16.35%) and 23.14% (2022: 44.71%)
respectively of the Group’s total revenue for the year.

The Group’s largest supplier and five largest suppliers for the year ended 31 March
2023 accounted for approximately 43.64% (2022: 38.99%) and 81.04% (2022: 88.06%)
respectively of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

According to the understanding of the Directors, none of the Directors, their
associates or any shareholders of the Company who owned more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital had any interests in the five largest customers or suppliers
at any time during the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SHARES
The Company has not redeemed any of its securities during the year ended 31 March
2023, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased or, sold any of
the Company’s securities during the year.
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Directors’ Report

EFEHRS

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s bye-laws, or the
laws of Bermuda, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata
basis to existing shareholders.

TAX RELIEF
The Company is not aware of any relief on taxation available to the shareholders by
reason of their holding of the Company’s securities.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the Company is set
out under the section headed “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
under the Listing Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2023 and up to the
date of this annual report.

EVENT AFTER REPORTING PERIOD
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2023 have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited (“CLP”). CLP were appointed as
auditor of the Company on 6 February 2023 for the financial year ended 31 March
2023 upon the resignation of BDO Limited (‘BDO”).

CLP will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment of CLP
as auditor of the Company is to be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
International Business Settlement Holdings Limited

Yuen Leong
DIRECTOR

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023

BAREER

FATZ AT BT AL WA R E
BRSO RERATDBRLEABRERES
RIS o

BIER R
FABLEARERRABREFELA QT BFMA
ESERRERR

TEER
BEAKQBHMZz PEERBERZERNENAF
WIbEEARREI—Ho

R Z RTFIRE

RBEAABESMEFTMNEZARER &
ARRBE_Z_=—F=-RA=+—HLEEFEKE
ERFRAP-—BERF LHRVUBBTZEHZA

BERE -

WEHBREE
BEEREREEAFRAMN LREEAMBEE
Igo

S
ARBBE_ST_ZFA=FT-HILEFEZRF
BV BRERERLKESENTARAR (M)
BZ SN BEBIUGERREAMEHFMERA
8 (MIfEEs) MERR S -=F"//\A%E
ZERTARNBE_Z_=ZF=A=+—HLH
BUF B A% BB

EERIEBERRBFAGLRE BFEE
BoWEREEEE AADRNEERRESE
ARG LRE-HREBR  UEBERBE AT %
HEmeo

AREFE
R A RS TIERARAE

b
-

DH

B _E_=—F;B=1+H

117

Annual Report 2022/2023 R



Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L CIE

@CL Partners

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
INTERNATIONAL BUSINESS SETTLEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(BREEEEZERERAE)

(incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of International Business
Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 125 to 227 which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023, the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the
year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March 2023, and of its
consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR (e

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of
most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated
financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment assessment of properties held for sale

We identified the impairment assessment of properties held for sale as a key
audit matter due to the significance of the balance to the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, combined with the significant management estimations
involved in determining the net realisable value of properties held for sale.

As disclosed in note 19 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group had
properties held for sale amounted to HK$1,030,397,000 at 31 March 2023.

As discussed in note 5 to the consolidated financial statements, the properties held
for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The net realisable
value is the estimated selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated
cost of completion, which are determined based on best available information and
latest market conditions. Where there is any decrease in the estimated selling price
arising from any changes to the property market conditions in the People’s republic
of China (“PRC”), there may be write-down on the properties under development for
sale and completed properties held for sale.

The management of the Group determined the net realisable value by reference to
the independent valuation report prepared by an independent qualified professional
valuer, for which significant management estimations are required in determining
forecast selling price and cost of completion.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L G

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)
Impairment assessment of properties held for sale (Continued)
How our audit addressed the key audit matter:

Our audit procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment
included:

HEEZEE @
HEMERZBENG @
RPN BZEN A EIEMBEZEE

EREEBETHENENEZEFRE

Understanding and evaluating the appropriateness of the provision policy
adopted in relation to properties held for sale and assessing whether the
provision policy is properly and consistently implemented,;

Assessing the competence, capabilities and objectivity of the independent
qualified professional valuer;

Challenging with the independent qualified professional valuer on the
valuation process to understand the performance of property markets,
significant assumptions and inputs adopted in the valuation and the

TR K FHE R B R E Y EFT IR BB R L
RSB TLEEBRESZEFER
BT FERMRMEEER

HEBUGERIXRGEMNEE BEHK
28N

MEERFRABILIGERERGEMEDL
5 LT BYED SRR GEBREFF
RMHERBRRMNEBNBBEUAREEE

management’s critical judgmental areas;

. Evaluating the reasonableness of the methodologies adopted in the valuation
models;

. Comparing the selling price estimated by the management of the Group to
publicly available information and checking the pre-sale agreements entered
into by the Group, on a sample basis; and

. Assessing the reasonableness of cost of completion by comparing the inputs
to signed construction contracts and entity-specific historical information, on a
sample basis.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR (e

OTHER MATTERS

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2022 were audited by another auditor who expressed an unqualified opinion on
those consolidated financial statements on 24 June 2022.

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s annual report,
but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE CHARGED WITH
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for
assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable,
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L CIE

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to
you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies Act 1981,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability
to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and
maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether
a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated
financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

BRHMAMES REMBRRNETE @

FBEFFMRASSTHRIIGEMERFTE
SEHESH AR ENGENE -

HEERARKBKERTHERNNBEN
{EH S - IRIFFT BB T 5HRE  HEER
AEEESENERARNERTREN!
RMAIREERY EEENFEKEED
EEEARE - NRHEFADB/FEEATHE
ElE AR EEZBENREPRFERE
ARGEMBRRDIEMKE -REEM
BETE A HMEEEREMNER-
HANEREENZBENRS B ILPAERE
BEETRE - A RARFEIBERALEE
N BEEETERECE.

SHEREMBRERNERYRA N EEH
R BRERE UGG BRERES
BRBERRZMER

P EEERNBERIEBIIHMBEN
EERGtE - BEENEESD UHREHE
BRERBR -BMEEEEBFANAE
BEEMAT - RASBSHERAKELEHEE
£

Annual Report 2022/2023 R 1 23



Independent Auditor’s Report
RV L G

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (Continued)

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to
communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

CL Partners CPA Limited

Certified Public Accountants

CHAN Kin Wai

Practising Certificate Number P07749

Hong Kong, 30 June 2023
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
fr e tHm R E MU m R

For the year ended 31 March 2023 & ZE_

Z_=HF=-RA=+—HLEFE

2023 2022
—EZ=F B F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHET
Revenue WA 6 865,703 304,416
Cost of sales and services HE MARFE R A (615,172) (286,669)
Gross profit EF 250,531 17,747
Other income, gains and losses HAURA -~ W e 518 8 18,638 29,066
Selling expenses HEER (6,290) (3,855)
Administrative and other expenses THREMER (66,272) (99,806)
Impairment loss on property, M- EKREERERE
plant and equipment 13 (6,409) -
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net FEW ERURER 1R 358 17 = (17,294)
Impairment loss on intangible assets mEEERERE 14 = (44,773)
Write-down of properties held for sale FEYEMR 19 (172,731) (24,355)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries BRIEGREARWB AR 2 W= 37(h) = 16,811
Finance costs FRE A A 9 (72,081) (5,431)
Loss before taxation FRAR AT ES R (54,614) (131,890)
Income tax expenses TS 10 (27,474) (13,281)
Loss for the year FAEE " (82,088) (145,171)
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREMEE D) WA
for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently FJSEFBEEEFH T EEE#H 2
to profit or loss: EE :
Exchange differences arising on translation of (S EBINEFKHRREEZ
financial statements of foreign operations bE 2 =28 (15,553) 23,739
Total comprehensive expense for the year FR2EHBZEEE (97,641) (121,432)
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
traifmREH MR EmR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 ®HE_ZE_—F=B=+—HILFE

2023 2022
—EZ=F BT F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET TFHET
Loss for the year attributable to: FE(LEAESIE ©
Owners of the Company KNBIEE A (72,716) (119,137)
Non-controlling interests JEEHI R (9,372) (26,034)
(82,088) (145,171)
Total comprehensive expense ElEENEmAZEEE !
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company FiN/NETEZFE DN (83,813) (100,873)
Non-controlling interests JEIT S (13,828) (20,559)
(97,641) (121,432)
Loss per share — basic and diluted EREE-EXKEE
(HK cents) (&AWL 12 (0.36) (0.59)
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

ERE MR

Asat31March2023 R-E-_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E=HF = =
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
IS FET FET
Non-current assets ERHEE

Property, plant and equipment Y BB Rk B 13 736,659 492,035
Intangible assets EmELEE 14 1,246 1,339
Prepayment FETRRIE 15 166,751 242,520
Deferred tax assets IR IEE B 18 76,428 41,510
981,084 777,404

Current assets MENEE
Loan receivables ERER 17 = =
Properties held for sale FEYE 19 1,030,397 1,802,459
Inventories 5 27,140 12,107
Trade and other receivables W E 5 BR T8 K ELfth FE W BR 1B 20 69,959 45,013
Factoring receivables FEWRIERRIE 21 = =
Restricted bank deposits ZIRHIRITER 22 690 361
Bank balances and cash RITEERIES 22 268,997 522,507
1,397,183 2,382,447

Current liabilities REEE
Trade and other payables FE(T B 7 BRIE K H fth FE (S BR 1B 23 677,552 610,303
Borrowings B 24 691,754 654,872
Amounts due to non-controlling interests FET IEIEGHIRE R TR 25 79,028 85,092
Amount due to ultimate holding company FET R ARG A T JXIE 25 1,636 1,645
Tax liabilities GEN=F| 33,614 30,684
Contract liabilities aH8E 26 133,511 865,629
Lease liabilities HEas 27 5,967 3,702
1,623,062 2,251,927
Net current (liabilities) assets wE (B BEERE (225,879) 130,520
Total assets less current liabilities WEERRHER 755,205 907,924
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

EREMIEIRRER

Asat31March2023 R_E_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—EC=HF TECTF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B sE FET FET
Non-current liabilities EREEE
Borrowings EEN 24 129,006 187,855
Lease liabilities HEaRE 27 3,771 =
132,777 187,855
Net assets EEFE 622,428 720,069
Capital and reserves P& 7 e k1
Share capital [[EZiN 28 20,319 20,319
Reserves EL 569,329 653,142
Equity attributable to owners of the Company ~ZA<A TR AE(G#E TS 589,648 673,461
Non-controlling interests eSS 32,780 46,608
Total equity ENE 622,428 720,069

On behalf of the board of directors

Yuen Leong
=s=
RUT

Director

EF
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

nv'F

SlEmEEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZE —_E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

AL 2PN
Capital Non-
Share Statutory Share  Contributed  redemption  Translation  Accumulated controlling
capital reserve premium surplus reserve reserve losses Sub-total interests Total
BXER
K& EEHE  RAEE  EHRR e BERE  RHER NGt SRR ko]
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$1000 HK$000
TR TR TR TR TR TR FET TR TR TR
(Note 28) (note b) (Note 29) (note a)
(Hizh28) (HizE) (Hz529) (Hzka)
At 1 April 2021 “E2_-ENR-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3781 2409 (8,336,55) 774334 67,167 841,501
Exchange difference arising on translation of BEBNERMERRESLZ
financial statements of foreign operations EREH - - - - - 18,264 - 18264 5475 3739
Loss for the year FREE - - - - = = 19.137) (119.137) (26,034) (145.171)
Total comprehensive income (expense) for the year ERZEUA (B5%) 8% - - - - - 18,264 (119,137) (100,873) (20,559) (121432)
At 31 March 2022 RZEZZ#=A=1+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 42,355 (8,455,693) 673,461 46,608 720,069
At 1 April 2022 RZEZZZMFE—-A 20319 1245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 42,355 (8,455,693) 673,461 46,608 720,069
Exchange difference arising on translation of BREENEBMBERESEY
financial statements of foreign operations BERER - S S - - (11,097) - (11,097) (4456) (15,553)
Loss for the year FREE - - - - - = (72,716) (72,716) 9372 (82,088)
Total comprehensive expense for the year FRZAEMIEE - - - - - (11,097) (72,716) (83,813) (13829) (97,641)
At 31 March 2023 RZEZ=F=A=+-H 20319 1,245 9,009,799 51,655 3,781 31,258 (8,528,409) 589,648 32,780 622428
Notea: The capital redemption reserve represents amounts transferred from contributed — Ffizfa: BARBELIHEBIENERAATIRGEEEH
surplus upon the repurchase of the Company’s shares. BEREE 2 RIB o
Note b:  According to relevant laws and regulation of the PRC, an entity established under  ffi5tb: RIFEFBEMEREEESEIR  RIBTBE QB EAR

the PRC Company Law is required to make an appropriation at 10 percent of the
profit for the year as shown in the PRC statutory financial statements, prepared in
accordance with the Generally Accepted Accounting Principles in the PRC, to the
statutory reserve until the balance reached 50 percent of the registered capital
of the entity. The reserve appropriated can only be used to make up losses or to
increase the registered capital of the entity and is not distributable.

YHERARBIEARESHRABRZH
BlE TE B BB IR AR P G FE I U B 0% 88 B 22 0%
EHE BEEHEGFEIZERIMELD
50%74y Lk o ATRERRE S BB ENA
EIE M EBEMES > MAR AR K
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

nﬁF iEEEBﬁgiiE

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HZ_—Z =

FZA=T—HLHFE

2023 2022
—EI=F TECCHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET TFHET
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES & ZEFISZHER=E
Loss for the year FREE (82,088) (145,177)
Adjustments for: HAELUTER :
Income tax expenses FRSHRRISZ 27,474 13,281
Depreciation of property, ME- -BERREBZINE
plant and equipment 85,862 12,230
Amortisation of intangible assets B E Y 160 149
(Reversal of impairment loss ) impairment loss Ef1fEURERIE (5[] 6 {E &518)
on other receivables, net B IR R EE (485) 883
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net FEU B 2 BRIE R B 518 180 50
Impairment loss on property, M- MEKREERERE
plant and equipment 6,409 -
Impairment loss on intangible assets ﬁﬂiiééﬁﬁ)ﬁﬂﬁ — 44,773
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net FEWERURER1EF3E = 17,294
Write-down of properties held for sale HEMEHR 172,731 24355
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEW B AT W - (22,705)
Gain on disposal of property, HEME -MEKRKREZ W E
plant and equipment (41) -
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries KIEEHIBA BN = (16,811)
Gain on deregister of other payable SHIEE M IRIBZ IR (7,645) -
Government grant recognised BN EL (4,136) (4,156)
Bank interest income fET‘ﬁ‘J ISVCON (4,367) (856)
Exchange gain, net U P EE (950) (735)
Interest expenses %'J BHX 72,081 5,431
Operating cash flows before movements in EEETEEEI
working capital KEHEME 265,185 (71,988)
Decrease in properties held for sale FEMERLD 466,201 275,873
Increase in trade and other FEWE 5 iR 1B R H h FE UK AR 1B
receivables A (27,481) (20,344)
Increase in inventories FEE (15,850) (11,802)
Decrease in trade and other payables BB ZRBREME[IRIE
oA (230) (154,078)
Decrease in contract liabilities sHaERD (666,809) (50,884)
Cash generated from (used in) operations  E3EFR1S (FrA) ;RE 21,016 (33,223)
Income taxes and land appreciation BEIFREMR R LI ER - JF 58
taxes paid, net - (99)
Government grants received BT E B 4,136 4,156
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) RETFHFRE (FTA) Z
OPERATING ACTIVITIES HEFER 25,152 (29,166)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BIZE —_E " =F=H=+—HIEFE

2023 2022
—B-=4F B
Note HK$’000 HK$'000
iz FAET FHET
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES B ZEFIEZHER=E
Interest received BIFHE 4,367 856
Purchases of property, plant and equipment ~ BEE#)% BB KRB E (239,735) (27,810)
Proceeds from sale of property, HEME - -MERLERENIA
plant and equipment 80 -
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (164) (30,529)
Prepayment for purchases of equipment BERBRRHTEMER
and software (62,325) (44,217)
Net cash inflow arising from the disposal HENBRBIEEZ
of a subsidiary REMAFEE 37@) = 23,400
Net cash outflow arising from the BRIEEHNBRAREEN
deconsolidation of subsidiaries REMEHFEE 37(b) - (15,999)
Release of restricted bank deposits RPRZ R GIERITERR (354) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES R EZEFFAZREFEE (298,131) (94,299)
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES RAEEENFRISZIRERE
Interest paid on borrowings EERFAE (11,422) (26,513)
Interest paid on lease liabilities BNHEaENE (1,146) (791)
New borrowings raised MEEER 46,569 97,736
Repayment of borrowings BEER (8,230) (68,889)
Advance from non-controlling interests kB IEEF R 2 BR - 68
Repayment to ultimate holding company BEBERKRIEIRATIRIE (9) (21)
Repayment of principal portion of BEREEaENEASH D
the lease liabilities (5,303) (6,276)
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) L ERENFRS (FRA) 2
FINANCING ACTIVITIES REREE 20,459 (4,686)
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND RERREEBYRLFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (252,520) (128,151)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FNZRERFEEEY
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 522,507 632,707
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON REeEhREEBEMEREH 2
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS wE (990) 17,951
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZBERFEEEY
AT END OF THE YEAR
represented by bank balances and cash LERTT#HEEFERIEEMAR 268,997 522,507
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e MR ER R MIE

31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

1. GENERAL

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated
in Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and its shares are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The immediate
and ultimate holding company is Long Grand Limited, a company incorporated in
British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”), which is owned by Mr. Yam Yu and Mr. Yuen Leong
(a director of the Company) of 70% and 30%, respectively. Its registered office is at
Clarendon House, 2 Church Street, Hamilton HM 11, Bermuda and its principal place
of business is at Unit 3103, 31/F, Sino Plaza, 255-257 Gloucester Road, Causeway
Bay, Hong Kong. The principal activity of the Company continues to be investment
holding. Detail of the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 39 to
the consolidated financial statements.

2. ADOPTION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(@) Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following amendments to HKFRSs

issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) for the

first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual period beginning

on 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKAS 16

Reference to the Conceptual Framework

Property, Plant and Equipment — Proceeds
before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract

Amendments to HKFRSs Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-

2020

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had no
material impact on the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these consolidated financial
statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS IRARMGE

31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and amendments to HKFRSs that
have been issued but are not yet effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts'
2020 and February 2022

Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and Sale or Contribution of Assets between an

HKAS 28 Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture?

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current and related amendments to Hong
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies'’

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates'

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities

arising from a Single Transaction’

L Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be determined.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the Directors
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments to HKFRSs will
have no material impact on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e MR ER R MIE

31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

and related amendments to Hong Kong interpretation 5 (2020)”

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on the assessment
of right to defer settlement for at least twelve months from reporting date for
classification of liabilities as current or non-current, which:

. specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current should
be based on rights that are in existence at the end of the reporting period.
Specifically, the amendments clarify that:

(i) the classification should not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12 months; and

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with covenants, the right
exists if the conditions are met at the end of the reporting period, even
if the lender does not test compliance until a later date; and

. clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of the counterparty,
result in its settlement by the transfer of the entity’s own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as current or non-current only if the
entity recognises the option separately as an equity instrument applying HKAS
32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”.

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a consequence of the
Amendments to HKAS 1 to align the corresponding wordings with no change in
conclusion.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS IRARMGE

31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Disclosure of

Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant accounting

policies” with “material accounting policy information”. Accounting policy

information is material if, when considered together with other information

included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to

influence decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial statements

make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information may be material
because of the nature of the related transactions, other events or conditions, even if
the amounts are immaterial. However, not all accounting policy information relating
to material transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such information
must not obscure material accounting policy information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 “Making Materiality Judgements” (the “Practice
Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity applies the “four-step
materiality process” to accounting policy disclosures and to judge whether
information about an accounting policy is material to its financial statements.
Guidance and examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position or performance of the Group but may affect the disclosures of
the Group’s significant accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.
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31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

(b) New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary amounts in financial

statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty”. An accounting policy

may require items in financial statements to be measured in a way that involves

measurement uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items

to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed directly and must

instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity develops an accounting estimate

to achieve the objective set out by the accounting policy. Developing accounting

estimates involves the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest

available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in HKAS 8 is retained
with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have significant impact on the
Group’s consolidated financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS IRARMGE

31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

(@) Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with

HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the consolidated

financial statements, information is considered material if such information is

reasonably expected to influence decisions made by primary users. In addition,

the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong

Limited (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

(b) Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
basis, except for certain financial instruments that are measured at fair vales, at the
end of each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in
exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a
liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability,
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account when pricing the asset
or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure
purposes in these consolidated financial statements is determined on such a basis,
except for share-based payment transactions that are within the scope of HKFRS 2
“Share-based Payment”, leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16, and measurements that have some similarities to fair value but are
not fair value, such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value in use in
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are

categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair

value measurements are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair

value measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical
assets or liabilities that the entity can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included within Level 1,
that are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

(c) Use of estimates and judgements

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity with
HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires
management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s
accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity
or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated
financial statements are disclosed in note 5.

(d) Functional and presentation currency

The functional currency of the Group is Renminbi (‘RMB”), while the consolidated
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars (‘HK$). As the Company is
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”), the directors consider that it will be more appropriate to adopt HK$ as
the Group’s and the Company’s presentation currency. All values are rounded to the
nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

(e) Going concern basis

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors have given
careful consideration to the future liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that
the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$225,879,000 as at
31 March 2023. The Directors are of the opinion that taking into account of the
good relationship between the relevant banks, other borrowers and the Company,
enhancing the Group’s ability on negotiating extension agreements, or seeking
new long-term debts to replace existing short-term debts, when needed as well as
internally generated funds of the Group, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from 31 March 2023.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going
concern basis.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(@) Business combination and basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the
Group. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together
with unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial
statements. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides
evidence of impairment on the asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the year are included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
from the effective dates of acquisition or up to the effective dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial statements
of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with those used by other
members of the Group.

Acquisition of subsidiaries or businesses is accounted for using the acquisition
method. The cost of an acquisition is measured at the aggregate of the acquisition-
date fair value of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and equity interests issued by
the Group, as the acquirer. The identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed
are principally measured at acquisition-date fair value. The Group’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree, if any, is re-measured at acquisition-date fair value
and the resulting gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss. The Group may
elect, on a transaction-by-transaction basis, to measure the non-controlling interests
that represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary either at fair value or
at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other non-
controlling interests are measured at fair value unless another measurement basis
is required by HKFRSs. Acquisition-related costs incurred are expensed unless they
are incurred in issuing equity instruments in which case the costs are deducted from
equity.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised at
acquisition-date fair value. Subsequent adjustments to consideration are recognised
against goodwill only to the extent that they arise from new information obtained
within the measurement period (@ maximum of 12 months from the acquisition
date) about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other subsequent adjustments
to contingent consideration classified as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit
or loss.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(a) Business combination and basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the gain or loss on disposal is
calculated as the difference between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any retained interest and (i) the
previous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interest. Amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in relation to the subsidiary are accounted for in the same
manner as would be required if the relevant assets or liabilities were disposed of.

Subsequent to acquisition, the carrying amount of non-controlling interests that
represent present ownership interests in the subsidiary is the amount of those
interests at initial recognition plus the non-controlling interest’s share of subsequent
changes in equity. Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling interest having a deficit balance.

(b) Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The
Company controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present:
(i) power over the investee; (ii) exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the
investee; and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect those variable returns. Control
is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there may be a change
in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in subsidiaries are
stated at cost less impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividend received and receivable.

(c) Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence and that is
neither a subsidiary nor a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power to
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(c) Associates (Continued)

Associates are accounted for using the equity method whereby they are initially
recognised at cost and thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for the Group’s
share of the post-acquisition change in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not recognised unless there is an
obligation to make good those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the Group and its associates are
recognised only to the extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate. The
investor’s share in the associate’s profits and losses resulting from these transactions
is eliminated against the carrying value of the associate. Where unrealised losses
provide evidence of impairment of the asset transferred they are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value of the Group’s share of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate. Where there is objective evidence
that the investment in an associate has been impaired, the carrying amount of the
investment is tested for impairment in the same way as other non-financial assets.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, investments in associates are
carried at cost less impairment losses, if any. The results of associates are accounted
for by the Company on the basis of dividends received and receivable during the
year.

(d) Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable
from goods sold or services provided, net of discounts and sales related taxes. The
Group recognises revenue when the amount of revenue can be reliably measured;
when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below:
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

()  Ssales of properties

Revenues are recognised when or as the control of the asset is transferred to the
customer. Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the
contract, control of the asset may transfer over time or at a point in time. Control of
the asset is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

. provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the
customer; or

. creates and enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group
performs; or

. do not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has
an enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the asset transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period
of the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that
performance obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when
the customer obtains control of the asset.

For property development and sales contract for which the control of the property
is transferred at a point in time and there is no enforceable right to payment from
the customers for performance completed to date, revenue is recognised when the
customer obtains the physical possession or the legal title of the completed property
and the Group has present right to payment and the collection of the consideration
is probable.

In determining the transaction price, the Group adjusts the promised amount of
consideration for the effect of a financing component if it is significant.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services
to a customer for which the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

(i)  Sales of contact lens products

Customers obtain control of the contact lens when the goods are delivered to and
have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers accepted
the contact lens products. There is generally only one performance obligation.
Invoices are usually payable within 90 days.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(d) Revenue recognition (Continued)

(iii)  Settlement fee and clearing service income

Under HKFRS 15, settlement fee and clearing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers with the Electronic Money Institution license
is recognised when the relevant services are rendered. The Group charge a fixed
amount of service provided and recognises as revenue in the amount to which the
Group has a right to charge and corresponds directly with the value of performance
completed.

(ivy Computer equipment leasing and trading service

Under HKFRS 15, computer equipment leasing service income derived from
commercial and individual customers is recognised when the relevant services are
rendered. The Group charge a fixed and variable amount of service provided and
recognises as revenue in the amount to which the Group has a right to charge and
corresponds directly with the value of performance completed.

Customers obtain control of the computer equipment when the goods are delivered
to and have been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised upon when the customers
accepted the computer equipment. There is generally only one performance
obligation. Invoices are usually payable within 15 days.

(vy  Interest income

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the principal outstanding
and at the effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that
asset’s net carrying amount on the initial recognition.

(e) Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as
a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic
benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can
be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All
other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss during
the financial period in which they are incurred.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of
expected residual value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The
useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture and office equipment 3 to 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 to 5 years
Machinery 10 years
Server equipment 3 years

Leasehold improvements Over the terms of lease or 3 years,
whichever is shorter
Buildings Over the terms of lease or 40 years,

whichever is shorter

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment losses. Cost comprises
direct costs of construction as well as borrowing costs capitalised during the
periods of construction and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to the appropriate class of property, plant
and equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to prepare the assets
for their intended use are completed. No depreciation is provided for in respect of
construction in progress until it is completed and ready for its intended use.

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying
amount is higher than the asset’s estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the
difference between the net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised
in profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Leasing

All leases (irrespective of they are operating leases or finance leases) are required
to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose
not to capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at the
commencement date have a lease term less than 12 months. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease
term.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(f)  Leasing (Continued)

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i)
the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability (see below for the
accounting policy to account for lease liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or
before the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; (iii) any initial
direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred
by the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories. The Group measures the right-of-use assets applying a cost
model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less
any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liability.

The Group presents right-of-use assets in “property, plant and equipment”, the same
line item within which the corresponding underlying assets would be presented if
they were owned.

Lease liabilities

The lease liability should be recognised at the present value of the lease payments
that are not paid at the date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
shall be discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if that rate can be
readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, the Group shall use
the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease
term that are not paid at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be
lease payments: (i) fixed payments less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index
or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties
for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to
terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, a lessee shall measure the lease liability
by: (i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability;
(i) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and (iii)
remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications,
e.g., a change in future lease payments arising from change in an index or rate, a
change in the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed lease payments or a
change in assessment to purchase the underlying asset.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a separate lease, the Group
remeasures the lease liability, less any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease
term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification. The Group accounts for the
remeasurement of lease liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on the consolidated
statement of financial position.

Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs)
Expenditure on research activities is recognised as an expense in the year in which it
is incurred.

An internally-generated intangible asset arising from development activities (or from
development phase of an internal project) is recognised if, and only if, all of the
following have been demonstrated:

it is technically feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be
available for use or sale;

- the intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
- the ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
- how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefit;

- the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to
complete the development and to use or sell the intangible asset; and

- the ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible
asset during its development.

The amount initially recognised for internally-generated intangible asset is the sum
of the expenditure incurred from the date when the intangible asset first meets the
recognition criteria listed above. Where no internally-generated intangible asset can
be recognised, development expenditure is recognised in profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred.

Subsequent to initial recognition, internally-generated intangible assets are reported
at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment loss (if any), on
the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired separately.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(g) Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)

Internally generated intangible assets (research and development costs)
(Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised on disposal, or when no future economic benefits
are expected from use or disposal. Gains and losses arising from derecognition of an
intangible asset, measured as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and
the carrying amount of the asset, are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of
its property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any. When it
is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group
estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (“CGU”) to which
the asset belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGUs, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at least annually,
and whenever there is an indication that they may be impaired.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or a CGU) is reduced to its
recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and then
to the other assets on a prorate basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its
fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated
to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets and
intangible assets other than goodwill (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
(or a CGU) is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or a
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

(h)  Properties held for sale

Completed properties and properties under development for sale in the ordinary
course of business are included in current assets and stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost includes the cost of land, development expenditure,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy, and
other attributable expenses.

Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties held for sale
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

(i) Land development expenditure

Land development expenditure is stated at cost less accumulated impairment loss.
The cost includes expenditure directly attributable to the development of relevant
projects such as road construction, demolition, resettlement work.

(j)  Financial instruments

()  Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing
component) is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are directly attributable to its
acquisition or issue. A trade receivable without a significant financing component is
initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade
date, that is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirely when
determining whether their cash flows are Solely Payment of Principal and Interest
(“SPPI™).
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

()  Financial assets (Continued)

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business
model for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The
Group only has the following type of debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and
the cash flows represent SPPI are measured at amortised cost. Financial assets at
amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest rate method.
Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised
in profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment that is not held for trading, the
Group could irrevocably elect to present subsequent changes in the investment’s
fair value in other comprehensive income. This election is made on an investment-
by-investment basis. Equity investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income are measured at fair value. Dividend income are recognised in profit or
loss unless the dividend income clearly represents a recovery of part of the cost of
the investments. Other net gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All other equity instruments are
classified as FVTPL, whereby changes in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for ECLs on trade receivables and financial
assets measured at amortised cost. The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12 months ECLs: these are the ECLs that result from possible default events
within the 12 months after the reporting date: and (2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs
that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a financial
instrument. The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum
contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured
as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to
receive. The shortfall is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original
effective interest rate.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group has elected to measure loss allowances for trade receivables using HKFRS
9 simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on lifetime ECLs. The Group
has established a provision matrix that is based on the Group’s historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the ECLs are based on the 12-months ECLs. However,
when there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination, the
allowance will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased
significantly since initial recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information
analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment
and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly
if it is more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when: (1) the borrower
is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the
Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or (2) the financial asset is
more than 90 days past due.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the
amortised cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial
asset. For non credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated based on
the gross carrying amount.

(iii)  Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the
liabilities were incurred. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are initially measured at fair
value and financial liabilities at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value,
net of directly attributable costs incurred.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(iii)  Financial liabilities (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including trade and other payables, borrowings,
amounts due to non-controlling interests and amount due to ultimate holding
company, using the effective interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised
as well as through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a
financial asset or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments through the expected life of
the financial asset or liability, or where appropriate, a shorter period.

(v  Equity instruments
Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received,
net of direct issue costs.

(vi)  Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that requires the issuer to make specified
payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a specified debtor
fails to make payment when due in accordance with the original or modified
terms of a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract issued by the Group and
not designated as at FVTPL is recognised initially at its fair value less transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee contract.
Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contact at the higher of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the ECL provision
measured in accordance with principles of the accounting policy set out in 4(j)
(ii); and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate, cumulative
amortisation recognised in accordance with the principles of HKFRS 15.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(j)  Financial instruments (Continued)

(vii) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future
cash flows in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has
been transferred and the transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance
with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant
contract is discharged, cancelled or expires. Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial liability in whole or in part as a result
of renegotiating the terms of that liability, the equity instruments issued are the
consideration paid and are recognised initially and measured at their fair value on
the date the financial liability or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value of
the equity instruments issued cannot be reliably measured, the equity instruments
are measured to reflect the fair value of the financial liability extinguished. The
difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability or part thereof
extinguished and the consideration paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.

(k)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated statement of financial
position include: (a) cash, which comprises of cash on hand and demand deposits,
excluding bank balances that are subject to regulatory restrictions that result in
such balances no longer meeting the definition of cash; and (b) cash equivalents,
which comprises of short-term (generally with original maturity of three months or
less), highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of
cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and restricted
deposits arising from pre-sale of properties that are held for meeting short-term
cash commitment. Cash equivalents are held for the purpose of meeting short-
term cash commitments rather than for investment or other purposes. For the
purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
consist of cash and cash equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management. Such overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position. Bank balances for which use by the
Group is subject to third-party contractual restrictions are included as part of cash
unless the restrictions result in a bank balance no longer meeting the definition of
cash. Contractual restrictions affecting use of bank balances are disclosed in note 22.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

()  Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion
and other costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location and
condition. Cost is calculated using weighted average method. Net realisable value
represents the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the
estimated costs of completion and necessary to make the sale.

(m) Taxation
Income tax expenses represent the sum of the tax currently payable and deferred
tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year. Taxable profit differs
from profit before tax as reported in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group'’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred
tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary differences to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which those
deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such deferred tax assets and
liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises
from the initial recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets
arising from deductible temporary differences associated with such investments
and interests are only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(m) Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of the reporting
period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable
profits will be available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to
apply in the period in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on
tax rate (and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences
that would follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of the
reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to
items that are recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in
which case, the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity respectively. Where current tax or deferred tax arises
from the initial accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in
the accounting for the business combination.

(n) Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by group entities in currencies other than the currency
of the primary economic environment in which it/they operate(s) (the “functional
currency”) are recorded at the rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated at the rates ruling at the end
of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the
translation of monetary items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they arise. Exchange differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items
carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the period except for differences
arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and
losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

(n)  Foreign currency (Continued)

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated
into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange
rates for the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period,
in which case, the rates approximating to those ruling when the transactions took
place are used. All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation
reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange differences
recognised in profit or loss of the group entities’ separate financial statements on the
translation of long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment
in the foreign operation concerned are reclassified to other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised
in the translation reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are
reclassified to profit or loss as part of the profit or loss on disposal.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets acquired arising on an
acquisition of a foreign operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as assets
and liabilities of that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognised
in the translation reserve.

(o) Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of
qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time
to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets until
such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of specific borrowings
pending their expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
are incurred.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the
Group will comply the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants that are receivables as compensation for expenses or losses
already incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the
Group with no future related cost are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivables.

(q) Employee benefits

()  Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination
benefits) that are expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end
of the annual reporting period in which the employees render the related service.
Short term employee benefits are recognised in the year when the employees render
the related service.

(i) Defined contribution retirement plan
Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans are recognised as an expense
in profit or loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.

() Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the
following assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have
suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

. property, plant and equipment;

. intangible assets;
. interests in associates;
. properties held for sale;

. prepayment; and

. investments in subsidiaries in the Company’s statement of financial position.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

() Impairment of non-financial assets other than goodwill
(Continued)

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal

and value in use) of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the

carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment

loss is recognised as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset is carried at a

revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which case the impairment loss is treated

as a revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset
is increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the
increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior
years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised as income immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS, in which
case the reversal of the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase under
that HKFRS.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from
the asset or CGU (see Note 4(g)), discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the asset or CGU.

(s)  Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the
Group has a legal or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
which will probable result in an outflow of economic benefits that can be reliably
estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or
the amount cannot be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent
liability, unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, the existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence or non-
occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 4.
(t)  Related parties (t)
(@) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if  (a)
that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of key management personnel of the Group or the
Company’s parent.

(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply: (b)
() The entity and the Group are members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to
the others).
(i) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an

associate or joint venture of a member of a group of which the other
entity is a member).

(iii)  Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv)  One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
associate of the third entity.

(v)  The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the
employees of the Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi)  The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is
a member of key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent
of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the group or to the group’s parent.
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4, SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
(t) Related parties (Continued)
(b)  An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(Continued)

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be
expected to influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the
entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;
(i) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii)  dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

(u) Share-based payment transactions

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share
options granted at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting
period or is recognised as an expense in full at the grant date when the share options
granted vest immediately, with a corresponding increase in share option reserve.

At the end of reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number
of option that are expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the
original estimates during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss
such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised estimate, with a corresponding
adjustment to share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option
reserve will be transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited
after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the expiry date, the amount
previously recognised in share option reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
revenue, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities,
at the reporting date. However, uncertainty about these assumptions and estimates
could result in outcomes that could require a material adjustment to the carrying
amounts of the assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Key sources of estimation
uncertainty are as follows:

(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty

()  Impairment of property, plant and equipment

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an
indication that an asset may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group
makes an estimate of the recoverable amount of the asset. This requires an
estimation of the value-in-use of the cash generating unit to which the asset is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make an estimate of
the expected future cash flows from the cash generating unit and also to choose a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
A change in the estimated future cash flows and/or the discount rate applied will
result in an adjustment to the estimated impairment provision previously made. The
Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is an indication
that property, plant and equipment may be impaired. Details of property, plant and
equipment is set out in note 13.

(ii) Impairment of properties held for sale

The Group’s properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value with aggregate carrying amount of approximately HK$1,030,397,000 as at
31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1,802,459,000). The net realisable value is the estimated
selling price less estimated selling expenses and estimated cost of completion
(if any), which are determined by the management of the Company based on
best available information and latest market conditions. Where there is any
decrease in the estimated selling price arising from any changes to the property
market conditions in the PRC, there may be write-down on the properties under
development for sale and completed properties held for sale. Details of properties
held for sale is set out in note 19.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(iii) Net realisable value for properties for development, properties under
development and completed properties held for sale
Properties for development, properties under development and completed
properties remaining unsold at the end of each reporting period are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value for properties for
development and properties under development is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses and the anticipated costs to completion. Net
realisable value for completed properties held for sale is determined by reference to
management estimates of the selling price based on prevailing market conditions,
less applicable variable selling expenses. During the course of their assessment,
the management will also make reference to property valuations conducted by
independent qualified professional valuers based on comparable market prices. The
management are required to revise these estimates if there is a change in market
condition or demand. If actual market conditions are less favourable than those
projected by management, additional adjustments to the value of properties for
development, properties under development and completed properties held for sale
may be required. Details of properties under development and completed properties
held for sale are set out in note 19.

(iv) Income taxes and deferred taxes

The Group is subject to taxation in the PRC and Hong Kong. Significant judgement
is required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing
of the related payments. There are many transactions and calculations for which
the ultimate tax determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business.
Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that
were initially recorded, such difference will have impact on the income tax and/or
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

(v}  Land appreciation taxes

PRC land appreciation tax (‘LAT") is levied at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds of sale of properties less
deductible expenditures including land use rights, borrowing costs and all property
development expenditures.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)
(@) Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)
(v}  Land appreciation taxes (Continued)
Those subsidiaries of the Company which are engaged in property development
business in the PRC are subject to land appreciation taxes, which have been included
in income tax expenses in profit or loss. However, the implementation of these taxes
varies amongst various PRC cities and the Group has not finalised its LAT returns
with the relevant tax authorities in respect of certain property development projects.
Accordingly, significant judgement is required in determining the amount of land
appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax determination is uncertain
during the ordinary course of business. The Group recognises these liabilities based
on management’s best estimates. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will impact
the income tax expenses and provision for land appreciation taxes in the period in
which such determination is made.

(vi) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost

Management estimates the amount of loss allowance for ECLs on financial assets
that are measured at amortised cost based on the credit risk of the respective
financial asset. The loss allowance amount is measured as the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
after taking into consideration of expected future credit loss of the respective
financial asset. The assessment of the credit risk of the respective financial asset
involves high degree of estimation and uncertainty. When the actual future cash
flows are different from expected, a material impairment loss or a material reversal
of impairment loss may arise, accordingly.

Critical judgments in applying accounting policies are as follows:

(b) Critical accounting judgments

Financing arrangements for hotel business

The Group has entered into certain hotel-room sales agreements whereby the Group
has determined that it retained the control of hotel. Accordingly, the Group has
recognised the hotel as property, plant and equipment (Note 13) and the deposits
received as other borrowings (Note 24(a)(i)). If the Group had determined that it
lost control of the hotel following entering into the sales agreements, then the
alternative accounting would have been to exclude the hotel from its consolidated
statement of financial position and recognise the deposits received as contract
liabilities. The determination of whether the Group has retained the control of hotel
depends on an assessment of the relevant arrangements relating to the finance
arrangements and this has involved critical judgements by management.
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6. REVENUE 6. WA

The principal activities of the Group are (1) property development; (2) hotel business;  ANEEBRIEEEF AR QMBS X Q)
(3) international business settlement; (4) contact lens business; (5) leasing and BB HELE @R RBER OHERE ST
trading of computer equipment business and (6) financing business. Further details SR E X R OMBEFE AAERTEE

regarding the Group’s principal activities are disclosed in note 7. BRE— D EN M E7IREE -
2023 2022
= TET &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue from contracts with customers EEEHBA
Sales of properties THEY 714,134 292,042
International business settlement services Bl PR s S AE E RS - 9,878
Sales of contact lens THEREIRIR 40,165 2,159
Leasing and trading of computer equipment HELEEEHRE 111,404 219
865,703 304,298
Revenue from other sources HtkAKIR
Financing service income R EARFS WA - 118
865,703 304,416
2023 2022
=== =S -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
Timing of revenue recognition MESRUL A B9 B
Goods transferred at a point in time R E R ERE R 778,580 294,201
Services transferred over time REERENRREA 87,123 10,097
865,703 304,298
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING

The Group manages its businesses by divisions, which are organised by different
business lines. In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s executive directors, being the chief operating
decision maker (“CODM”), for the purposes of resource allocation and performance
assessment, the Group has identified the following reportable segments.

Property — Developing and selling of commercial and residential
development properties, car parking spaces including undertaking of

primary land development activities, in the PRC.

Hotel business — Hotel development and provision of hotel management

services in the PRC.
International — Providing settlement and clearing services for commercial
business and individual customers.

settlement

Contact lens Manufacturing and sales of disposable contact lens in the
business PRC.

Leasing and trading Providing encrypted distributed storage space in Hong

of computer Kong through leasing of servers and trading of

equipment computer equipment.
business

Financing business — Provision of finance through money lending services,
finance leases, leasing, factoring and other related

services.

Following the newly started up leasing and trading of computer equipment
business segment in last financial year, the CODM considered that the property
development segment, hotel business segment, international business settlement
segment, contact lens business segment, leasing and trading of computer equipment
business segment and financing business segment are the main businesses lines and
reportable operating segments of the Group.

164

International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

7. SDERE
AEEBBEFHESHEHER MEBHEH
TREBEER AREAAEENTES BE
BRERESE (EERERES)) WB2HRE
B ARG ENRERRBIEZ A E— o AE
EEREUTA 2RI MEo

Y ES S — HETEREREERER
EEWEFEU S
EARE— R
7o

BIEER — DERBERERRERE
JE B AR o

Bl EES — RBEREAZTRREMHE
BRBERS

REREXE — ATPEREMREE—X
BEFZER R o

HEKREHSE — ZEEEAREREES

WREES BB ESARMEM
B ERER-

eSS — ZEBEMERDTB MEMH

E-HE-RmRERHEM
ERARF IR MR E -

RE-WMERFEFTRIBAERESSTBRREE
BoE® TEEERREIN DERELE
BEEBIE BERBEEELR BERREE
BB HENREEFERREBEFTOEAME
EHOBAEERNEIZEBR RO ZREED
e



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

.-‘7r\

BRI HRRME

31March2023 —E-_=%F=8=+—H

7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DEBRET®
(a) Segment revenue and results (a) DHEWMARELSE
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE_S-_—F-RA=1+—HILEE
Leasing and
trading of
International computer
Property Hotel bhusiness  Contactlens  equipment Financing
development business  settlement business business business Total
HER
B RBERE SEHER
MERE  BEEYE BELE £ REEE REER ek
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
THET THET THT AT THT THET THET
Revenue WA
External sales and HIMEE RDERA
segment revenue 714,134 - - 40,165 111,404 - 865,703
Segment (loss) profit D (B518) 5H 3,788 - (6,700) (48,095) 16,129 (1,377) (36,255)
Unallocated corporate ROBARREY
expense, net B (22,726)
Bank interest income RTH EBUA 4,367
Loss hefore taxation BRIRIEE (54,614)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DERE @
(a) Segment revenue and results (Continued) (@) DFEWARES @
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BHE_Z__HF-A=+—HIEE
Leasing and
trading of
International computer
Property Hotel business  Contact lens equipment Financing
development husiness settlement business business husiness Total
HER
EE  ERRE BEHER
MEBE  OBEEE  BEA % REEF  HEER ez
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TET TET TET TET TET TET TET

Revenue WA
External sales and HIMEE R ERA

segment revenue 292,042 - 9,878 2,159 219 118 304,416
Segment (loss) profit D8 (B598) 5H (34,340) - (41,265) (40,598) 129 (19,607) (135,681)

Unallocated corporate ROBE AR EE

income, net 2,935
Bank interest income RITFBUA 856
Loss before taxation BRIAIEE (131,890)

The accounting policies of the operating and reportable segments are the same as A% R o] 2RO BN Tt R EREFEN T
the Group’s accounting policies. HARE o

Segment results represent the results from each segment without allocation of ~DIBEARIER NIBZ ¥4 Wkst RO P RT
central administration costs including directors’ emoluments, unallocated other HER (BEESME) RO BEMUA S &K
income, and unallocated other gains and losses. This is the measure reported to the ~ DECE MU FE KB It AR T EEERFEZ
CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. RERDERRRFTHIBERZ A%
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7.  SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DHEERE®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (b) NEEER&AE
2023 2022
—E-=H ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
ASSETS BE
Segment assets DEEE
Property development Ly ESE 1,095,737 1,857,115
Hotel business BIE T 191,476 206,445
International business settlement Bl ELEE 4,356 5,087
Contact lens business (SRS 526,546 548,938
Leasing and trading of computer equipment business ~ THERE St SR HER 287,953 16,784
Financing business B RS 9 36
Total segment assets NIREELRER 2,106,077 2,634,405
Unallocated assets ROEEEE
Bank balances and cash RITHEERIRE 268,997 522,507
Other assets Hih&EE 3,193 2,939
Total unallocated assets RPECEELEEE 272,190 525,446
Consolidated total assets REBEERE 2,378,267 3,159,851
LIABILITIES =K
Segment liabilities DEEAE
Property development L/ ES (1,250,792) (1,970,272)
Hotel business EF“ W (132,725) (143,101)
International business settlement PR (22,422) (18,883)
Contact lens business f%zﬂ/ﬁﬁi%%?z (340,100) (300,592)
Leasing and trading of computer equipment business A& & BB st B R E X (142) (34)
Financing business BT (185) (32)
Total segment liabilities DEEAERLE (1,746,366) (2,432,914)
Unallocated liabilities Kok a®E
Other liabilities Hth&E (9,473) (6,868)
Total unallocated liabilities Kok a®E (9,473) (6,868)
Consolidated total liabilities e BaEiRE (1,755,839) (2,439,782)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DHEERET®
(b) Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) (b) DEEEKRERE®

For the purposes of monitoring segment performances and allocating resources ~ FLEEER D IEXRIBR D EMERSEMS
between segments:

«  all assets are allocated to operating segments other than bank balances and + FREBEEEDERELEDE CRITEEFRIR
cash and other assets not attributable to respective segments; and SURTBREDEZ EMEERIN s &

« all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than other liabilities FIEEREERPERELENE FBRE D8

not attributable to respective segments. Z HMMEERRIN ©
(c) Other segment information ( HfthpiEsn
(i)  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment (i) HESERFFGEHSEEERTAZ
assets: TREE -
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z-_=-F=-HA=+—HLEE
Leasing and
trading of
International computer Reportahle
Property Hotel business  Contactlens  equipment Financing segments’
development husiness settlement husiness business husiness total  Unallocated Total
RER
Eil3 ENEE EEHER B

NERE  BEEE  BEEH i RREEE  HERE 2548 i .
HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$'000  HKS000  HK$'000
TR TET TR TERT TET TR TR TET TR

Additions to property, RENE BERSRE

plant and equipment - - - 132,432 227,349 - 359,781 4,870 364,651
Lease modification A& - - 6,053 - - - 6,053 637 6,690
Depreciation of property, ME BERREBZITE

plant and equipment (103) - (2,851) (22,441) (57,680) - (63,075) 2,787) (85,862)
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ Ef/BEHH - - - (160) - - (160) = (160)
Write-down of properties FEMENA

held for sale (172,731) - - - - - ) -
Impairment loss on trade EWEZREHESE

receivables, net bk - - - (180) - - (180) = (180)
Reversal of impairment loss on other LI EUER B E /R

receivables, net b - - - - - - = 485 485
Impairment loss on property, ME BERRERE

plant and equipment B - - (3,214) - - - (3,214) (3,195) (6,409)
Government grants HNER - - - 3,82 - - 3,82 312 4,136
Finance costs BEMA (58,140) - (790) (12,795) - - (71,725) (356) (72,081)
Income tax (expenses) credit e (%) K% (54,673) = - - 27,199 - (27,474) = (27,474)
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued) 7. DERE @
(c) Other segment information (Continued) ( HfthaHEER @
(i)  Amounts included in the measure of segment profit or loss or segment iy sESEZMNIAGERSEEERFIAZ
assets: (Continued) MEE (@
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HEZZ - H-—B=+—HILFE
Leasing and
trading of
International computer Reportable
Property Hotel business  Contact lens equipment Financing segments
development husiness settlement business husiness business total  Unallocated Total
RER
AR EYRE BEHER 2R
MERE  BEER  BEEE 2% REER  REER  HE8E KNE ke
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

TH TH7T THm TET TET THR Th TET THw

Additions to property, RENE BERZE

plant and equipment - 12414 % 93321 11,486 - 117315 12 17327
Depreciation of property, WE - BERREZNE

plant and equipment (352) - (250) (8,735) (51) - (9,388) 2842 (12,230)
Impairment loss on intangible assets /& ERERR - - [4.77) - = = 4.77) = 4.77)
Amortisation of intangible assets ~ Ef/BEZH - = = (149) = S (149) S (149)
Write-down of properties EMERA

held for sale (24,355) - - - - - (24,355) - (24,355)
Impairment loss on trade ERERRBRHERE

receivables, net T8 - = = (50) = = (50) = (50)
Impairment loss on other HitEWRIBRESE

receivables, net bt - - - - - - - (883) (883)
Impairment loss on loan EWERAEERTE

receivables, net - - - - - (17.29) (17,29) - (17,299
Gain on deconsolidation BRIERANENBARZ

of subsidiaries [y - - 16,811 - - - 16,811 - 16811
Government grants HREE = = = 4156 = = 4156 = 415
Finance costs BERA (1,511) = (598) (3129) = S (5,238) (193) (5431)
Income tax expenses g (13,182) = ©99) = = = (13,281) = (13,281)
(i)  Information about geographical areas (i) MEBEHER

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external R&RZFIAEBREBINBEE WA KRIEREE
customers and non-current assets other than prepayment and deferred tax assets & (FENFIBRIELERIBEE (T5EIERHEE))

(“Specified non-current assets”). BRI Ao
Revenue from external customers Specified non-current assets
(by customer location) (by physical location)
REIMBEFBIWA EEERBEE
RERUEZSD) (RERUESDS)
2023 2022 2023 2022
—TZ= TE T =5 -
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
Hong Kong 5B 111,404 219 181,117 11,922
PRC (domicile) FRE (B{EH) 754,299 294,319 556,788 481,452
Others Hth - 9,878 - -
865,703 304,416 737,905 493,374
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7. SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

(c) Other segment information (Continued)
(i) Information about major customers

Revenue from one customer (2022: one customer) of the Group’s leasing and

trading of computer equipment business segment accounted to approximately

HK$87,123,000 (2022: property development segment accounted to approximately

HK$49,776,000), which represent 10% or more of the Group’s revenue.

7.
(c)
(iii)

DEHRE @
HihaEER @)
IEEEER

REFEEEBEREEFBERRBEBETOEN

—®RER(Z2ZC

I TRER) BRARY

87,123,000 T (ZE - _F  YEHZEHEL
49,776,00078 7T) » (A< S B U A BY10%3 LA L o

8. OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES 8. HMA W= KkEE
2023 2022
—EZ= TECCF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Bank interest income RITH EWA 4,367 856
Government grants (Note) BNEL (55 4,136 4,156
Exchange gain, net BE 52 U 2 V5 B 950 735
Impairment loss on trade receivables, net (Note 20) BN E 5 ERIE R E R 1E 558
(F¥5E20) (180) (50)
Reversal of impairment loss (impairment loss) on other  ELfth FE UL BRIE J5l & 518 # [0
receivables, net (Note 20) CR{ERSIR) /238 (M95E20) 485 (883)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37(a)) HEMRB AR E (HI:E37() - 22,705
Gain on deregister of other payable SIS EM T BRIE 2 W 7,645 =
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEYE BEMREZ W= 41 =
Rental income WA 431 1,307
Others HAth 763 240
18,638 29,066
Note: BT

The Group recognised government grants of HK$312,000 (2022: nil) in respect of COVID-19
related subsidies, of which HK$312,000 (2022:nil) related to Employment Support Scheme
provided by the Hong Kong Government and HK$3,824,000 (2022: HK$4,156,000) represents
the foreign investment subsidy received for the year ended 31 March 2023.
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9.  FINANCE COSTS 9. REBEMZ
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Interest on B
— bank borrowings —IRT1TER 11,500 11,956
— other borrowings —HAhER 59,435 63,489
— lease liabilities —fHE&aE 1,146 791
72,081 76,236
Less: amounts capitalised in BT BRIBEEARCEERE
— Properties held for sale —FEYE - (54,101)
— Construction in progress under property, plant and —ME-BERREBEETEREILR
equipment - (16,704)
72,081 5,431

There is no borrowing costs capitalised during the year ended 31 March 2023 2022: MEE_SE_=F=A=+—HLEEETERIS
HK$70,805,000) arose from borrowings specifically for the purpose of obtaining EREENSBREEZERPEENERGE

qualifying assets. A (ZZE T2 1 70,805,000587T) ©
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FRiEMAX
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHEIT FET
Current tax in PRC HE Z BPHER 1B
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") SR (TEMERY 5,136 S
Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT") T ER (TLtigER ) 60,225 14,972
65,361 14,972
Current tax in Lithuania 17 M58 2 BNHERR 18
EIT PSR — 99
Deferred tax (Note 18) IRIERRIE (fF5E18) (37,887) (1,790)
27,474 13,281
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax is made in the consolidated financial
statements as the Group does not derive assessable profits from Hong Kong for both
years.

The PRC EIT is calculated on the applicable tax rate on assessable profits, if
applicable. The applicable EIT rate for the Group’s PRC subsidiaries during the year
ended 31 March 2023 is 25% (2022: 25%).

10o Fﬁ *ﬁﬂﬁi na

AR AERMEFENREBLEELRRNE
A WU ERGEMBRERAEBANERIELE
o

HECEMEBREERREN ZBRRESE
WEm) HE—_E-_=F="A=+—HI1F
E - AERTHARBAT 2 BRTEFRERNE
B25% (CEZ T 1 25%) o

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the loss before taxation ~ ZAEEZFAEMNAYRFSER MEMEEKE
per the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as ~ ZRFFE Z MM ATE B 2 HERWT ©
follows:
2023 2022
—E== - =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Loss before taxation FRIRAIES 18 (54,614) (131,890)
Tax calculated at the domestic income tax rate of 25% IR A TSR IR R 25%=t & 2 R I1E (13,654) (32,972)
Effect of difference tax rates of subsidiaries operating in ﬁ(‘HT’@ﬂfZ@E%%E? NG
other jurisdiction MEEZBIFE 289 149
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purpose TRTEME BEFRBAZREZE (19,131) (4,934)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purpose AOMAESZ 2 MBEE 25,108 21,574
Tax effect of temporary differences not recognised RIERERERB I MBETE (2,661) (1,925)
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised RIERRIERIE 2 ME & 2,475 16,417
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised ERLFIARER 2 RIEEE (25,177)
LAT T I (ER 60,225 14,972
Income tax for the year KEEZFTEH 27,474 13,281
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of certain unused tax losses due FA IS AR SO F SRR B TR » R I SR LA TR

to the unpredictability of future profit streams. The deductible temporary differences
can be carried forward indefinitely except for certain tax losses from PRC subsidiaries
will be expired in the coming few years. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in relation to such deductible temporary difference as it is not probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be
utilised.

The Group is required to prepay LAT and EIT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax
rules in respect of pre-sale of property development projects. As at 31 March 2023,
no prepaid LAT and EIT in respect of contract liabilities (2022: Nil), which has been
presented as deduction against the tax liabilities of the respective subsidiary in the
consolidated statement of financial position.
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11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR FAEE
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging (crediting): FERNEBEEENR GEA) -
2023 2022
—g_= BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHT FHETT
Directors’ emoluments (Note (a)) EEME (T5E@a) 3,178 3,028
Other staff salaries, wages and allowances HEME T #He  TERER 40,980 42,782
Other staff retirement scheme contributions HMET 7 RRsHEIMER 1,658 1,766
45,816 47,576
Less: staff costs capitalised in properties held for sale B FEYEERNMEZEBTIRA - (577)
Staff cost capitalised in cost of inventories BREGFENAERNEZ
manufactured BT A (13,875) (1,432)
Total staff costs ST K485 31,941 45,567
Cost of inventories recognised as expenses DABLTWNIEER A 520,149 272,878
Auditor’s remuneration AT 2 1,800 2394
Impairment loss on property, plant and equipment Y\ EREEREEE (MEE13)

(Note 13) 6,409 =
Impairment loss on loan receivables, net (Note 17) FEU EZUREBIEFEE (is17) = 17,294
Impairment loss on intangible assets (Note 14) EF B EREEE (fE14) - 44,773
Write-down of properties held for sale (Note 19) HEYEMR (FEE19) 172,731 24355
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 14) WA S EEY (WE4) 160 149
Short term or low value lease expenses CHAS R EEAERX 418 687
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries (Note 37(b)) RIS AENRB AT Z WHE

(MF5E37(h)) - (16,811)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment HEME -HEREE NG

(Note 8) (FMfax8) (41) -
Gain on deregister of other payable (Note 8) ST EMPEERIE 2 W (MY5E8) (7,645) -
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 13) ¥ RE &R HEITE (FftsE13) 85,862 12,230
Less: capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured B BERBEANBREFEEMRA (70,662) (1,793)

15,200 10,437
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sRa TS ERARMIGE

31 March2023 —E-_=%=H=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued)

11. £AEE @

Notes: Mk -
(@) Information regarding directors” and chief executive’s emoluments () EREERESTHBAEMES &R
Directors and the chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed pursuant to the BEBEALHRARABDKINEZEERES
applicable Listing Rules and Companies Ordinance, is as follows: THABFAMESHIUWT :
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
HE-IE
s By RIRETEIHER B
BE_E_"_= HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
For the year ended 31 March 2023 =A=+—HLEE FHT FHET FAET FHET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS WiTES
Yuen Leong == - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat R/ iz - 1,400 18 1,418
Sub-total INE - 2,360 18 2,378
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BIUIENTES
DIRECTORS
Yap Yung =31 200 - - 200
Wong Kin Ping FEF 200 - - 200
Chen Lanran PR 200 = — 200
Sub-total /st 600 - - 600
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES
Liu Yu (note (i) 2R (EEG) - 200 = 200
Sub-total et - 200 - 200
Total 4z 600 2,560 18 3,178
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31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

11.

(@)

LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) . FAEE®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)
Information regarding directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Continued) @ EREERESTHASMESZBER (@)
Salaries, Retirement
wages and scheme
Fees allowances contributions Total
HFe I8
biok FiERE RIRETEIERR “ERE
BE_ T HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
For the year ended 31 March 2022 —B=+—HLEE FAET FAET FHET FAET
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS HiTES
Yuen Leong RE - 960 - 960
Chan Siu Tat Pz - 1,400 18 1418
Sub-total INE - 2,360 18 2,378
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE BIUIERTES
DIRECTORS
Yap Yung %5 200 = = 200
Wong Kin Ping FEF 200 - - 200
Chen Lanran YRk 200 = = 200
Sub-total /NEE 600 - - 600
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR FHITES
Liu Yu (note (i) 205 (MFEEi) - 50 = 50
Sub-total INEF = 50 = 50
Total G 600 2,410 18 3,028
Note: MIsE -
(i) appointed on 1 January 2022 () N TR TF—B—HEZME

The emoluments of executive directors disclosed above were mainly for services in
connection with the management of affairs of the Company and the Group.

The non-executive directors’ emoluments shown above were mainly for their services as

directors of the Company or its subsidiaries.

EXREZHATEEMET TR RMEEER
BIRAEREHRERS

EXFARZIFRITESEME D TS RMEER
FRBHHEMBAR 2 EFRMBZ R -
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sRa TS ERARMIGE

31 March2023 —E_=F=8=+—H

11. LOSS FOR THE YEAR (Continued) 1. FABE @
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)
(b)  Five highest paid employees b) HEREHER
The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two directors (2022: three rEFBRLRSHALTBERG (CEZ"F:
directors), whose emoluments are disclosed above. The emoluments of the remaining =) ER BEZHFNENR LXHE -Hif=4
three (2022: two) highest paid employees are as follows: TETCF W) ReHEEZHMENT
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Salaries, wages and allowances e TERZER 3,460 2,500
Retirement scheme contributions BRORETEIHRR 36 18
3,496 2,518
Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEZFHMNAFEUTEHER :
2023 2022
number of number of
employee employee
BTAH ET A%
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z%1,000,0007 7T 2 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,0017 75 % 1,500,00078 7T - 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,00178 75 22,000,00078 75 1 -
3 2
During the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no emoluments were paid by the REE_S_ZFEr_E-__F#=ZRB=+—HL
Group to the directors or the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or FE - AEETEAEEIALESHA LM
upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. No director had waived EAME EAREMATPNIMARERF 22
any emoluments during both years. B REABBEAEE - NEZMEFERNSEEM
BEWREEAME -
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sRE M ERRMIE

31March2023 —E-_=%F=8=+—H

12. LOSS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic loss per share attributable to the owners of the Company

is based on the following data:

12. BRREHE

RHE

FREEEANBEESREAGEENDRUTHES

2023 2022
—E-= BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Profit and loss T R E51E
Loss for the year attributable to ARsEERERBIEZ
owners of the Company for the purposes of RABHEE ANEIEERNEIE
basic loss per share (72,716) (119,137)
2023 2022
Number of shares 4=
Weighted average number of shares AR ESRERBES
for the purposes of basic loss per share BRI 198k 20,319,072,320 20,319,072,320

No diluted loss per share were presented as there were no potential ordinary shares

in issue for both years.

5 S REEREE -

HRMmEFETEETEETERR WIEZ
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SR e AT ERRME

31 March2023 —E_=F=8=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 13. % -KER=zE
Furniture
and office Motor Construction  Right-of-use Server
Buildings  equipment vehicles Machinery i progress assets  equipment Total
&R

BF MNOERR a4 HE ERIE ERERE ARSRG e
HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HK$ 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
THTL T TR THTL THETL TR THTL THETL

(note(a)) (note@)  (note (a), (b), ()
(Myta)
(Hi3Ea) (Ftzk@) (UNG)
cosT o
At 1 April 201 RZZZ-ENA—H 19,628 3275 3640 1614 21575 113,937 S 443,669
Additions HE = 616 5 74468 30702 = 11486 17327
Disposals HE = (30) = = = = = (30)
Transfer to land and buildings ~ EHATHRIEF 102,665 - - - (102,665) = S =
Transfer to properties held for sale  EEAZEYE (19.928) = = = = = S (19,928)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries X 1E&R & ABRKIBAE) (°f
(Note 37(0) #37(h) S (6,018) = S = (1,005) S (7113)
Exchange adjustments ERRER 1,646 834 124 1,022 6,833 3,077 = 13,536
At31 March 2022 RZBZZE=A=+-H 104011 28677 3819 77104 206,445 115919 11,486 547 461
Additions HE - 1,034 - 131,398 - 4870 227349 364,651
Lease modification i) - - - = = 6,690 = 6,690
Disposals HE = (30) (496) ) = = S (535)
Exchange adjustments ERER (7.541) (1942) (329 (5,089) (14.969) (8,095) - (37,965)
At31 March 2023 RZEZ=f=A=+-H 96,470 27,739 2,99% 203,404 191,476 119,384 238,835 880,302

DEPRECIATION AND IMPAIRMENT 3T E R &

AT April 2021 RZEZ-EMA-A 1448 325 2472 76 S 14,334 S 50,555
Eliminated on disposals R ERSHH - (30) - - - - - 30)
Provided for the year KEERE 665 621 24 5129 = 5539 5 12230
Transfer to properties held for sale  EEAFENE (1,672) = = = = = S (1,672)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries & [E& & ABRIB AT (1

(Note 37(b)) #37(h)) S (5.920) = S = (1,09) S (7,015)
Exchange adjustments ERRER 28 813 95 69 - 3%3 = 1358
At31 March 2022 R-F__£=R=+-H 469 27,709 2791 5,274 = 19,131 52 55426
Eliminated on disposals R ERHHE S (12) (47) 2 = = S (486)
Provided for the year rEERE 2597 545 215 16,672 = 8153 57,680 85,862
Impairment loss AERRE = = = = = 6,409 = 6,409
Exchange adjustments ERER ») (1,874) (25 (319) = (1,100) S (3,568)
At31 March 2023 RIZZ=F=F=1+-H 3,043 26,368 2,282 21,625 = 32,593 57,732 143,643
CARRYING VALUES IREfE
At 31 March 2023 RIBZ=F=A=+-H 93,427 1,371 712 181,779 191,476 86,791 181,103 736,659
At31 March 2022 RIBZZE=A=+-H 103,542 968 1028 71830 206445 96,788 11434 492,035
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BRFEERRMG

31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

13.

Notes:

(@)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

As at 31 March 2023, land use right (included in right-of-use assets), construction in
progress and also certain machinery are pledged as security for the Group’s bank
borrowings of HK$254,664,000 (2022: HK$225,526,000) and other borrowings of
HK$132,726,000 (2022: HK$143,101,000) respectively.

The directors of the Company considered there were impairment indicators on the
property, plant and equipment related to the CGUs of international business settlement
segment and contact lens business segment due to segment loss. Accordingly, the
directors conducted a review on impairment assessment on the relevant CGUs to which
the related property, plant and equipment belong.

For contact lens business segment, the value in use calculations use cash flow
projections based on the latest financial budgets approved by the Company’s
management covering a period of next 5 years representing the remaining useful life
of the property, plant and equipment at a discount rate of 14.25% (2022: 15.3%) on
contact lens business segment. The growth rate with the five-year period is based on
the industry growth forecasts. Another key assumption for the value in use calculated is
the budgeted gross margin, which is determined based on the CGUs’ past performance
and management expectations for the market development. The estimated recoverable
amount of the contact lens business segment is higher than its carrying amount. No
impairment loss was identified for contact lens business segment during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

For international business settlement segment, the value in use calculations use cash
flow projections based on the latest financial budgets approved by the Company’s
management covering a period of next 5 years representing the remaining useful life
of the property, plant and equipment at a discount rate of 14.25% (2022: 15.3%) at a
zero growth rate. During the year ended 31 March 2023, impairment loss on property,
plant and equipment of HK$6,409,000 (2022: nil) was recognised in the profit or loss on
international business settlement segment.

13.

Mk -

(@)

ME - BERRE @

RIE_=F£=Z/A=+—0 Lt ER#E Gt A
FREEE) EEIRERE TS FIRTEE
5 EE E SR1T 15 7R254,664,00058 70 (B 4 ¢
225,526,00078 75) K HANfER132,726,000/8 7T (ZF
T 1 143,101,00058 7T) AIHE(R o

RARABEFEDRA ARRRAKTEE  BIEH
ﬁmﬁﬁﬁﬁkﬁﬁﬁﬁ@ﬁﬁﬁéiﬁuﬁ%
ZYME -BERRFEHFERETR AL EFE
MABREYE BB RREMEBAERREEEEN
EITRE R -

MIEFRBEREMS  STEEREEMRAR
EREFANDREAADEEEBSHERENER
FFHR (B2~ BB R R 8 2 TV 6% m) {52 FE SR )
ZEMMFEE  #14.25% (ZEZZ4F : 15.3%)
ZHREAE ZAEPERERETEERETE
Wﬁ%ﬁﬁ AHEREEMEZS —BERRK

AHEEEMNE ANRERSELEMZBE
%ﬁ& EEHMBERETAEMERT BRR
BEXSBEZAHYKRESESNHEHIKREE P
BE_BE_-—FR_BE__H#=—HA=+—HLHF
B BB R ER DB BRI AR EEE -

HEERBEMARERERANEEAATE
BEECMERSEEREEN EIVWE BE AR
B FeReEREE 2 EHMMHETEE  #214.25%
TR 153%) XHBEXEETEEX
B HE_Z_—F-A=-+—HIEEE 9%
= R 58 5 BB E5486,409,00058 70 (T - — £ ¢

) ERBEREEEE N RRERRER -
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sRa TS ERARMIGE

31 March2023 —E_=F=8=+—H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued) 13. ME - -BERRE ®
Notes: (Continued) izt (&)

(©  The following table summarised the right-of-use assets capitalised by nature of ()  FREMIZIEMEELEESCHNERESE
underlying assets:

Right-of-use assets

EREEE

Buildings Land use right Total

EES T fERE e

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

FAET FAET FAET

0] (iii)

Carrying values, at 1 April 2021 N2 —FNE—HZEEE 3,242 96,361 99,603
Depreciation TE (2,802) 2,737) (5,539)
Exchange adjustments ERAEE = 2,724 2,724
Carrying values, at 31 March 2022 A BT CE-A=+—HZEREE 440 96,348 96,788
Additions RE 4,870 - 4,870
Lease modification HEEST 6,690 - 6,690
Depreciation E (5,591) (2,562) (8,153)
Impairment loss BIEEE (6,409) = (6,409)
Exchange adjustments FE AR - (6,995) (6,995)
Carrying values, at 31 March 2023 R_EBE_=F=B=+—HZKkKAEE = 86,791 86,791

0] The carrying amount of land use right represented a parcel of land acquired by the (i) TR EREEANERERKCERETREE
Group in the PRC for operation of contact lens business. B EEER—EMhR o

(i) Ownership interests in leasehold land and buildings, carried at fair value with (i) REEIMKREFTNESEER Gtz THES

remaining lease term of: BARESIR W

2023 2022

ZEI=H o

HK$’000 HK$'000

THET FET

— Between 10 and 50 years —10E5045 86,791 96,348
— Other properties leased for own use, carried at depreciated cost —#8 & E 5 FHRI E 4 2£

FRITEE AT AR - 440

86,791 96,788
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31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

14. INTANGIBLE ASSETS . BRREE
Computer Settlement
software platform Total
SHEMER G EETS 4azE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TFAT TAT
(Note (a)) (Note (b))
(MF3E@) (M3 5E (b))
cosT s
At 1 April 2021 AR —FA—H 1,433 59,186 60,619
Additions NE 95 44,773 44,868
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries %%Jt%—?é)\ﬁﬁfﬁ%@ﬁ = (59,186) (59,186)
Exchange adjustments s 42 586 628
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 R_E__F#=B=+—HBkK
- _"#4F—H 1,570 45359 46,929
Additions RE 164 - 164
Exchange adjustments b 2SR (113) (3,288) (3,401)
At 31 March 2023 A TE=ZF=H=+—H 1,621 42,071 43,692
AMORTISATION AND IMPAIRMENT HEE R R E
At 1 April 2021 ATET—FIMF—H 78 59,186 59,264
Charge for the year FARZ 149 - 149
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries BIEGREAERWB AT - (59,186) (59,186)
Impairment loss (Note b(iii)) BEEE (FsEbii) = 44,773 44,773
Exchange adjustments b SR EE 4 586 590
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RI2EZZHF=B=+—H8kK
—E-"#P4A—H 231 45,359 45,590
Charge for the year FREE 160 = 160
Exchange adjustments bE 2SR (16) (3,288) (3,304)
At 31 March 2023 A ZET=F=-F=+—H 375 42,071 42,446
NET BOOK VALUE RERE
At 31 March 2023 N TR =_F-—A=+—H 1,246 - 1,246
At 31 March 2022 WZEZZF=F=+—H 1,339 = 1,339
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31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

14.

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (Continued)

Note (a):

Computer software was acquired to assist factory’s manufacturing production and
management. It’s intellectual property rights which have finite useful life and are amortised on
a straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of 10 years.

Note (b):

(0

(if)

(i)

182

Prior 2019, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent software
company to assist the Group in developing a settlement platform for connecting with
the systems of the central banks and commercial banks of the countries along the
“Belt and Road Initiative”. During prior years, the sums paid and payable by the Group
pursuant to the agreement was USD7,600,000 (equivalent to HK$59,186,000).

During previous financial year ended 31 March 2019, the Group recognised a full
impairment loss in relation to settlement platform due to lack of substantive results
arising from memorandums of cooperation and framework agreements signed with
a number of potential cooperative banks and financial institutions. As mentioned
in note 37(b), on 21 February 2022, the Group deconsolidated the results, assets,
liabilities of the International Business Settlement Limited (the “IBS HK”) and its
subsidiaries. Therefore, the aforesaid fully impaired settlement platform was thereafter
deconsolidated from the Group.

In August 2020, the Group entered into an agreement with an independent software
company to assist the Group in developing network for cross-border settlement, trade
and financial services between Russia or Eurasia and China. The Group paid deposit
totaling HK$24,373,000 to the software developers. Further, in March 2021, the Group
also engaged another third independent party to develop a cross-border settlement
system in connection to the Central Bank Digital Currency (‘CBDC’) and invested at cost
of HK$20,400,000.

As at 31 March 2022, due to military conflicts between Russia and Ukraine and
economic and political challenges of China that create uncertainties on international
business settlement business segment, the management of the Group concluded
that there was an impairment indicator and conducted an impairment assessment
on recoverable amounts of a CGU of the international business settlement business
segment.

The recoverable amount of the CGU was determined by the management of the Group
based on value in use calculation. That calculation was determined based on the
financial budgets approved by the management of the Group covering a 5-year period
and a pre-tax discount rate of 15.35%. The recoverable amount is based on certain key
assumptions, including estimation of future revenue growth.

Based on the result of the assessment, the management of the Group determined
that the recoverable amount of the CGU of international business settlement business
segment is nil and lower than the carrying amount. The impairment amount has been
allocated to the intangible assets (cross-border settlement platform and the settlement
system in connection to CBDC) such that the carrying amount of asset is not reduced
below the highest of its fair value less cost of disposal, its value in use and zero.
Based on the value in use calculation and the allocation, a full impairment loss of
HK$44,773,000 (2023: nil) has been recognised during the year ended 31 March 2022.

Up to the date of this consolidated financial statements, there are no revenue generated
from this CGU.
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31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

15. PREPAYMENT 15. FE{IRRIE
2023 2022
—E== BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Prepayment for acquisition of: WM TIEE 2 A RIE !
— Machinery and equipment (Note) — iR e (s 117,149 242,520
— Server equipment — A ARER R 49,602 =
166,751 242,520
Note: B 5E

The Group, as purchaser, entered into a series of machinery and equipment purchase
agreements with independent providers. Pursuant to which the Group agreed to
acquire contact lens production line in the PRC at total considerations of USD37,421,000
and RMB42,601,000 (together equivalent to approximately HK$348,735,000 (2022:
HK$367,859,000)). Amounts of USD33,874,000 and RMB33,471,000 (together equivalent to
approximately HK$310,452,000) have been paid by the Group as at the end of the year and
of machinery equivalent to approximately HK$193,303,000 was ready for use and settled by
prepaid amount. The remaining of approximately HK$38,283,000 will be payable upon the
completion of installation of machinery and equipment.

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES

AEE (FAER) BB HERI L — R TR
HBHEERZ KL AEBERBRUAEMRE37,421,0005
TR AR 42,601,00070 (F8 5 & ££49348,735,00058 7T
(T4 1367,859,0005870) ) WEE R EIRISHZER &2

FEB -NEL REEBX33,874,000E T AR
33,471,0007¢ (FHE & ££49310,452,00078 7T) K& 2848
£ 1249193,303,00078 7T F9 % A ] (68 A S A TB A £ 2845
B o HER%Y38,283,00078 TT FE N R Be s L BE e R RS 2
o

16. RE AT 2w

2023 2022

—E_= B TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHT

Note 37(a)

MiEF37(a)

Cost of interest in associates REE QB 2 Em 2 AR - 56,648

Disposal of associates HEBREAT = (56,648)
Share of post-acquisition loss and other W BERBLEMEZEEA

comprehensive income:
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss PIEE PG REEE - (56,648)
Eliminated on disposal R E R Y - 56,648
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31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

16. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

During the year ended 31 March 2015, Fastmind Investments Limited and Acme
Day Limited (“Mining Group”) made a loss due to (a) pre-operating loss: the Mining
Group incurred expenses for preparing for commercial operations which will start
after successful completion of the exploration and evaluation stages; and (b)
impairment loss on intangible assets and property, plant and equipment, amounting
to approximately HK$24,236,000, mainly due to decrease in metals market prices by
comparing to previous year. Interests in associates was fully impaired as at 31 March
2015 and no further share of loss of the associates is recognised by the Group up to
the date of disposal.

In May 2021, the Group disposed of all equity interests in Mining Group at a
consideration of HK$23,400,000. The Group recognised a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$22,705,000 (Note 37(a)).

. REBERTZHEE
aﬁ_f AFE=A=+—HILEFE {5581
BRRBIREZEBBRAR (THRIEERE)) & aﬁs
B B ()EEREE  KEEEREREER
INER R RIZIEIS R RS EREESEL
Z2H% ROEEARBBTFFEESBHIHBES
THRER BV EERME -BRERREBEZRHE
E5184924,236,000B - M _E—hAF=A=1+—
H RBEAB RS TBERE it A&EEH
BEEHEHRYERE—DPRIDEGHE LT ZE
o

/\5

NZEZ—FH A AEBLUME23,400,0008 7T
HERBERZ2BRE AEBRIDEENB
A THIU 5 4922,705,00058 70 (HT5E37(@a)) ©

Set out below are the associates of the Group: KREFBBZQABEHIUWT -
Effective
Place of Issued and equity interest
incorporation/ fully paid up attributable to
establishment/ share capital/ the Company
Name of associates operation registered capital as at Principal activities Legal form
AR B, BRAIRESHE
YNGR A Bx/EMEEx  ARAARGERKE TEER EERT
2023 2022
ZZZ=fF Z%ZC
Indirectly
&
Fastmind Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - - Investment holding of Private limited liability company
BHRREERAR ) 10057T mining operation MABRAT
REEBZREER
Acme Day Limited Hong Kong HK$100 - - Investment holding of Private limited liability company
EHBRAT B 100%7T mining operation MWABRAT

Before the disposals, the Group’s shareholding in Fastmind Investments Limited and
Acme Day Limited had been pledged for a bank loan borrowed by Mining Group’s
subsidiary company.
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31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

17. LOAN RECEIVABLES FEUWE TR
2023 2022
= ZEITHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#ET FHT
Loan receivables A= 132,845 143,230
Interest receivables FEUSF) B 6,944 7,487
139,789 150,717
Less: Loss allowance (Note (b)) JB L ERIEEE (M5ED))
Stage 1 — R - -
Stage 2 R - -
Stage 3 =4k (139,789) (150,717)
Carrying amount of loan receivables FEU S EEmEE - -
Current portion included under current assets HAREEEZBIEZ Y - -
Amounts due after one year included under SHAJEREEE Y — BB EEHIE

non-current assets

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all loan receivables were secured by collaterals.

The customers are obliged to settle the amounts according to the terms set out in
relevant contracts. Interest rates are offered based on the assessment of a number of
factors including the borrowers’ creditworthiness and repayment ability, collaterals
as well as the general economic trends. The Group’s loan principals charged interests
at rate approximately 6% to 15% (2022: 6% to 15%) per annum.

The Group’s management considers that the fair values of loan receivables are not
materially different from their carrying amounts.

(@) Ageing analysis
Ageing analysis of loan receivables based on the loan drawdown date and before loss
allowance, at the end of reporting period is as follows:

AR TE T EF-B=+—H'FE
PR E G LUK IR SRIER o

BRARBHEBASANEINNEREERRAIE
METLRBBHZERE (BREERANEERE
FMEEN B AEBREEKEE) NTHERE &
EENEREEEREFOMEIN (ZTTE 22
6%ZE15%) BIFZUSERF] B o

FEBREEERN BRERNAAEEHRE
BXESERER

(a) EREGSOHR
RIS BN ERER A RHEBIRRFR
ZEWERZRE DT ¢

2023 2022

= B F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET TFAT

Over 1 year BBE—F 139,789 150,717
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17. LOAN RECEIVABLES (Continued) 17. BKRER @
(b)) Movement in impairment losses (b) R{ERSIEEE
Loss allowance for loan receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FREKERNEERERINOT .
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
— —4 =4
Lifetime
ECL not Lifetime
12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
TEEE BEE
12EHESE RENZE  RENZS
EEBE FHEESE RHEEEE 1
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TEx TEx
At 1 April 2021 a3 P 35 - 129,454 129,489
Transfer to lifetime ECL credit-impaired HBEEREERENZETES
8B
Impairment loss charged to profit or loss RERPINRI R ERSE (36) = 17,330 17,294
Exchange adjustments fE R AEE 1 - 3,933 3,934
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RZE__&#=A=+—HK
—_T_FMA—H - - 150,717 150,717
Exchange adjustments ERAE - = (10,928) (10,928)
At 31 March 2023 RN_E_=F=B=+—H - - 139,789 139,789

For year ended 31 March 2023, an increase of loss allowance of nil (2022: BE_ZE_=ZF=-HA=+—HILFE  BEZE
HK$17,294,000) was charged to profit or loss as an impairment. WNEx (CEIF 0 17,294,00058 70) > W48
mAEA B EIFR

Loan receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in place isto  FEWREREEAIE B - KAEBEBRH EERIEH
monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables — EUER > @818 & HI 25 25 FE U BR T8 31 7t 780 HA BR H BR X
and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed ~ BRETEIEIEAEBENEE RGO - AREE ¥
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised FiB BR—EERHENET L ETEAHT G £
impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4. M sF4PT i S 5TIEER > A E BRI EEIE
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18. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
Deferred tax assets recognised and movements during the current and prior years
are as follows:

18. IRIETRIBEE
RAFEERBFFECHEINIEERIEEEMN K
BREZENT
Profit sharing
from land Accelerated
development tax
LAT expenditure  depreciation Total
TR i
TiEER pitilba o RIEINE XD
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TEx TET TET
(note a) (note b)

(Ff¥zFa) (Bf5Eb)

At 1 April 2021 AZE-—FMB—H 13,622 24,970 = 38,592
Credited (charged) to profit or loss FHA (0BRE) B@m 3,743 (1,953) = 1,790
Exchange adjustments PR AE 439 689 = 1,128
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RS- —F=A=+—Bk

—E__FMBA—H 17,804 23,706 = 41,510
Credited (charged) to profit or loss A (0B E) Bm 15,056 (4,368) 27,199 37,887
Exchange adjustments b R A (1,233) (1,736) = (2,969)
At 31 March 2023 ATE=F=R=+—H 31,627 17,602 27,199 76,428
Notes: 5T

(a) Balance represents taxable temporary difference arising from provision of LAT.

(b)  Starting from 2010, MM EFEEEBZEEBMABRAF (Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui
Real Estate Group Company Limited*, “Liuzhou Zhenghe”) has been engaged in land
development project and in previous years before Liuzhou Zhenghe was acquired
by the Group, 4 parcels of land developed by Liuzhou Zhenghe were put on public
auction and acquired by Liuzhou Zhenghe itself for property development purpose.
Liuzhou Zhenghe shared the related profit with joint developer and paid tax on the
shared profit. On the Group’s consolidation, this shared profit element was included in
properties held for sale and eliminated. The related tax paid on this shared profit was
treated as deferred tax assets and will be released when the related properties are sold.
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s deferred tax assets arising from profit sharing of the
primary land development project amounting to approximately HK$17,602,000 (2022:
HK$23,706,000).

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

EERIE T IR EIR BB EL 2 ERREER ER

B -—ZFE@E N EMEEBEXEFEERR
2 (THNIEAL) — BB LS IER » TR E
= U BB A0 LE RO Bl B EE - MDY IE A BR B2 YU iR £
A ARRINE > WHRINEMAS RS EY 2R
B2 R o PN IE A 2Bt & BR 38 7 0 AR AR REE F)
WD RER A RIE RAE B iz S AR
LD AERIER D st AT E Y E B F LUK o FhIL
BA &ML ZEMREHREAEIERES
E BN EEEEHERE RS2 -=F=
B=+—H ' A"EBZ— KL HBEAEEREMND
R EE ZIEIERIBE E4717,602,0008 7T (ZF
T 4F 1 23,706,000 7T) ©
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19. PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE 19. HEME
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Completed properties held for sale BEMTEYE 1,017,648 1,108,926
Properties under development for sale BFEHEZRTYE 12,749 693,533
1,030,397 1,802,459
Carrying amount of properties under development for ~ FBEISER 2 HIEHE L RPYIFE >
sale expected to be completed: BREE :
— within one year ——&FR 12,749 693,533

The management of the Group had engaged independent qualified professional ZANEEEIEE D EIRIG IS BREE(GEMRA
valuer to carry out valuation on the properties held for sale by market comparison ~ TIBLEB A FEY X ETHE - BE_T_=
approach. Write-down of completed properties held for sale of HK$172,731,000is FE=B=+—HLEFE #MBEEEZRNTEYWE
made for the year ended 31 March 2023. 172,731,00078 73 ©

During the year ended 31 March 2022, write-down of completed properties held #HZE_Z_-__F#=H=+—HLEFEE ' BEIX
for sale due to defects found in certain units of approximately HK$24,355,000 was i & FEN BB MR B EREFEMEL
recognised. Aforesaid defective completed properties are sold during the year ended 24,355,000 75 c FIRIEE SN ERBEE_Z

31 March 2022. T THEZA=+t—HLEFERBEH-
20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 20. B E ZERER HMEUARIE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Trade receivables FEUR & 7 BRTE 42,790 2422
Less: Loss allowance JB ERIEEME (308) (135)
42,482 2,287
Other receivables and prepayments: HhfEWARIB A FE(IRUIA !
Other deposits Hihize 7,570 8,034
Other tax prepayment HIRIETA MIE 432 9,945
Other receivables HhpE U ERIE 11,471 7,520
Other prepayments Huhfamia 8,004 17,227
69,959 45,013
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)
The Group’s formal credit policy in place is to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit

risk through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up actions taken on overdue

accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a

certain amount. The Group and the Company recognised impairment loss based on

the accounting policy stated in note 4.

The ageing analysis of trade receivables after loss allowance of the Group, presented

based on the date of delivery of goods to the customers, at the end of the reporting

period is as follows:

. BB ZREREMEUARIE @
K%E%Jmﬁﬂfaﬂﬂﬂlﬁ BBEREERK
SRIBN LA HARR B IRINIRE T B B IE A EEN(E
ERRMO AEBHAAEEZR—EFEABEN
BERETERFE - BRM 4R S5t R &
EREKRKATERBERE-

REBESHA EXnEARVERARZEAEER
SHEERBER BB ZREBEZRE D25
LI

2023 2022
—E=H -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
0-90 days 0£290H 38,773 —
91-180 days 912180H 3,709 2,287
42,482 2,287
Movement in loss allowance of trade receivables of the Group during the year areas FRAEEFERE ZRIE HIEEHEEHN T .
follows:
2023 2022
—E== ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
At 1 April REE—H 135 82
Impairment loss on trade receivables FEN B 5 BRIE BB R 18 305 133
Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised BEIAFRERINRERE (125) (83)
Exchange adjustments PE R sRE (7) 3
At 31 March R=B=+—H 308 135
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20. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued) 20. FEYE ZERIER HEURERIE @)
Movement in loss allowance of other receivables of the Group during the year are as R A EE EMEWIRIE 7 FHIE R HESUT ¢
follows:

2023 2022

—E-= ==

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

At 1 April REE—H 2,147 1,264
Impairment loss on other receivables HihEUWARIE 2 R ER1E - 883
Reversal of impairment loss previously recognised BEEAFRERINRERE (485) =
Exchange adjustments PE R AR () -
At 31 March R=B=+—H 1,660 2,147

The balances of other deposits and other receivables are not past due. The Group’s ~ EfthiZ$ R E M EUIRTE ~ 4568 1 R A HA o AN E
management considers that the credit risk associated with these receivables is BEIEIEERA > SMILEEKREBEZEERKBT
minimal but a general provision for impairment loss is provided for as in the X BB _EXFrttBEEEHRE —ARBE -
aforesaid.

21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES 21. EWRRIERRIE
2023 2022
= = - =
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
Factoring receivables FEUR RIERNIE 66,291 70,079
Interest receivables EWF B 2,381 2,516
68,672 72,595

Less: Loss allowance (Note (b)) JB | ESEEHE (kb))

Stage 1 —#R - -
Stage 2 4 - -
Stage 3 =4 (68,672) (72,595)
Current portion included under current assets FTARBIE ZE Z BIHAER 3 - -
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21.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, all factoring receivables were secured by accounts
receivable of the debtors with interest rate of 6.5% (2022: 6.5%). The Group has
recourse right on the debts in the event of default. However, the collaterals are not

permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group.

(a)

Ageing analysis

Ageing analysis of factoring receivables based on the loan drawdown date and

FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Conti

inued)

before loss allowance at the end of reporting period is as follows:

. FBEWRIBRIE @)
é:;:—fﬁ&_v__i B=+—HFfA
FE U (RIBFRIE I LA FE IR (B 75 A BRRUVEIR #5> ) =
265% (CEZ"F 1 65%) o HHIRELN  RNEE
HEXEBEERE R KIFR A ESHAER
HE N E IR o

(a) BRECHHR
REEHR > BN ERERA RHEBIRRFA
ZEWRERRZ RE DA

2023 2022
TEC=HF —_=E=_
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET
Over one year BE—F 68,672 72,595
(b)) Movement in impairment losses (b) RERSIEEZEE
Loss allowance for factoring receivables during the year was recognised as follows: FNERFRERIE Y IR ERIBNT !
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
—4R ot =%
Lifetime
ECL not Lifetime
12-month credit- ECL credit-
ECL impaired impaired Total
WEEE
REN BEERE
12{8 B FEHA ZHATERE HWZHATEHA
EE8E (EEHE E8EGE e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TFAET FAET FAET FHET
At 1 April 2021 ATE - —FNA—H = = 71,979 71,979
Exchange adjustments bE 2 EE - - 616 616
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 A B _F=HB=1+—HK
“ETFMAB—H - - 72,595 72,595
Exchange adjustments b TSR EE - - (3,923) (3,923)
At 31 March 2023 RZZEZ_=F=A=+—H - - 68,672 68,672
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21. FACTORING RECEIVABLES (Continued)

(b) Movement in impairment losses (Continued)

Factoring receivables bear no credit term. The Group’s formal credit policy in place is
to monitor the Group’s exposure to credit risk through regular reviews of receivables
and follow-up actions taken on overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed
on all customers requiring credit over a certain amount. The Group recognised
impairment loss based on the accounting policy stated in note 4.

22. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Restricted bank deposits

Restricted bank deposits amounting to approximately HK$690,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: HK$361,000). Amounting to approximately HK$355,000 as at 31 March
2023 (2022: nil) represent the bank balance being frozen by the court. Amounting
to approximately HK$335,000 as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$361,000) represent
the proceeds from pre-sale of properties with the restriction of use for settlement
of construction costs for relevant property project, which will be released upon the
completion of the relevant project.

The Group’s restricted bank deposits carry interest at prevailing market rates which
range from 0.3% to 0.35% per annum as at 31 March 2023 (2022: 0.3% to 0.35% per
annum).

Bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2023, bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short-term bank deposits which carry variable interest rates ranging from 0.01% to
0.35% (2022: 0.01% to 0.22%) per annum with an original maturity of three months
or less.

At the end of the reporting period, included in the bank balances and cash are
following amount denominated in currency other than the functional currency of
the respective group entity:

21. FEWRRIEIE @)

(b) RERSIEEE (@
ERFRERBEIAEEH AEEEFEERX
EARE BETHEERWRET HERKRE
RERETHSEEAERNEER KO o A&
EHMEER —TEEREENERAETERT
fd o BRI sH4PT Ml 5T ESR > ANE BB ER
B

22. ZRHERITER RITEERRE
ZIRBIRITER

NIEI=F=ZA=+—H> ZREIETERY
690,00078 7T (ZZZ 24 1 361,000/87T) - NZE
Z=F=HA=+—H>#3550008T (ZEZ
F | EHERRENBTEE RIE=
FE=ZB=+—H#33500087T (CE__F:
361,0007870) IETEEYXENFI/RIE RRARE
NERYEBENBEENLS ZRRNRERER
U8 TRk o

ATEC=FZRA=+—R1 AEBRZREFHIET
FRHIRAF03%E035% (B - —F | FFERNTF
03%ZF0.35%) ZIRITHIBEFNZEFB -

RITEEFERRE

RIZEZ=F=A=+—H RITEEKRREEE
BEAEEMEEZReERRTEHEA=EA R
DUR @3B EMNENF0.01%2035% (-
F 1 0.01%E0.22%) 518 2 FRHARITIER

R|BERR RTEFRRSAETIUZEER
BREZINEEBLUN . BREHEZRIA

2023 2022
—E-= B _F

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

HK$ BT 11,326 111,203
United Stated Dollars (“USD”) =5t (MEm)) 249,924 406,574
261,250 517,777
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23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 23. BB ZREREME[IRE
2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables (Note) FETE ZER1E (5D 4,461 289
Accrued construction cost to contractors R AE R EHEEM A 165,141 262,973
Interest payables EAFIE 193,189 143,897
Other payables HihFE(TARIE 90,868 74,704
Other tax payables HENRIE 223,893 128,440
677,552 610,303
Note: 5T
The following is an ageing analysis of the Group’s trade payables, presented based on the date P ¥REHAZR » E R EUWREA K HH > A EEFE(H & 58k
of materials received, at the end of the reporting period: B2 IREDTESWMT :
2023 2022
—E-= BT F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F&ET FET
0-90 days 0Z290H 3,708 =
91-180 days 91&E180H 412 289
181-365 days 181E365H 341 —
4,461 289
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24. BORROWINGS 24. fBFR
2023 2022
—E-= ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFHET
Bank borrowings, secured (Note (a)) BIERRETER (F5EQ) 254,664 233,080
Other borrowings, secured (Note (a)) BIEREMER (F5EQ) 132,726 143,101
Other borrowings, unsecured (Note (b)) LR E A ERR (H5EDb) 433,370 466,546
820,760 842,727
Carrying amount of borrowings repayable: FEZ T HIEREENERRERE !
Within one year —FRN 691,754 654,872
More than one year, but not exceeding two years BiE—F BERBEmE 106,147 110,907
More than two years, but not exceeding five years BEME BRNBBAE 22,859 76,948
820,760 842,727
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities B RBIBEIE TR IE (691,754) (654,872)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities EREFEBEE TR ZHIE 129,006 187,855
The borrowings comprise: EEE
Variable-rate borrowings AR &R 254,664 233,080
Fixed-rate borrowings & EFERER 566,096 609,647
820,760 842,727

All borrowings were denominated in RMB during both years.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at

Loan Prime Rate plus 0.9375%, interest is reset every year.

The ranges of effective interest rates on the Group’s fixed-rate borrowings are as

RmBEFER AIAEREUARBHE

N TEBECZHERZEBEC_FZA=+—RHFE&E

LK

BHREREREBEEN

BoHRGEFEMRE °

A ZNN0.9375%5t

ERAEEBEMNRERZERME ZEEN

follows: T
2023 2022
Effective interest rates BRI 3% — 18% 3% — 18%
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24. BORROWINGS (Continued)

Notes:

(@) The followings show the carrying amounts of assets pledged to secure the bank and

other borrowings provided to the Group:

24.

YT :

(@)

1E TA Ag
RAEEZIRITRAMEBERFEREAZBRAPEE
ROBREIEHIIMT :

Carrying amounts of assets pledged for

FTFFIRE BRI E ERIRE(E

Bank Other
borrowings borrowings Total
RITRE™R HAth &R k]

(note (i)

(Pi3E(i))
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2023 WZEZ=%=H=+—H FET FET FET
Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) -~ B Rk s (EE13) 310,990 69,887 380,877

At 31 March 2022 N B __F=HA=+—H

Property, plant and equipment (Note 13) L ER =Y 200,358 75,350 275,708

(i) As at 31 March 2023, hotel rooms of HK$69,887,000 (2022: HK$75,350,000) are
pledged as security for one of the Group’s other borrowings of HK$132,726,000 (2022:
HK$143,101,000) at a fixed rate of 6.5% per annum.

(b) As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s unsecured other borrowings represent:

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$7,887,000 (2022: HK$8,503,000) provided by
independent third parties with interest at a fixed rate of 18% per annum;

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$22,859,000 (2022: HK$23,944,000) provided by
related party of non-controlling owner of the Company’s subsidiary with interest

at a fixed rate of 3% per annum; and

(i) Unsecured borrowings of HK$402,624,000 (2022: HK$434,099,000) provided
by EFEMEEEEBRAT (Guangx Zhenghe Industrial Co., Ltd*), the
former related party of Liuzhou Zhenghe with interest at a fixed rate of 12% per

annum.

*  The English name is for identification purpose only

0

RIE_=FE=H=+—H"69,887,0008 7T (=
T T T4 175,350,000 7T) 2 BEREBIRFE
AXEREP—E%6 5%EEEMN Kt BEREM
f&380132,726,00058 70 (Z 2 4 © 143,101,0005
70) BOIE{R o

RIZEZ=F=ZA=+—H c=ERERIFHM

s

0] 1B 55 = iR R IR 1 (5 207,887,000
Bt (CF - 4 8,503,000 7T) L EE
FEFIER18%:T B

(i) HBAXARAEMBABIIEERES AW A
TR By R 8 2022,859,000%8 75 (Z
T T 123,944,00058 7T) 0 2 EIEEFIZE3%
HES R

(i) HEAENBXEBABMRLIE (WINIE
MzaiEBAL) RENEIEFEAER
402,624,00078 70 (= — —4F  434,099,00078
70) > MEEE M E12%:1 B o

Annual Report 2022/2023 R 1 95



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SR e AT ERRME

31 March2023 —E_=F=8=+—H

25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 25. FAmBKALTIRE

(a) Name and relationship of related parties (@) PBABEALTZHIBREAG
Name Relationship with the Company

ey BARNTZM%

Long Grand Limited Ultimate holding company

RBERAT RRERAE

Liuzhou Huagui Property Development Co., Ltd Non-controlling owner of Liuzhou Zhenghe

(“Liuzhou Huagui”)

WINERE B ERERRAT (THIMER)) W IEM Z IR TER A

Unicon Optical Co., Limited (“Taiwan Unicon”) Non-controlling owner of Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited

BIREAZRNEBERAT (T8 EEIME) BERBMEARERABDZIFHEREE A

() Amounts due to non-controlling interests (b) FE(TIEFEHIRE = RRIE
2023 2022
—ET=HF BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
THET FET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE ZHHRT ~ B
and repayable on demand BEREZEREE
— Liuzhou Huagui — 1PN EEAE 56,169 60,446
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest bearing FEE S 1EG IR
and repayable on demand 518 KRB ERER
— Taiwan Unicon (Note) —&BErE (s 22,859 24,646
79,028 85,092

Note: The amount is subject to floating rate interest per annum which is based on benchmark ~ FfizE | ZFUEZIE B R EIRTEEN XBENTHER
interest rates of commercial banks. it B o
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25. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (Continued) 25. FAERANLTIHE @
() Amount due to ultimate holding company () MENRZIERATIFIE
2023 2022
—E=H ==
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FHET
Non-trade related, unsecured, interest-free FEE ZE ~ FEHE
and repayable on demand BEREZEREE
Long Grand Limited EBERAE 1,636 1,645
(d) Related parties transactions d) FABALRS
Compensation of key management personnel TEEEASZHRM
The remuneration of directors and other member of key management of the AATEERFIEBEEAEZHMBREERNZFH
Company during the year were as follows: Efan T
2023 2022
=== BT
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FAET
Short-term benefits 2 HAER] 6,620 5,510
Retirement benefit scheme contribution BIREN T HR 54 36
6,674 5,546

The remuneration of key management is determined having regard to the FEEIBABEZ#FHMNIZZEEAA T ZENKRT
performance of individuals and market trends. S8BT
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26. CONTRACT LIABILITIES 26. aNER

Considerations in respect of properties sold are received in accordance with the BE#% 2 A BIRIEIEREE S 73 2 FEFUURE
terms of the related sales and purchase agreements, certain portion are received on &= T 28D AE B T ¥2E B EA sl 2 ATUWEY > A
or before the date of delivery of the properties to customers which is recorded as ~ ERZIIESHIE &

contract liabilities.

2023 2022
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAT
Contract liabilities arising from property MEREEBREEZAHNE8E
development business 133,511 865,629
HK$’000
FHET
At 1 April 2022 ATE "B —H 865,629
Revenue recognised for the balances included in the contract MET ATV ENEEZERERIURA
liabilities at the beginning of the year (714,134)
Increase for the cash received for the balances where revenue is  FL8E P9 i R FESB U A 2 45 fF B W ER B IR = 18 0
not yet recognised during the year 47,325
Exchange adjustments bE 2% (65,309)
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=F=A=+—H 133,511

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the amount of sales deposits received expected tobe MR IZEZ=FK-_ZT-"F=F=+—H> 8
recognised as revenue after one year is nil. RN —FRERABRANEWBHEREAS T -
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‘;r\

27. LEASE LIABILITIES 27. HE&ER
2023 2022
=== B F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
At 1 April rHEA—H 3,702 10,461
Additions B 4,870 -
Lease modification HEBT 6,690 =
Interest expense A ERX 1,146 791
Lease payments HENI (6,449) (7,067)
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries %%Jtﬁ?é)\ﬁﬁﬁﬁ}%@a - (562)
Exchange adjustments RRE (221) 79
At 31 March R=B=+—H 9,738 3,702
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities BB EE TR B (5,967) (3,702)
Amounts shown under non-current liabilities ERFEBEE FFAmZHIE 3,771 =

Future lease payments are due as follows:

RKEENMRZ BB ROT ¢

Minimum
lease
payments Interest  Present value
RERER FE RiE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=%#=H=+—H FTHET FHET FERT
Within one year —FR 6,693 (726) 5,967
Within a period of more than one year but Bh—FENBEMERER
not more than two years 3,718 (233) 3,485
Within a period of more than two years but HBEmEErBERFREA
not more than five years 288 (2) 286
10,699 (961) 9,738
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Present value
RIEEEN™ FE RE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 RZIB__H#=RB=+—H FHERT FTHET FET
Within one year —FR 3,891 (189) 3,702

Annual Report 2022/2023 R

199



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

sR e MR ER R MIE

31 March2023 —E_=F=H=+—H

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. fg#&
Number
of shares Amount
K& E &%
HK$'000
TFAT
Authorised: EE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each EEE.001B T ZiEE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 A _E_—FA—H-
:giiﬁzﬁ =+—Bk
“EC=F=A=+—H 498,000,000,000 498,000
Non-voting convertible preference shares SREE0ETY BN TR
of HK$0.001 each Pl B ST
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 ATE " —FMBA—H-
B F=B=+—HK
“E=F=RF=+—H 2,000,000,000 2,000
500,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRHRE :
Ordinary shares of HK$0.001 each SREE0.001E T LB
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and 31 March 2023 R_E_—FHF—H-
I TF-A=1+—HkK
_E_—F=H=4+—H 20,319,072,320 20,319
29. CONTRIBUTED SURPLUS 29. BERREER

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the difference between the nominal ZAEEZ S RGAESRIZER AT 2RO EER
value of the shares and share premium of the then holding company and the MR EEEAATEN—HNA=FEA_+AH
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued for the group reorganisation on 25 S EEAFRETRMZEMEZ EZ5E BEEANZ
May 1993, together with the amounts transferred from share capital and share ~ ZZ—4 )\ B 4B 25 B8 5% 25 Bz BG 1) 125 18 BR E 43
premium account as a result of the capital reduction taken place in August 2001, less 2 FUIB » 78 B Ik < B8 B ~ BE (S RS 15 Frr A 7 I8 B 4
dividends paid, amounts utilised on redemption of shares and amount eliminated ~ $8R5tE58 2 R IE

against accumulated losses.
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

30. ZERERERMEE
METHEEZEEHIR:

Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Interest  non-controlling holding
Borrowings payahle interests company Lease liabilities
BEfIERS  BARKER
RN EfFE REEmE YNGIE HERR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT TET TET TET TET
AL 1 April 2022 RIZZZFNA—H 842,727 143,897 85,002 1,645 3,702
Changes from cash flows: fﬁ% MEEE .
New borrowings raised REEER 46,569 = = = =
Interest paid EN%IJ,%\ = (11422) = = (1,146)
Payment of principal portion of SRRESRLEHD
the lease liabilities - - - - (5303)
Repayments B (8.230) = = 9) =
Total changes from financing cash flows MERSMEZEPRE 38,339 (11422) = ) (6,449)
Interest incurred FEEHRIS = 70935 = = 1,146
Addition nE - - - - 4,870
Lease modification HEBT = = = = 6,690
Exchange adjustments ERAE (60,306) (10,221) (6,064) = )
At 31 March 2023 RZBZ=fF=A=+-H 820,760 193,189 79,028 1,636 9,738
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30. NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(Continued)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: (Continued)

30. REREBMEBRME @

MEZEDEEZARHKR: @

Amount
Amounts due to
due to ultimate
Interest ~ non-controlling holding
Borrowings payable interests company  Lease liahilities
SRRl BOSLER
RS EMFIS EETE AEIFIE HEER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000
FET THET TET FET TET
At 1 April 2021 791,525 91,698 82,697 1,666 10,461
Changes from cash flows:
New borrowings raised 97,736 - - - -
Interest paid - (26,513) - - (791)
Payment of principal portion of YHREaGEAEHD
the lease liabilities - - - - (6,276)
Advance 23 - - 68 - -
Repayments B (68,889) = = 21) =
Total changes from financing cash flows HERSRBZEHEE 28,847 (26,513) 68 21) (7,067)
Interest incurred - 75,445 - - 791
Deconsolidation of subsidiaries - - - - (562)
Exchange adjustments 22,355 3,267 2327 - 79
At 31 March 2022 #=A=+-H 842,727 143,897 85,092 1,645 3,702
31. COMMITMENTS 31. K
2023 2022
== B2 F
HK$’000 HK$'000
T#HT FHT
Commitments contracted for acquisition of EWEYE - RE K&
property, plant and equipment RBETTHIEE 101,992 52,079
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32. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

32. {ARE

2023 2022
“EI=HF TEICHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
TExT FEx
Guarantees given to banks for mortgage facilities granted FhiZ FREEYES H
to purchasers of the Group’s properties BB RRITIREZER 479,329 517,488

The Group had provided guarantees in respect of mortgage facilities granted by
certain banks in connection with the mortgage loans entered into by purchasers of
the Group’s properties. Pursuant to the terms of the guarantees, if there is default of
the mortgage payments by these purchasers, the Group is responsible to repay the
outstanding mortgage loans together with accrued interests thereon and any penalty
owed by the defaulted purchaser to banks, the Group is then entitled to take over
the legal title of the related properties. The guarantee period commences from the
dates of grant of the relevant mortgage loans and ends after the buyer obtained the
individual property ownership certificate.

The Group’s management, with its assessment of the current and outlook of the
market, perceives that the possibility of default in mortgage loans by home buyers
is remote and, in the event of default, the liabilities caused to the Group will be
minimal as the loss will be adequately mitigated by the proceeds recovered from the
sales of the repossessed properties. Accordingly, no provision is made in the accounts
for the guarantees.

33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 5 September 2014, pursuant to an ordinary resolution passed by the
shareholders of the Company at the general meeting, the Company announced a
share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentive to the
employee or other individuals of the Group (the “Participants”) and the Scheme will
be expired on 4 September 2024. Under the Scheme, the Directors is authorised to
grant options at a consideration of HK$1 per option to the Participants the Directors
may determine in its absolute discretion, has made valuable contribution to the
Group, to subscribe for shares in the Company.

The maximum number of shares which may be issuable under the Scheme cannot
exceed 30% of the issued share capital of the Company. The total number of
shares available for issue under the Scheme is 1,903,907,232 shares, representing
approximately 9.37% of the total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
date of this report.

FEEME TRITRHZRBHERBIER =
SRBREIRAREBYEESFISIILZ %R
ERC-RBERZGNR MZEEHERZBE
Mo AEEABBRRTEEENELERZRK
BEZBERERAERESF B REMSR MA
EEERAREEAMYEEZTEMAR -ER
HAFR AR IR IS ERUR H B W B
SERIFERRER

RETHHEAKRISROFG FEREEER
7 BREERXIZIGEMPAIELERE HETH
REX AR HEEEY) FPTUREIRIFT 1S FRIRR
RO REBE RN AEREMNNERRFEM
FEM o FIt > WERE PRI -

33. HBRRHESTE

R-B-—MEABRR BEXAATRERKRE
AR BB ZERABR  AADSH—IEER
Rt E) (T5H8)) > UAAEEMNES NEMEA
(rBEE)) BAUEE S BBR 2 - MEAS
A E o IR B BRI RRE O ER R
BREABAESN 2 RNEETAEHAEE
EHEABSBNSEESHERE LURERA

BIRRAR ©

R EAIFRITZEERDHEFAEFBBEAR
B BB ITIRAN Z230% ot BB T Al (B 1TRIAR D 48
751,903,907 23288 B¢ 15 > HER AR BN AR S
BB 817D 4R EHI499.37%
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33. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of shares issued and to be issued to each eligible Participants
(including both exercised and outstanding options under the Scheme), within
12-month period cannot exceed 1% of the issued share capital of the Company as at
the proposed date on which the option is being granted unless prior shareholders
approval obtained.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 30 days from the date
the offer together with the payment of nominal consideration of HK$1 per option by
the grantee.

The exercisable period of the option is determinable by the Directors at their
discretion. The expiry date of the option may be determined by the Directors which
shall not be later than the last day of the ten year period from the grant date.

The exercise price shall be determined by the Directors and shall be at least the
highest of: (a) the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the grant date; (b) the average closing price of the shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days
immediately preceding the grant date; and (c) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

No option has been granted since the adoption of the Scheme.

34. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) for
all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group, in funds under control of a trustee. The Group
contributes lower of 5% of relevant payroll costs or HK$1,500 per month per person
to the MPF Scheme, which is matched by employees.

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-managed retirement
benefit schemes operated by the PRC Government. The PRC subsidiaries are required
to contribute a certain percentage of payroll to the retirement benefit schemes to
fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the schemes
is to make the required contributions under the schemes. For each of the two
financial years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022, no contribution was forfeited (by
employers on behalf of employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in
such contributions) under the retirement benefit schemes which may be used by the
Group to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.
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35. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to
continue as a going concern while maximising the return to shareholders through
the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which includes borrowings
as disclosed in Note 24, offset by bank balances and cash and equity attributable to
owners of the Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves. In managing
the Group’s capital structure, the management will also monitor the utilisation of
bank and other borrowings to ensure compliance with financial covenants.

35. EZERERE

FEBEEEES UEFRAEBRZBRERGE
HUFESELAEE RNTEBEREHA
RAEZBREZ FEMAKRRFMERAMEER -4
EEBIERER AR BAFER -

FEBZEARBOEER TR (HPEEWE
244X T fER WIRTT T RIS UkER
AHEANEEED (BREHTRERER 5
EEAEEZEARE BEEETREERTK
HifEMZ ERBERURRET T2

2023 2022

—E== - =

HK$’000 HK$'000

FAET FAET

Borrowings & 820,760 842,727

Bank balances and cash IRTTEEREE (268,997) (522,507)

Net borrowings 1EF5E 551,763 320,220

Equity attributable to owners of the Company KAV B AELER 589,648 673,461

Net debts to equity BEGEGD 93.57% 47.55%
The Directors review the capital structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this EBBEUFFAREER T EREE - EAETH—

review, the Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the Directors, the Group will balance
its overall capital structure through the new shares issues and share buy-back as well
as the issuance of new debt.

Bo EFXETREANREREEERMEIE
BR-REBEEFNEBER AEBRBEBEITH
R EIBRO U ETHEFEERERRE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(a) Categories of financial instruments

36. £FRITH
(a) Z=RtTE%ER

2023 2022
—E-= —ETTHF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Financial assets EMEE
Assets measured at amortised cost BBIER At ENEE
(including bank balances and cash) (BIERITEEFELIRS) 331,210 540,709
Financial liabilities E =Nl
Liabilities measured at amortised cost BBIER At ENEE 996,753 1,004,457
Lease liabilities HEaRE 9,738 3,702
1,006,491 1,008,159

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and other receivables, bank
balances and cash, restricted bank deposits, trade and other payables, amounts due
to non-controlling interests, amount due to ultimate holding company, borrowings
and lease liahilities. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective
notes.

The Directors monitor and manage the financial risks relating to the operations of
the Group through internal risk assessment which analyses exposures by degree
and magnitude of risks. The risks included market risk (including currency risks and
interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these
risks are set out below. The Directors manage and monitor these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

206 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited EIMEmE2EHIZERARAT

(b) EREMREEBFERBE
FEEZFTEETMTACREBKEZRERAM
FEWERIE N RTTHEF RIRE  RIRFIRITER B
B ZREREMAE SRR B IR ERI 0
B BNRRERABRE ERREE&E It
FeMITAFBIRERBRNE-

EXEBREART L BEEREERBEDN
R EREEEAAERZERAMZEHME
o ZFRREETS AR (BEEERRRTER
Rk ~EERBRFRESE SRR - T XH L
ZERBZBR - EEEERERILERRE U
FEARBE e By Ko B U IR BB & 18 1 ©



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

AR TS IRARMGE

31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

()  Foreign currency risk management

The Group is mainly exposed to foreign currency risk in relation to HK$ and
USD arising from foreign currency bank balances and cash and trade and other
receivables.

The carrying amount of the Group’s material foreign currency denominated
monetary assets/liabilities and inter-group foreign currency balances at the end of
respective reporting periods are as follow:

36. ERIT A (®

(b)) THEAMREEBERBE ®

(i) SMERBRER
AEBRFTEEENERTECRREURERS
SEREREMERIREFRS I REMBTRETZ
SN LB o

FERNUTBIMNEHEZEBEE QERER
BISMEERRN S REMRZREENT ¢

2023 2022
—E=F BT _F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET TFAET

Assets BE
HK$ BT 43,488 111,203
usD E7T 249,924 406,808

The Group currently does not enter into any derivative contracts to minimise the
currency risk exposure. However, the Directors will consider hedging significant
currency risk should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis
The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in HK$ and USD against
RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% (2022: 5%) increase and
decrease in the RMB against the relevant foreign currencies. 5% (2022: 5%) is the
sensitivity rate used in directors” assessment of the possible reasonably change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes the Group’s outstanding
foreign currency denominated monetary items as well as inter-group foreign
currency halances and adjusts their translation at the year ended for a 5% (2022: 5%)
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number indicates an increase in loss
for the year where the RMB strengthens against the relevant currencies. For a 5%
weakening of the RMB against the relevant currencies, there would be an equal and
opposite impact on loss for the year.

AEB B ET I ERTESNUEEE R
BRERB BEZFNEEEREEHPEKRE
e LB o

IR E DT

FEEIZERBIAETRZARBZER
2,

RENR

TRFMAERHAREREBIMNEABEREE
5% (CZZTF 15%) ZBRE 5% (TE 24
5%) AESRTEHIINEER OJEREBEEEFFR
Az RELLR BRES M EIEREEUINE
FHMEZHAZNZ EMIEE REBEIMNEEE
W ERIBRERMINEER 5% (B - "4F .
5%) BENEHBRE - M ARERBHEEHE &
FRTFEBEEMN - HARERBEEEKEE
5% B FEBBENHERIERFE
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
()  Foreign currency risk management (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

36. ERIT A (@

(b)) ETREAMREEBERBE @
(i) SMEREEEIR (@&

BEED T (8)

2023 2022
—E-=fF =B

HK$’000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

HK$ against RMB BILTRARK (2,174) (5,560)

USD against RMB ETRARE (12,496) (20,329)

(ii)  Interest rate risk management
The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate bank and
other borrowings (Note 24).

As the bank balances and restricted bank deposit and borrowings at variable
interest rates have limited fluctuation over the year, management of the Group are
of the opinion that the Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is minimal.
Accordingly, no sensitivity analysis is presented on bank balances and restricted bank
deposits.

(iii)  Credit risk management

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit
risk and ECL for factoring receivables, loan receivables, trade receivables, other
receivables and other deposits as at 31 March 2023. The average expected loss rate
is derived from the gross carrying amount and loss allowance as at 31 March 2023
after taken into accounting of the collaterals, historical default rate and forward
looking information.
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36. AT A @
b) =REAMEEBERBE &

36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued) (iii) EERMEIRE (@&

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TRHARS 1R 3R HERREE EeiaRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2023 RZE_=f=A=+—H FERT FET
Factoring receivables FEURIERNIE 100% 68,672 68,672
Loan receivables FEWRE = 100% 139,789 139,789
Trade receivables FEU & 5 BRIE 0.7% 42,790 308
Other receivables HREWIRE 10.4% 12,799 1,328
Other deposits Hhigs 4.2% 7,902 332
271,952 210,429

Average Gross
expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance

T3

TEHARS 1R MREREE E1ERE
HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 KRB _F#=A=+—H FHET FHETT
Factoring receivables FEU FREEFR IR 100% 72,595 72,595
Loan receivables FEWER 100% 150,717 150,717
Trade receivables FEUN B 57 BR18 5.6% 2,422 135
Other receivables HhE RIS 17.8% 9,143 1,623
Other deposits Hihige 6.1% 8,558 524
243,435 225,5%
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

The changes of the ECL rate is mainly taken the following factors into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly subsequently:

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the marco-economic
environment;

- existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic
conditions that are expected to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligation;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor; and

- an actual or expected significant adverse changes in the regulatory, economic,
or technological environment of the debtor that results in a significant
decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligation.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk arises from the factoring receivables, loan
receivables and trade and other receivables. Management has performed in-
depth due diligence reviews of the financial background and creditability of the
counterparties who owe debts to the Group.

The credit risk of the Group’s other financial assets, which comprise bank balances
and cash and restricted bank deposits, arises from possible default of the
counterparty is low. At the end of the reporting period, the Group has placed these
deposits with banks and financial institutions of high credit.

Management has a formal credit policy in place and the exposure to credit risk
is monitored through regular reviews of receivables and follow-up enquires on
overdue accounts. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit
over a certain amount.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for
different customer segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not
further distinguished between the Group’s different customer bases.
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36. ERIT A ®

(b)) ETREAMREEBERBE @

(i) EEAKRERE (@
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FIREMRE -NBRERR  AEEERZEER

FERGEERSNIRITRER/EE-
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

36. ERIT A (@
(b) HREMEEBERBE (@&
(i) EEERKEE @&

Trade receivables FEWRE ZERIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TERARS IR = HEREE 5181 A
% HK$’000 HK$’000
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=%=H=+—H FHET FHET
Not past due iR 0% 38,773 =
1 -3 months past due BENE3E B 7.7% 4,017 308
42,790 308
Trade receivables FEWRE ZERIE
Gross
Expected carrying Loss
loss rate amount allowance
TEHARES 1B = HEERTEE E51E R
% HK$'000 HK$'000
At 31 March 2022 RIZEZZF=R=+—H TFHET TFHET
1 -3 months past due BENE3ME S 5.6% 2,422 135

Receivables that were neither past due nor impaired related to a wide range of
customers for whom there was no recent history of default.

Receivables that were past due but not impaired related to a number of
independent customers that had a good track record with the Group. Based on past
experience, management believed that no loss allowance was necessary in respect
of these balances as there had been no significant change in credit quality and the
balances were still considered fully recoverable.

RIEBHBTR R R E P FE R BRTE B A HA B A0 50 82 89
REEEER-

EAEEHKREZBERERARSERERER
REFEaBcBUR AR ERNBEER
AR EEERTEEALE MERDRESH
THWE EEERSEANZSERIFLER
JEE?E%&%O
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Loan receivables

Collaterals are obtained in respect of the Group’s loan receivables which made up to
approximately 100% (2022: 100%) of the total loan receivables before impairment as
at 31 March 2023.

It is the Group’s policy that all customers who wish to obtain loans from the Group
are subject to management review. In the event of default or failure to repay any
outstanding loan amounts by the customers, the Group will proceed with the sale
of collaterals. In order to maintain the credit risk at desirable level, the Group’s
average loan-to-value ratio was kept below 50% to ensure the recoverability of the
outstanding loan amount.

Factoring receivables

In order to minimise the credit risk, the Group has a high concentration of credit risk
as all receivables were due from six parties as at 31 March 2023. In order to minimise
the credit risk, the Group obtained guarantees from related companies of the third
parties, who agreed to provide guarantees of the factoring receivables to the Group
in case of default. The directors consider that both the third parties and its related
companies have sufficient financial capacity to repay the factoring receivables.

As at 31 March 2023 and 2022, the collaterals under unexpired factoring contracts
are not permitted to sell or re-pledge by the Group in the event of default by the
debtors.
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

(iii)  Credit risk management (Continued)

Factoring receivables (Continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of loan receivables, factoring
receivables, trade and other receivables during the years is as follows:

36. ERITA @

(b) TAMEAMBEEEERBER @

(i) EEERRERE (&)

FEWIRIZNTE (42)

RIEEWRER ERREFIE - BREZRER
HAEWARTE  AEEEHEBRERBEHUNT ¢

HK$'000

FHET
At 1 April 2021 A _E”_—FMA—H 202,814
Impairment losses recognised during the year KEFEEERRDBERE 18,310
Reversal of impairment loss recognised before BEBERTIRERE (83)
Exchange adjustments fE A% 4,553
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 AR THE-B=+—HK

“ETFMAB—H 225,594

Impairment losses recognised during the year AEEEHEBRERIE 305
Reversal of impairment loss recognised before B [o]3B R R R B 18 (610)
Exchange adjustments bE TR EE (14,860
At 31 March 2023 A _EB_=fF=HA=+—H 210,429
Contingent liabilities LAREE
For properties held for sale which are subject to pre-sales agreements, the Group L TEERZRHI 2 FEWEMs SEE K

typically provides guarantees to banks in connection with the customers’ borrowing
of mortgage loans to finance their purchase of the properties for an amount up
to 70% of the total purchase price of the property. If a purchaser defaults on the
payment of its mortgage during the term of guarantee, the bank holding the
mortgage may demand the Group to repay the outstanding amount of the loan and
any accrued interest thereon. Under such circumstances, the Group is able to retain
the customer’s purchase deposit and sell the property to recover any amounts paid
by the Group to the bank. In this regard, the directors considers that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.

(iv) Liquidity risk management

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a
level of bank balances and cash deemed adequate by the management to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The
management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance
with loan covenants.

The Group relies on borrowings as a significant source of liquidity. As at 31 March
2023, the Group has borrowings of approximately HK$820,760,000 (Note 24) (2022:
HK$842,727,000).

MERARBEYEMETREFRFR ZIZIBER
ZEREBRITREER BEREBERSAYFER
BEEZ70% B 7 RN ERABKREEERERS
RN AERBZIRITAIIERAERERERER
Z2ERREREREESFIE -RZEB T T K
EEFRRERZBERS REEYE > N6
AEERBITZNZERRIEB-RLILMES > EF
FRAERZIEERBEERERD

(ivv RHEERAKRER

TEERETRR I AEERERERE
EBEIREH 2 RITEFRIREKTE  URARE
.ZE.LTET/\ﬁﬁ)i'zﬂﬁ‘«fﬁ@/mgﬁibz?/ﬂ°
BIEEEERITERZERERL BANRERE
B;E

$§.@2§ETETAT’E%A\L@Jﬁ%ZEK*/}_
A B ZEZRAZ+—H AEBZEN
#974820,760,00078 7T (fisE24) (ZE-—
842,727,0005E 7T) ©
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36. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 36. EMTH @

(b) Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) (b) ERAMEBIZFEEEREE @
(iv) Liquidity risk management (Continued) (ivy WEEEREERE (@

Liquidity table BB ER

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its FXREVIAEBIIETESREBEZGTENE
non-derivative financial liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the Hi-ZERIIBEXREENIREREEZESMAE
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which ZERFREHEZ SmMEEERGERBES RERH
the Group can be required to pay.

Weighted On demand Total
average or within 1t02 25 Over  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
HED T RURRE
As at 31 March 2023 RZZBZ=%ZA=1+-A METHE R—%FR 126 255 SENE MELE IRE{E
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

AR AR TERn TEn TEn TAR

Non-derivative financial Liabilities: FTEERaE!
Trade and other payables BB RREREMENRE 95,329 = = = 95,329 95,329
Amount due to ultimate holding company EIREERAGTE 1,636 = = = 1,636 1,636
Amounts due to non-controlling interests [E(IERGIE BB 79,028 - - - 79,028 79,028
Borrowings &R 8.6% 648,017 241,358 24,824 - 914,199 820,760
Lease labilities REaE 8.98% 6,693 3,718 288 - 10,699 9,738
830,703 245,076 25,112 - 1,100,891 1,006,491
Financial guarantee contracts: HBEREH .
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) RRERSE (H:32) 479,329 - - - 479,329 -
Weighted On demand Total
average or within 1t02 25 Over  undiscounted (arrying
interest rate 1 year years years 5 years cash flows amount
RERY FERRE
Asat 31 March 2022 RIBZZH=A=1+-H IETSH = R—ER 1226 1E5E SELE MERE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TiER TR TR TEn
Non-derivative financial Liabilities: FTEERaE !
Trade and other payables B 5 RBRAMETRE 74993 - - - 74993 74993
Amount due to ultimate holding company B REERARNE 1645 S = = 1645 1645
Amounts due to non-controlling interests ANEREE ] 85,002 = = = 85,092 85,092
Borrowings (e 10.5% 585,703 96,259 215,765 - 897,727 842,727
Lease labilities REaE 10.0% 3891 - - - 3891 3,702
751324 96,259 215,765 - 1,063,348 1,008,159
Financial guarantee contracts: HBEREH .
Maximum amount guaranteed (Note 32) REEREE (H:32) 517,488 = = = 517488 =
The above liquidity table includes both interest and principal cash flows. UERBEEROERNEREERERE
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37(a). DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the previously financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group entered into
agreement with one of the non-controlling interest, Vintage Gold Management
Limited, to dispose of its interest in a 90% indirectly owned subsidiary, Eagle
Mountain Holdings Limited, which was an investment holding company controlling
interests in associates (Note), at cash consideration of USD3,000,000. The disposal
was completed in May 2021 and the Group recognised a gain on disposal of a
subsidiary of approximately HK$22,705,000.

Net assets of Eagle Mountain Holdings Limited at the date of disposal are as follows:

37(d). HEMEBLE
BHEZZ_F-"A="+—HILZATMERF
F AEFAEFR—ZIFEFEREESIERR

BlE] 1Ltk MR IR &R (E733,000,0003 7T
.:./\73’\ KRB EBI%E DM B A S B I
BRERAE (—REFRBELABD ZERNEE
ERAE (D)) iR ZHESER -2 " —
FHAZK RAEERIHEWBRABIWEL
22,705,00078 7T ©

BRERERADNHEAHNEEFENT !

HK$'000

TFET
Cost of interests in associates RBERT 2 EmZ AR 56,648
Impairment BE (56,648)
Net assets disposed of BHEEEFE -
Cash consideration received BWEIREAREB 23,400
Less: Net assets disposed of B BEHEBETE =
Less: Amount due from a subsidiary waived i ERRREW—RNE AT ZFIE (695)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HEKB B WE 22,705

An analysis of net cash inflow of bank balances and cash in respect of disposal of a
subsidiary is as follows:

ERHENBABNRTEERRENREERA
FEAOMUT ¢

HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration received BUWEIREE 23,400
Net cash inflow of bank balances and cash RITEFEAIRENIRERAFE 23,400
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37(a). DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

37(a). HEMBAS @

Note: BT
31 March
2022
=
=H=+—H
HK$’000
FHET
Cost of interests in associates REE AR 2 #m 2 AR 56,648
Share of post-acquisition loss and other comprehensive income  FE{S U BB E5 18 R E fth 2 E Wit (56,648)
Disposed of during the year FRALE =

37(b). DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES

On 23 November 2021, IBS HK, a subsidiary of the Group, was put into winding up
petition by a creditor in The High Court of the Hong Kong Special Administrative
Region (the “Court”).

On 21 February 2022, IBS HK was informed that the Court has made an order
(the “Order”) to accept the petition for the winding up of IBS HK. The provisional
liquidators were appointed in relation to the winding up of IBS HK.

Accordingly, the Group had deconsolidated IBS HK and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as “Deconsolidated Subsidiaries”) as the Directors considered that the
Group’s control over Deconsolidated Subsidiaries had been lost. The net liabilities of
Deconsolidated Subsidiaries at the date of deconsolidation were as follows:

21 6 International Business Settlement Holdings Limited Bl E4EHZEKARAT]

37(b). RIELZEARMEAT
RIBZ—F+—RBZ+=R'x&EENBEAT
IBSEBEEEADEBRITRESEF AR (D

b)) IR BB 255

RIEZ_F "B "+—H IBSEBET Ak
EfFHGmL (L)) B HHIBSHEENEHRE
HoOFIBSE BN BB LSRR SE A

Bt » ZEEBRIEE S ARIBSEEBREMBA
g (RS TRIEESAKRNBAR) ERAES
RATEEBREHK LGS ARNBATME
HlE - RIEGEEARMBARDNK LGS AKA
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37(b). DECONSOLIDATION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued) 37(b). #RIHFEESAKRMEBAR @
Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost are as follows: HEXZFHIRNEERBEN U T !
HK$'000
FHET
Property, plant and equipment ME- BB R 98
Intangible assets mEEE =
Trade and other receivables FEN B 5 AR 18 I LA FE UK BRIE 88
Bank balances and cash RITEFERIES 15,999
Trade and other payables B ZRIBREME([TIRIE (32,434)
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary FENE R B A TRIE 145,464
Amount due to intermediate holding company FE B ER A B FIE (254,568)
Lease liabilities HEaE (562)
Net liabilities deconsolidated BIEEREARNEEE (125,915)
Net liabilities deconsolidated BIEFREARNFEE (125,915)
Add: Amount due to intermediate holding company 1 BERARENPEER AR ZHIE
waived 254,568
Less: Amount due from a fellow subsidiary waived B ERREWRRNEB AT ZRIE (145,464)
Gain on deconsolidation of subsidiaries LIRS AREB AR 2 W m (16,811)

An analysis of net cash outflow of bank balances and cash in respect of HARIRIGEEARKWBATNEITEERIESH

deconsolidation of subsidiaries is as follows: WEMEPFEINUT -
HK$'000
FHET
Bank balances and cash deconsolidated BIEGEAENRTEERRS (15,999)
Net cash outflow of bank balances and cash RITHEFEAIREINIRE R P EE (15,999)
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

38. AT ZMFHRRR K HE

COMPANY
2023 2022
= TET &
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RtBAB 2 ’RE 124 124
Property, plant and equipment M- MEKREE 7 249
Amounts due from subsidiaries NI E =] 526,242 284,677
526,373 285,050
Current assets REBEE
Trade and other receivables FEUNE 5 R Eth R IR AR 1B 2,150 1,149
Bank balances and cash IRITHEERERS 246,307 507,412
248,457 508,561
Current liabilities REaE
Trade and other payables FET B 5 RIB R BT ERIE 1,915 2,077
Amounts due to subsidiaries I B AR FIA 54,173 45,357
Amount due to ultimate holding company I REER A B IE 1,636 1,645
Lease liabilities HEEaE = 220
57,724 49,299
Net current assets MENBEEFE 190,733 459,262
Net assets BERE 717,106 744,312
Capital and reserves RS R (et
Share capital (Note 28) B (Fi5E28) 20,319 20,319
Reserves HE 696,787 723,993
Total equity st 717,106 744312
On behalf of the board of directors REREST
Yuen Leong Chan Siu Tat
RS PR/ iE
Director Director
BE BE
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38. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND RESERVES OF THE

COMPANY (Continued)

38. AATZMBRARRKFE @

Reserves B
Capital
Share redemption Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
KiniEE EBEXBERHE RitE1E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2021 RZZE-—ElHE—H 9,009,799 3,781 (8,236,941) 776,639
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRBEREERZ A5
for the year - - (52,646) (52,646)
At 31 March 2022 and 1 April 2022 RIE2EZZHF=A=+—H
RZEB-_#MA—AH 9,009,799 3,781 (8,289,587) 723,993
Loss and total comprehensive expense FRGEEKREERSZ 8%
for the year - - (27,206) (27,206)
At 31 March 2023 RIEZ=F=A=+—H 9,009,799 3,781 (8,316,793) 696,787
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company

Particulars of subsidiaries of the Company are as follows:

(@) FRARZMEBAR
FTABZMBABFEAT !

39. AEEFEMB AT ZHE

Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
g B#17/
EaL A Hf RS ER A FAREREERE TEER EERR
2023 2022
ZEI=E CZIIH
Directly held
BRFE
Surplus Rich Investments Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Management service to group  Private limited liability
EERUHE /B 1% companies company
REEARRMEERYE MABRAT
Chaoyue Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BHLEERERAT &5/ 5%8 = REER company
MABRRA
Successtime Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HRBRAT EBRUEE/BE 1E7T BEER company
HABRAF
Longday International Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
FAHBIRERAR EERUHE /B 1% REER company
MABRAT
IBS Investment Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
B EEEERERRAR R/ BR 1007875 REZR company
MABRRA
FEMABEERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB225,063,500 100% 100%  Finance leasing PRC wholly-foreign-owned
(formerly known as “ LiEMMBMEREER HE,/+ N #6225,063,5007T RERE enterprise with limited
A FIRE LENHHEREERAR)) liability
(Shanghai Jiajin Industrial Co. Ltd*) FESNEEERRAT
Rising Vast Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EHERAE BERYEHE/BE ES REZRE Company
MABRAE
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEFFEMBATZFE @

(a) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ FTAFRZHEBAT
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
ML B#f1/
218 e HMRAERE FRFAREREMERE TEER EERR
2023 2022
“EC=F  CZEICF
Indirectly held
R
Pride Delight Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
HRERAT EERUHE /T 1% BREER company
MABRAE
B (BE) bEEBEERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB12,500,000 60% 60%  Consultancy service and Domestic company with
(United (Fujian) Enterprise Management HE,/ e AR #12,500,00075 trading of goods limited liability
Company Limited*) BERERERE S BRERRAE
INEMEEEEEEERAR The PRC/The PRC RMB200,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Real Estate Group 1],/ A #200,000,0007 MELRE limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
EREERERRAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guangxi Changhua Investment Co. Ltd*) e,/ A E#10,000,00075 MELE limited liability
BABRAT
BREREERERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 70% 70%  Property development Domestic company with
(Guang Yizheng Trading Co. Ltd*) HE,/FE AE#10,000,0007T MELR limited liability
BRERAT
INEMEEEXEBBRABRESR The PRC/The PRC N/A 70% 70%  Hotel service Branch of domestic
TEEEESAT FE/ ~EA BIERY company with limited
(Liuzhou Zhenghe Huagui Zhiye Group Co, Ltd liability
Wyndham Hotel branch) BABRARZAAE
Jiahe Investment Management Co. Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
MAREEEERAT BB/ B8 100787T REER company
MABRAE
Besting Capital Limited The BVI/Hong Kong usD1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BEREAERAR HERUHE /B8 (ES REER Company
BWABRAF
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$234,000,010 70% 70%  Investment holding Private limited liability
EABIMRNZERAR B/ B8 234,000,010787T BEER company
BWABRLF
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEFEFEMBATZFE @

(@) Subsidiaries of the Company (Continued) (@ ZFAFZHMBAT @)
Place of Issued/registered
incorporation/ and paid-up Attributahle equity interests
Name operation share capital held by the Company Principal activities Legal form
ML B#7/
kL A Hf KRR R FARREREERE TEEH EERR
2023 2022
“EC=F  CZEICF
Indirectly held (Continued)
RS (&)
Fujian Unicon Optical Co.,Ltd The PRC/The PRC USD 30,000,000 70% 70%  Contact lens business PRC wholly-foreign-owned
BREMEAZERAT FE,/ 30,000,000%7% B REER enterprise with limited
liability
FESMEREERAR
Chongging Globebill Company Limited The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000 100% 100%  IBS service Private limited liability
BERREERY EB) FRAF HE,/ e AE#10,000,0007T Bl company
BWABRAF
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 51% 51%  Leasing and trading of Private limited liability
(“Day Technology’) BB/ BB 10,0007 75 computer equipment company
AORE (EE) BRAT (AORE) HERBEHGEREE  AABRAR
Kwok Tin Enterprises Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
BREEERAT &8/ B8 1787 REER company
MABRAE
BNBEXREEERERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guotian Enterprises Management HE/H AE#1,000,0007% REZR limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
BNE—EEEERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB1,000,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Domestic company with
(Fuzhou Guoyi Enterprises Management /T AR #1,000,00075 LBEER limited liability
Company Limited*) BRERAT
IBST Technology Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong HK$10,000 100% 100%  Investment holding Private limited liability
UBREREMARAR BB/ B8 10,0005 7T REER company
MABRAE
BiRME bR HEERAT The PRC/The PRC RMB10,000,000/Nil 100% 100%  IBS service Domestic company with
(Yibosiging (Beijing) Technology HE,/HE A E#10,000,00075 BREEEBRY limited liability
Company Limited*) /B BABRAT

*  The English name is for identification purpose only
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31March2023 —E_-_=F=8=+—H

39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

39. AEFFEMBATZFE @

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)) EEEAIFZEFIEZZIEZERBL

controlling interests

CIEES

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries of the Group as at &R AEBHE _ S _=—FK_ T _F=

31 March 2023 and 2022 that have material non-controlling interests.

B=+—HE#BEAREZEFHEZZIE2ENB R
Gk

Summarised consolidated financial information in respect of Liuzhou Zhenghe and ~ HIYN EFMIREE2EWB AT EBEMBENES
its wholly owned subsidiaries, Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited and its wholly [RABREZERB AR URANREEEEX
owned subsidiary and Day Technology, which have material non-controlling interests ~ JEIEH# % > HF S M FFE RN T o LU 43
are set out below. The summarised consolidated financial information below GSHFHERBMEIEEBRNADBHHEAINEEE

represented amounts before intragroup eliminations.

Ownership
interests and Total comprehensive
Place of incorporation/ rights held by income (expense) allocated to Accumulated
Names of subsidiaries operation non-controlling interests non-controlling interests non-controlling interests
IR NEEFEEREZ
WM AE L SRR S HEEEDREN 2EBA (A% 45 BEtIFERIEE
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= “BT"fF ZEZ= “BT"F ZEZ= “ETCF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TET TET T
Liuzhou Zhenghe and its subsidiaries The PRC/The PRC 30% 30% (14,181) (14,432 (28,895) (14,714)
MMENREKE AR FE/HE
Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong
and its subsidiary 30% 30% 20,901) (6,259) 39,662 60,563
BEBRRAZERAAREANB AT &8/ &8
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong/Hong Kong 49% 49% 21,232 63 21,295 63
AR (B8 BRAF &8/ B8
Individually immaterial subsidiaries with
non-controlling interests 22 68 718 696
BRBAEAMERFET G2 NEAR
(13,828) 20,559) 32,780 46,608
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP 39. XEFFEMRBATIZEHE @

(Continued)
(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- (b)) HEEEAREIZFHIESZZIEREHREL
controlling interests (Continued) asEE (@
Liuzhou Zhenghe and its wholly owned subsidiaries: HIMENKREZERBAT :
2023 2022
—E== BT TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue WA 714,134 292,042
Loss for the year FERNEE (50,633) (47,456)
Total comprehensive expense 2HEMAZAELE (47,270) (48,106)
Total comprehensive expense allocated to PDEEIEEFER 2T
non-controlling interests (14,181) (14,432)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BEIEERIER KRS - -
Cash generated from operating activities KESEEATSIR 58 85,073
Cash (used in) generated from investing activities WEES (PR PR8RE (331) M
Cash used in financing activities MEEHFARE - (85,093)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXREE 2 & (30) 1
Net cash (outflows) inflows HE CRt) WA FRE (303) 32
As at 31 March W=B=+—H
Current assets RENE E 1,046,035 1,815,764
Non-current assets ERFEE 241,165 248,562
Current liabilities pE=NE (1,383,517) 2,113,373)
Non-current liabilities EREER - =
Net liabilities FaE (96,317) (49,047)
Accumulated non-controlling interests RetIEEFIm (28,895) (14,714)
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non-

controlling interests (Continued)

Hong Kong Unicon Optical Co., Limited and its wholly owned subsidiary:

39. XEBFEMBRATZEE @

() BEEERFZHEZZIFZEMBER
Bls¥1E (@)
EREMBRABERATDREZENBAR :

2023 2022
—E== BT TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue A 40,165 2,159
Loss for the year FERNEE (50,100) (40,565)
Total comprehensive expense 2HEMAZAELE (69,670) (20,854)
Total comprehensive expense allocated to PDEEEIEEHER 2T
non-controlling interests (20,901) (6,258)
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BEIEERIER KRS - -
Cash used in operating activities REEEMARSE (6,287) (89,027)
Cash used in investing activities KEEZHFTERS (25,239) (56,829)
Cash generated from financing activities MEZEFFFIRE 44,570 110,911
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEXREE 2 & (3,162) 11,216
Net cash inflows (outflows) WERA C) F1E 9,882 (23,729)
As at 31 March W=B=+—8H
Current assets RENE E 53,976 33,662
Non-current assets ERFMEE 481,886 516,756
Current liabilities VEI=NE (274,646) (160,682)
Non-current liabilities EREERE (129,006) (187,855)
Net assets BEFE 132,210 201,881
Accumulated non-controlling interests R IEEHI = 39,662 60,563
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39. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE GROUP

(Continued)

. FERXFEMBATZFE @

(c) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that have material non- () HEAEEAREIZFHIESZZIEREHREL

controlling interests (Continued) asEE (@
Day Technology (Hong Kong) Limited: AtEE (FB) BRAF -
2023 2022
—E== B
HK$’000 HK$'000
FAET FET
For the year ended 31 March BE=B=1+—HLEE
Revenue A 111,404 219
Profit for the year FEPEA 43,331 129
Total comprehensive income 2EUWALEEE 43,331 129
Total comprehensive income allocated to DEEIEEHERZ 2EWR AL
non-controlling interests 21,232 63
Dividend paid to non-controlling interests BEIEERIER KRS - -
Cash generated from (used in) operating activities (ST ENFTE (FFA) IS 44,223 (5,136)
Cash used in investing activities KEEZHFTERS (271,953) (11,486)
Cash generated from financing activities MEZEFFEIRE 229,147 20,697
Net cash inflows BERAFE 1,417 4,075
As at 31 March W=B=+—H
Current assets RENEE 35,541 9,425
Non-current assets ERMEE 257,904 11,434
Current liabilities VIEIR=N (249,976) (20,720)
Non-current liabilities ERBER = =
Net assets BEEFE 43,469 139
Accumulated non-controlling interests et IETH R E 21,295 63
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40. MATERIAL INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Other than the Directors’ service contracts, no contracts of significance to which

the Company’s subsidiary was a party and in which a director of the Company or

an entity connected with a director had a material interest, whether directly or

indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the financial year.

41. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING DATE
There were no major subsequent events since the year end date and up to the date
of this annual report.

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the board on
30 June 2023.

40. §$#x% BHHSHHRZEKR
Em

BREFZRBAQN RYBEFEERTEFER B

BEANGNBARDERUBERITNINERS

K TIEAANRDESNAEETAREZERER

HEENETEEEARTNERGH

41. REQHRER
HEGORREEAERAN LEEAREE
o

42. HEMFERRK

ZMBRREN 2 _=ZFA=THEEES
HER IR E o
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R FIBHIE

RESULTS E¥
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
2= T fF _F_-—F CT_T —ENE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FHET FHET FET
Revenue WA 865,703 304,416 85,521 393,536 827,848
Loss for the year attributable to FEME AR
Owners of the Company RABEBA (72,716) (119,137) (132,284) (175,491) (217,980)
Non-controlling interests FEEE IR (9,372) (26,034) (7,766) (9,347) 6,368
(82,088) (145,171) (140,050) (184,838) (211,612)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEEREE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—EZ= 2RI 2§ Z2IZF TNE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAET FE FHET FHET FET
Total assets BEE 2,378,267 3,159,851 3,363,492 2,973,927 3,317,118
Total liabilities B1EE% (1,755,839) (2,439,782) (2,521,991) (1,994,601) (2,214,816)
NET ASSETS BEEFE 622,428 720,069 841,501 979,326 1,102,302
Equity attributable to owners KABIHER NG
of the Company i 589,648 673,461 774,334 896,495 1,079,790
Non-controlling interests Elsearillrm 32,780 46,608 67,167 82,831 22,512
TOTAL EQUITY 1BrEs 622,428 720,069 841,501 979,326 1,102,302
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